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32ND HONG KONG PRINT AWARDS
ERGESE R EBRBORIRE -8 (BF/FROR) -
R (RIEER) RERR FIRH) -

Starlite is honoured to have won the 32nd Hong Kong Print Awards - Gold Award (Greeting /
Invitation Card Printing), Bronze Award (Creative Products) and Merit Award (Red Packet Printing).

= ¥ & i

LATEST NEWS

!
)

..I %} - i _: ? ; i

o

32EFHBEDR X 88

The Quarto Group - & i} 88
THE QUARTO GROUP - APPRECIATION AWARD
BB PIRNEERMH - The Quarto Group @ HEMBES
FNBNETHEE - BMNBSERREERSREFPEY
BHANEIERR

Thank you to our business partner - The Quarto Group, affirming
our efforts over the past years. We look forward to working with
customers from across industries in future.

HKMOSEERE BRI KX8€2021

HONG KONG MOST OUTSTANDING SERVICE AWARD 2021

EXGRERTEREFREAE2021 - "RAPEFEFAEEDR
BHERE"

Starlite was awarded the HONG KONG MOST OUTSTANDING SERVICE
AWARD 2021- "Greater China’'s Most Reputed Printing and Packing
Enterprise Of The Year"
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

RESULTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2022, the Group’s revenue
decreased by 1% to approximately HK$1,049 million. A profit
of approximately HK$357 million was recorded, compared to a

loss of approximately HK$99 million last year.

The performance of the Group during this period was improved
mainly due to the disposal of the entire equity interests in
Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd and recorded a net gain of
approximately HK$483 million. However, the appreciation of
Renminbi by approximately 4%, the exchange loss recorded,
and the sharp rise in major commodity prices, logistics and
labour-related costs in the period have affected the overall

performance.

The global economy seemed to be on a path of recovery during
the reporting period; however, the macro environment fluctuated
sharply in the second half of the year. Except for the once-in-a-
century COVID-19 pandemic and the mutation of the highly
contagious Omicron virus strain that swept the world, the global
supply chain continued to suffer from uninterrupted disruptions,
the geopolitics in Eastern Europe was unstable, the development
prospects of different economies showed a trend of
differentiation, and the inflation in the United States and Europe
has risen to the highest level in more than 40 vyears, all of
which greatly increased the operational difficulties and pushed
up the operating costs of enterprises. Given the unprecedented
shock to the global economy, the performance of the four
plants in the PRC was varied during the period. The Guangzhou
and Shaoguan plants suffered from a loss, while the Shenzhen
plant has recorded a one-off gain upon the completion of the
equity transfer. On the other hand, the Suzhou plant actively
seized the opportunities from market recovery and recorded an

increase in sales and a turnaround from loss to profit. Sales

have increased and losses have narrowed for the ASEAN region.
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LATEST EQUIPMENT

HAEREERER

SHAOGUAN SMART LOGISTICS SYSTEM

HREAERER B ERS - BERMIH B BYIRER o B
FENBETERS  BENEZEETFREMAIR
Shaoguan’s smart logistics system improves our day-to-day
logistics operation. With state of the art technology, it offers
real-time inventory visibility and supply chain management.

EN 4 SR8 2% R
Paper Guide

BEERRS

BRCi2i%
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REHE  AEANRREEEBIRMMLIRE T TEBEEBERNK
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B ENELSTIETF - ARER  tmNEF TENREERR -
PE - BOPP « PETE{PE/BOPPERHEEM A EMZEZMBELE  TERANRFM
I ENR) - PPIERRZEERIIE o

We are pleased to announce that Starlite Printers (Suzhou) has successfully been
audited and verified by BRC certification.

The Scope: Production of paper box/cone roll or PET plastic box for food direct contact
or food, cosmetic and electronic indirect contact packaging used within the main
processes of flexo-printing, silk screen printing, offset printing, gold stamping, die
cutting, gluing and assembling. Production of paper label, PE, BOPP, PET or
PE/BOPP plastic label for food, cosmetic and electronic indirect contact packing used
with main processes of flexo printing, PP film coating and cutting.
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Mechanical Ventilation System

Intelligent Transportation Systems

B A

Finished Goods Output

BRC

BUREAU VERITAS
Certification

VOC Rt &k s

VOC PURIFICATION EQUIPMENT

VOCHI LR A - HETEERIRE -
EBIRIR ©

VOC purification equipment is put into use to
jointly create ecological and green environmental
protection.




CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

In light of the severe and complex international environment
and the strict pandemic control measures in mainland China,
the Group has flexibly adjusted its strategic targets and
formulated its operation tactics in advance in order to maintain
its market competitiveness. On the one hand, the Group further
established long-term, in-depth, and stable strategic partnerships
with a number of international customers at home and abroad
and adhered to the core values of offering high-quality and
customer-oriented services. On the other hand, by grasping the
development opportunities of consumption upgrade and
industries integration in mainland China, the Group continued
to make innovations and breakthroughs, accelerated the

development of informatized, automated and smart
manufacturing, and actively assumed social responsibilities, so
as to make prompt responses when the market fully recovered
and align with the healthy development of the Group. Details
Review and

are set out in the section headed “Business

Prospects”.

DIVIDENDS

In order to retain resources for the Group’s future development,
the Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2022 (2021: Nil). An
interim dividend of HK1 cent and a special dividend of HK10

cents per share for the six months ended 30th September, 2021
(30th September, 2020: Nil) were paid to shareholders on
7th January, 2022.
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BRAND DIRECTION

EEMERMS [ XEERMS] TEAM GREEN &5R4

TEAM GREEN’S INTERVIEW ON HONG KONG TVB PROGRAM
[DECODING THE GREATER BAY AREA |

EERBRIAR
Decoding the greater bay area’s interview content

TEAM GREEN &8 A SIE

TEAM GREEN IN ESLITE BOOK STORE

R mE
Eslite book store (Causeway Bay)

TEAM GREEN X M+1&#gg

TEAM GREEN X M+ MUSEUM

Team GreenIR B EIM+BYEER  E4E
Team Green set up counters in M+ Museum



CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Overview

During the period under review, the COVID-19 pandemic,
lasting for more than two years, continued to have a widespread
impact on the global economy. With the accumulation of
disease control experience in various countries and the
increasing vaccination rate, the global economy was improved,
and the customer confidence and retail activities gradually
recovered in the first half of the year. However, the sudden
outbreak of the Omicron variant in the second half of the year
has cast a shadow over the stable and positive economic
conditions, and the more extensive anti-pandemic lockdown
measures adopted by mainland China have slowed down its
economic activities and may lead to new bottlenecks in the
global supply chain. In addition, the warfare between Russia
and Ukraine and the resulting sanctions imposed by various
countries on Russia have led to continuous high commodity
prices and imbalance between supply and demand, and
inflation in many economies has raised significantly. In the face
of more severe, broader, and more sustained pricing pressure,
many countries have tightened their monetary policies. In
general, the risks to the economic outlook have increased
sharply, posing great challenges to the operation of enterprises.
With its excellent reputation in the industry, the Group has won
the recognition of many domestic and foreign strategic partners
for its good performance and delivery commitments, forming the
Group’s unique advantage in quality customer resources, and
laying a solid foundation for the long-term, stable, and healthy
development of the Group.

Meanwhile, to enhance operating efficiency and risk
management capability, the Group is actively promoting the
upgrades and transformations of its internal management system
as well as the supply chain reform. With the development goals
of reducing costs, improving efficiency, and increasing add-on
value, the Group has achieved interim results amidst hardships.
The plants in Guangzhou and Shaoguan of the Group were
loss-making due to the impacts on operating costs brought by
business integration, whilst the plant in Shenzhen has recorded
a one-off gain. In general, revenue from the southern China
operation was declined but profit was still recorded through the

measures to increase income and reduce expenditure.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Despite the marginal profit of the eastern China operations have
been lowered due to the soaring paper prices and the additional
outsourcing and labour expenses affected by labour shortage,
the eastern China operation has seen a growth in the year. On
the other hand, for the Southeast Asia operation, revenues have
increased and losses have narrowed even its operation and
production came to a half halt on multiple occasions given the
volatility of the pandemic in the region. Companies had to bear
part of the costs during suspension, affecting the profit of the

Southeast Asia operation.

In response to the volatility and uncertainty of the macro
business environment, the Group remained highly vigilant and
formulated a long-term development blueprint as early as
possible to consolidate its leading position in the industry and
seize the opportunities to accelerate the integration of business
and resources in the Greater China region, such that the overall
operating efficiency of the Group could be enhanced. The
disposal of the entire equity interest of Starlite Printers
(Shenzhen) Co.,
on 8th June, 2021. The new, smart warehouse in Shaoguan has

Ltd. has been completed, ahead of schedule,

started its operation in the current financial year which helped
the Group to expand its presence in the Greater China region
and the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area and
ensured the steady development of the Group’s operations.
During the period, the Group has been awarded the HKMOB
Awards 2021 — “The Most Reputable Printing and Packaging
Enterprise of the Year in Greater China” (B#&HEH BB A&
2021 — [RPEFEZAFBEAFEEDE]), and the 32nd
Hong Kong Print Awards — Gold Award (Greeting/Invitation
Card Printing), Bronze Award (Creative Products) and Merit
Award (Red Packet Printing) (328 & BRI K& — £ 8 (&
R/ABRER) M (ABER REEZFIREH)).

Southern China Operation

During the year, the Group’s southern China operation remained
a profit. Although the COVID-19 pandemic has weakened the
demand in the global retail market, it has also opened up a
new economic model to restore growth in customer orders for
children’s books and board games. The plant in Shaoguan has
been rated as the Key Enterprise of National Cultural Export in
2021/22 2021/22F EER XL A ER B X). At the same
time, conditions including the continuous increase in the prices

of major raw materials, the dual control of energy consumption,
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

the imbalance of labour supply caused by the lockdown of the
areas affected by the pandemic, the multiple increase in
logistics costs led by the widespread delays or even interruption
of shipping, and the slow-moving inventory have caused a
massive impact on operations and management, and thus the

profit margin was under pressure.

Nonetheless, the Group timely developed its vision of
“Be thankful and cherish, sustainable management (f& &= &
K & K )", grasped the opportunity to invest in future
development, and accelerated the integration of resources of its
plant in southern China. Apart from completing the project to
revitalise the property value of the Shenzhen plant a few
months ahead of schedule, the modernized smart Shaoguan
plant has also officially commenced in its production. The
advanced Heidelberg and Manroland six-colour offset presses as
well as the full-process smart manufacturing and logistics system
were introduced respectively to comprehensively enhance the
diversified production capacity in the southern China region
and meet the customers’ stringent requirements for innovative
products and high-end quality. In addition, with the full
coverage of 5G network, the Group has built a comprehensive
intelligent manufacturing network through innovative research
and development, supply chain reform, smart manufacturing,
information construction, value flow optimisation and other
measures to help customers expand their market share and
enhance brand influence. It will also continue to create value
for customers and make the best preparation for business
opportunities in the post-pandemic new economy and export
business. During the period, the plant in Guangzhou plant
obtained 12 utility model patents, including the intelligent
commissioning and control system for the fully automatic
pressed powder hemming machine (% B 1) #5158 4 & 8t 3f

Ereh BN )

the automatic cutting machine and the intelligent pair-up

, the automatic assembly line labelling machine,

machine. In addition, the plant in Shaoguan was among the first
batch of enterprises to set up a baby care room in the high-tech

development zone, and its care for colleagues was highly

praised by the local government and colleagues.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

As a result of the pandemic, the sales of the Group’s innovative,
environmentally friendly brand TEAM GREEN® has recorded a
decrease. The Group actively exploited its new product series
and increased publicity during the period, which included but
not limited to launching its Le Petit Prince Series, selling in the
Eslite Bookstore in Causeway Bay, the Fortress stores and the
M+ Museum, interviewing with “Decoding the Greater Bay
(K& ),

Information Channel,

Area” a programme produced by TVB Finance &
in FAO Schwarz (FAO)
promotional activities for the Doraemon Series in the Eslite
Bookstore in Suzhou and Beijing China World Mall (3t R Bl&
B,

Shanghai Metro City LOFT as well as joining in the 16th China

participating

taking parts in the sizeable promotional event in

(Shenzhen) International Logistics and Supply Chain Fair 2021
QO21E+RNEFECRI) BEYREHEREES).

Eastern China Operation

During the period under review, the eastern China operation
has witnessed revenue growth and turned around from loss to
profit. At the same time, due to the shortage of chips, orders
from some high-tech customers fell short of expectations. The
improvement of consumer sentiment in Europe and the United
States led to an increase in revenue from greeting card
products. The management team also seized the opportunities
arising from the consumption upgrade and structural adjustment
of the retail market in mainland China, strengthened the
all-round, multi-dimensional and in-depth cooperation with
many first-class brand customers in mainland China, and strived
for a higher share of orders. It also created potential market
opportunities for new business expansion, and comprehensively
reached out to customers in cosmetic, daily necessities and
food industries, which boosted a growth in domestic sales. In
addition, safety verification for BRCGS food

packaging has been successfully approved, which was

the global

conducive in exploring the huge food packaging market in the

eastern China region.

On the other hand,

implementing a number of operational upgrade and optimisation

the management team is actively
measures to improve operational flexibility and diversified
manufacturing capabilities, laying a solid foundation for the

long-term development of the core business. For example, the

most advanced equipment in the packaging industry, such as
10-color UV flat sheet cold foil offset printing machine (10&UV
HR-1200FC automatic box folding
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

machine (HR-1200FCE #)#T & #), KAMA Profoil 76 hot foil
stamping machine with embossing and high-precision die
cutting process (KAMA Profoil 762 ¢ « MR S EE 8
#28), was introduced to improve the ability to handle fine
products and meet the development needs of the market and
customers in various aspects at the same time. In addition, the
team has formulated medium and long-term information
strategic goals and is taking the Suzhou Team Green as a pilot
to implement real-time machine data collection in digital
transformation. Through the cooperation with Jinan University,
the team has jointly developed and applied Internet of Things
(IoT) technology to extract machine production data, used big
data to promote lean production, and created an integrated
information management system, which effectively improved the
profitability, cost and expense control and the per capita output
value of the eastern China region. During the period, China
Central Television has visited the Suzhou plant and Suzhou
Team Green has participated in the 2021 Suzhou Innovation
Expo (2021%k Il 811§ &), which have given affirmation and
praise to the Group’s establishment of a printing and innovation

industry base in the eastern China.

South East Asia Operation

During the period, the Southeast Asia operation registered an
increase in revenue and a reduction in loss. Given the spread
of the pandemic, the prolonged lockdown measures
implemented in Malaysia has led to the increase in raw material
and logistics costs, high suspension costs, and the lockdown
restrictions on the entry of foreign population has led to labour
shortage in the country and temporarily impeded the business
development in the ASEAN market. Nevertheless, as a
forward-looking international production layout of the Group,
the operation in Singapore and Malaysia not only provides
customers with convenient and nearby services, but also
effectively mitigates the risks brought by international economic
and trade frictions. The management team has leveraged on the
influences of its brand customers in various industries to further
expand and strengthen the Group’s brand advantages. It has
explored more high-quality customers and established service

demands in the fields of innovative medical care, food, and

smart technology.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Furthermore, our plant in Malaysia has tapped into Penang by
expanding to post-print and assembly production lines. It
provides more timely, professional, and attentive services to
local customers, which enables the Group to undertake part of
the global industrial transfer capacity and build a solid
foundation for overseas business expansion. During the period,
Starlite Printers (Far East) has been awarded the New Year
Commercial Sales and Display Wealth Gifts — Singapore Star
Award (T EBEHERRTEVER R — FINK 2 28,

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group's operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at
31st March, 2022, the Group’s cash and bank balances and
short-term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$286

million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$18 million (of which including
imputed interest expenses from amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary of approximately HK$8 million) compared to

approximately HK$11 million recorded last year.

As at 31st March, 2022, the Group had a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$238 million compared to a
working capital surplus of approximately HK$84 million as at
31st March, 2021. The Group was in net cash position as at
31st March, 2022 (2021: net gearing ratio of 33%), based on
short-term and long-term bank borrowings, lease liabilities and
bills payables net of bank balance and cash of approximately
HK$137 million (net cash) (2021: HK$116 million (net debt))
and shareholders’ equity of approximately HK$671 million (2021:
HK$353 million). The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31st March,
2022 was 22% (2021:
long-term bank borrowings, lease liabilities and bills payables
of approximately HK$148 million (2021: HK$391 million) and
shareholders’ equity of approximately HK$671 million (2021:
HK$353 million).

111%), based on short-term and
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2022, certain assets of the Group with an
aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$50 million
(31st March, 2021: HK$53 million) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities of the Group.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Chinese
Renminbi, Malaysian ringgit, Singapore dollars or Euro. The
exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively
stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. The
Renminbi-denominated sales revenue helps to set off the
Group’s commitments of Renminbi-denominated operating
expenses in Mainland China, accordingly reducing Renminbi

exchange rate exposure.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT
Currently the Group has approximately 3,000 employees. The

Group maintains good relationships with its employees,
providing them with competitive packages, incentive schemes
as well as various training programmes. The Group has
maintained a Share Option Scheme under which share options
can be granted to certain employees (including executive
directors and non-executive directors of the Company (excluding
independent non-executive directors)) as incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The Group provides various training
and development programmes to staff on an ongoing basis. The
Group will explore the possibility of launching other special
training programmes with universities in Mainland China and

education institutions abroad to enhance its staff quality.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where

the Group operates, the Group treats the local communities as

family members and strives to contribute to such communities.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

In the past years, the Group has allocated significant resources
to energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for
young people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman makes initiative to organize joint efforts with
other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for the

maximum benefits of those in need.

During the year under review, the Group and its staff made

financial and other support to the following organizations:
— Support to Scout Association of Hong Kong

—  The Hong Kong Seagulls Scholarship Scheme

— Donation to flooding disaster in PRC

— Support to Po Leung Kuk activities

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) REPORT

The Group has established an environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) management team to manage, monitor,
recommend and report on environmental and social aspects. An
ESG report is being prepared with reference to Appendix 27
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and will be
published on the Company’s website (http://www.hkstarlite.com)

at the same time as the publication of the 2022 annual report.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

LOOKING AHEAD

In the World Economic Outlook report released in April 2022,
the International Monetary Fund (IMF) lowered the global
growth forecast for 2022 and 2023 to 3.5%, which has been
lowered by 0.9 and 0.3 percentage points, respectively, as
compared with the forecast in January 2022. Beyond 2023,
global economic growth is forecast to slow down and decline
to about 3.3% over the medium term. Unusually high
uncertainty surrounds this forecast, and downside risks to the
global economic outlook dominate, including from a possible
worsening of the warfare between Russia and Ukraine, an
escalation of sanctions on Russia, challenges faced by China as
its strict zero-COVID strategy is tested by Omicron, a possible
emergence of a new, more virulent virus strain, and higher
interest rates, rising inflationary pressures, energy and food
shortages resulting from the tightening of monetary policies by
many central banks, all of which would further weigh on the
economic outlook.

In light of the uncertain economic outlook, the management
remained highly vigilant, closely monitored and evaluated the
impact of external factors such as the development of the
pandemic and geopolitical risks on the Group. It also actively
adopted a number of measures to broaden sources of income
and reduce expenditures, focused on serving quality customers,
and fully grasped the opportunities from structural reform of the
market and industry, so as to embrace digital transformation,
move towards a green manufacturing model, and strive to create
long-term sustainable value for shareholders. During the period,
the Group has obtained the [ Certificate of Participation in
Green Financing Solutions J(#2 &1 & 77 22 B E &) issued by
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited to
commend the Group’s contributions to [ green transformation |

and sustainable developments.
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

I, Lam Kwong Yu, am deeply grateful to our ‘Starlite Friends &
Colleagues’ who are persevering relentlessly in the current
difficult environment. During the past three years epidemic
many of us have been stuck in Hong Kong. It's not easy for
everyone to stay strong and continue to give extra effort! |

thank them all so very much.

Life is constantly challenging, even during the difficult times
like a boat tossed on treacherous seas, our industry continues to
strive forward. Our Company will continuously explore and
adapt to the challenges of OEM business. Moreover, we will
develop our own products and brand, cultivating our own
products, and realizing the Chinese dream of narrating Chinese
stories. In the future, our own brand & products will overtake
traditional manufacturing with digitalization and intelligent
engineering, bringing new opportunities to global consumers in

the form of franchised business.

During the epidemic, Starlite pursued strict control measures
and went all out to cooperate with the government. Good
results have been achieved with employees, suppliers, the
financial community, and the general public. Thank you very
much for your support in the difficult times to replenish our
strength and lift our spirits — together we overcome all
difficulties!

Lam Kwong Yu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2022
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Revenue WA
Operating profit/(loss) mEER (BE)
Profit/(loss) for the year RARHEE ANE

attributable to the owners of RERF,/ (BE)
the Company

Dividends )

Basic earnings/(losses) per ARARHEEAEEER
share attributable to the EREAN,/ (B1E)
owners of the Company (EAL)

(HK cents)

MBRE

mEWER

Year ended 31st March
BE=A=+-HLEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—fg-=-fF —T-—F =—TE-TEF —T-NEFE =—ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR FHET FHET FEL FHET
1,048,700 1,057,477 1,135,902 1,430,998 1,533,094
367,421 (98,713) 27,056 (14,506) (42,279)
357,473 (98,525) 8,499 (37,925) (54,436)
57,765 — 31,508 — —
68.10 (18.76) 1.62 (7.22) (10.37)




FINANCIAL SUMMARY ERE 23

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL mEMBERRE
POSITION
As at As at As at As at As at
31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
R-EB-Z RZTEZ—F RZIZZTF RZZT—NF RZT-—NF
=A=t+-8 =ZA=+-8B =ZA=+-B =ZA=+-B =ZA=+-H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FEL FEL FET FEL
Non-current assets FERBDEE 434,716 426,780 340,946 379,051 407,467
Current assets B EE 604,760 592,722 516,623 637,239 749,638
Current liabilities mEAE (366,570) (508,645) (391,313) (540,396) (505,516)
Net current assets B EEFE 238,190 84,077 125,310 96,843 244,122
Total assets less current  “EERMRE
liabilities B& 672,906 510,857 466,256 475,894 651,589
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (2,261) (157,638) (17,665) (7,283) (118,781)
Net assets BEFE 670,645 353,219 448,591 468,611 532,808
Total equity EmiaE 670,645 353,219 448,591 468,611 532,808
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) for the year ended 31st March, 2022.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out

in Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Business review

A review of the business of the Group during the year as
required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) are covered in different sections of this annual report
as set out below, which shall form part of this Report of the

Directors.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the Chairman’s Statement and Chairman’s

Letter set out on pages 7 to 21.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has established procedures in place to ensure that
its operations comply with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. A senior management committee of the Company is
delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s policies and
practices for achieving compliance with legal and other
regulatory requirements, and such policies and practices are
regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant

employees and relevant operating units whenever necessary.

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied in all

material respects with laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the Group’s business and operations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2022, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 30% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 34%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 15% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 9% of the

Group’s total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder
(which, to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial

interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Relationship with stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
its employees, providing quality services to its customers and

enhancing co-operation with its business partners.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,
2022 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

74 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HKT cent and a special dividend of
HK10 cents per share for the six months ended 30th September,
2021 (30th September, 2020: Nil) were paid to shareholders on
7th January, 2022.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2022 (2021 : Nil). As
at 31st March, 2022,
approximately HK$401,844,000 was available for distribution to

the Group’s retained profit of

the Company’s shareholders.

Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 26 and 27,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Notes 28 and 36(b) to the accompanying

financial statements.
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As at 31st March, 2022, the Company’s retained profit of KRZZZZF=ZF=+—H ' AA=AJHEE TR
approximately HK$29,618,000 was available for distribution to 3 2 {R & & F14929,618,0007%8 T °

the Company’s shareholders.

Purchase, sale or redemption of shares BE HEIEERG

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, the Company REE_T__F=A=+—HILFERN" $’_\
repurchased a total of 6,500,000 ordinary shares of par value WREBHERXZAMARAR (B ERARQ
HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company on The  RZNH & 3£6,500,000/% & I EI1E0.107%8 T 2 & AR
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) B 172 42 R {& (¥0Fk i X A1) %&2,078,3508 7T - FT A
with the aggregate consideration paid (before expenses) BB ZKRHEEWFHE R =_=_F = A
amounting to HK$2,078,350. All the shares repurchased were =+—H ' AR AIE#HITRMD B2 A518,635,2880% °
subsequently cancelled. As at 31st March, 2022, the total

number of shares of the Company in issue was 518,635,288.

BipBEZFBWT

Particulars of the share repurchases are as follows:

Aggregate
Number of consideration
Shares (before
Date H# repurchased Price per Share expenses)
BRE
BERGOEE BREEE (N BR BA % A1)
Highest Lowest
&S RIE
(HK$) (HK$) (HKS)
(%) (%) (#T)
December 2021 —T-—F+=A 500,000 0.340 0.335 167,850
January 2022 - 2,000,000 0.335 0.320 655,500
February 2022 | 2,000,000 0.330 0.310 644,400
March 2022 —T-=-%=A 2,000,000 0.310 0.295 610,600
Total: 1w 6,500,000 2,078,350
Note: Bt -
The Company repurchased a total of 4,000,000 shares at prices ranging from ARARZF =4 A K E A $4,000,0008 - 5 & 8 /30.280/8 7T
HK$0.280 to HK$0.295 with the aggregate consideration of HK$1,152,100 in April £0.2958 0 ARER1,152,1008 T - RBAER T Z__FX A+

2022 which were subsequently cancelled on 10th June, 2022. As at the date of this Bl - RAME B AREE BT M B2 R514,635,288 -
report, the total number of shares of the Company in issue is 514,635,288.

CZEREDBRS S RO &N I E K
the earnings per share and increase the net asset value per REMEREETFE-

share attributable to the shareholders.

The Directors considered that such repurchases would enhance % %R/

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its FR EXFIHEBEEN  RAFEARBEARSHE -
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s 7K X &) sk B E o] iff & & A B M & [B] ~ M & kg Bl R
securities listed on the Stock Exchange during the year and up R AME(I ETH&EFH °

to the date of this report.
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Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the

Company’s Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment and Investment
properties

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties during the year are set out in Notes 14

and 15 to the accompanying financial statements.

Bank borrowings
Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31st March, 2022 are set
out in Notes 22 and 33 to the accompanying financial

statements.

Pension scheme
Details of the pension scheme are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statement.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$285,000 (2021: HK$119,000).

Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the

date of this report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tin Shing (Senior Vice President)
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching (Senior Vice President)
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok (Senior Vice President)
(Appointed as Executive Director of the Company with effect
from T1st April, 2022)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, s8s, jp

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny
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In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, not less than
one-third of the directors will be retire from office by rotation
at the annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu,
Ms. Yeung Chui and Mr. Poon Kwok Ching will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”) and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok was appointed as Executive Director of
the Company with effect from Tst April, 2022, pursuant to Bye-
law 102B, he will hold office until the conclusion of 2022
AGM and shall then be eligible, offer himself for re-election at
the AGM.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Changes in information of directors
The change in the information of directors of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of

the Listing Rules, is as follows:

Name of director and details of changes

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sss, /P

Appointed as independent non-executive director of China
Oilfield Services Limited, a company listed on the Stock

Exchange, with effect from Tst June, 2022.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

Resigned as an independent non-executive director of CCT
Fortis Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, with effect from 8th June, 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required

to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr.
Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, s8s, jp
and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny pursuant to rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.

EETERE

REARBDZAL FIPR=ZDZ-—EEHRERRE
BEARERESE HEREOWEEEET Bt
MAMELE BRLETRBEBRELESRERRR
BEAXG(RRAEFAGENDLERE UFAERK
BREEEBE-

EEEEEE_F-—FNA-AREEEAKA
AHTEE  READ AR F102BH - o8
EoECFREAFARERSER EHA
30 B DR AE

AEBTHEBRLEERT I TR —FRNBAMECE
ERMERINMBEZRERAEL -

EZERNEHEE
BREEFHARSMARARAESF EMBEA(ED
A E1351BNIE EFEREFHOT -

EEMEREBEFHE

SAHNE R s EE Ak Fat

BE-Z -~ A HEEZTATESHBEREE
BARZBIENITES  ZRARIRBRAT LD -

EERIERE
BE-ZT-_FNA/\HRERFETFEERSEEERA
RIZBYIERTES  ZARRB LT -

BREoEEN TETCMNEMAERNTH] EMRA
F13.51BMEMBEHHE -

BYFHTESZBYUMBRRYS

AAREERESBUFRTES ARMBLE .
SIME S msmeE crar NEREXERE L
MRAEIBEELENBLERRESE  AQRIE
REBEHRBL -




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2022, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any specified undertaking of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Section 352 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

Long positions in Shares

Personal
Name of Director Capacity interests
EEng L) B A#R
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner 202,962,677
S ab s EnEA
Ms. Yeung Chui Beneficial owner and interest 79,916,000
BRIt of controlled corporation

EafBRREHAR 2 ER

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching Beneficial owner 118,000
AEREE ER%R
Note:
1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The

entire issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and
controlled by Ms. Yeung Chui.

EEZERE

EERRARBREZER
RZEZZF=ZA=+—H AQRaAIEZTRHTE
AN B B A fa] A A B 48 B A9 R B 8 H ] AR B A
E(rERBFLBEBRITELRAERGHDE
XVEPE3521{6) M IR0 - HERG REHHEBRE
BHERBMEGOBEXVBETRESHMAMG AR A
REEBRAXSHER AR ([ AT & # S 80k
E(BREEERBEESRPEGKAIZZERIER
BRIARBEBIERIAR)  KRHR AR RIEE
HFRMEKROIEHEBEFZECLM AR
KA CKBREBMES EMBRANT EmARAUD A
MERRARBRANERIABNOT

RRGBZHE
Approximate %
Family Corporate of total
interests interests Total shareholding
EREZBL
RS NEES By Bak
— — 202,962,677 39.13%
— 1,012,901 80,928,901 15.60%
(Note 1)
(H#1)
— — 118,000 0.02%
e
1. FHIBLEBRARBAERRA012901EEH  ZRAZE

MEBHTRALAGRLTERER RIEH -
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2022, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Share option scheme

A share option scheme has been adopted by the Company since
15th August, 2012 (the “Existing Share Option Scheme”) to
replace a share option scheme which had been adopted on 6th
September, 2002 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) to comply
with the current statutory requirements. The Company may
grant options to the participants as set out in the Existing Share

Option Scheme.
Summary of the Existing Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1. Purpose of the Existing Share Option Scheme
To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the

Company and its shares.

2. Participants of the Existing Share Option Scheme

(i) Any full-time employee of the Company or of any

subsidiary; and

(i) Any executive director and non-executive director

(excluding independent non-executive directors) of

the Company or of any subsidiary.
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3.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
Existing Share Option Scheme and percentage of issued
share capital as at the date of the annual report

The Company may initially grant options representing
52,513,528 shares under the Existing Share Option
Scheme (i.e. approximately 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of the approval of
the Existing Share Option Scheme).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Existing Share Option Scheme
and any other schemes adopted by the Company must
not exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to time.
No options may be granted under the Existing Share
Option Scheme or any other share option scheme if that

will result in the 30% limit being exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
Existing Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the Existing Share Option Scheme or any
other share option scheme adopted by the Company in
any 12 month period must not exceed 1% of the shares

in issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option
Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or

grant of the option.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

An option may be exercised at any time during a period
commencing on the expiry of 6 calendar months after the

date of grant of the option, but in any event not later

than 10 years from the date of grant.
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7. The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must
be paid
The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$10 and an offer shall remain open for acceptance by
the participant for a period of 28 days from the date on
which the letter containing the offer is delivered to that

participant.

8. The basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price shall be determined by the Board in

its absolute discretion and shall be at least the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; or

(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the 5 business days immediately

preceding the date of grant; or

(iii)  the nominal value of the shares on the date of

grant.

9. The remaining life of the Existing Share Option Scheme
The Existing Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date i.e. 15th August, 2012.

During the year, no share option was granted under the Existing
Share Option scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or its other associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable any of the
Company’s Directors, Chief Executive of the Company (including
the spouse and children under 18 years old) or members of its
management, or its specified undertakings, to hold any interests

or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or other associated companies.
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In view that the Existing Share Option Scheme will soon expire
on the tenth anniversary of its adoption (i.e. T4th August, 2022),
in order to enable the Company to continue to grant share
options to eligible participants as incentives for their
contribution and potential contribution to the success of the
Company, the Board proposes to recommend to the
Shareholders at the forthcoming special general meeting (the
“SGM”) to be held on 18th August, 2022 to approve the
adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2022 Share
Option Scheme”). The proposed adoption of the 2022 Share
Option Scheme is subject to the approval of the Shareholders

by way of an ordinary resolution at the SGM.

Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 34 to the accompanying financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any of the Company’s directors or members of its management
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2022, shareholders (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) who had interest
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept

by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the Shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder Capacity
BRREB &1

Ms. Li Lin interest of spouse
FH L L e {8 11

ERHABREFIANBEERBTBFER M
TEC_FNAATEAES WA EARAEER
BERZBEALERLBERE FRESFHAAAFE
ARDANEOERSEERERMZ R0 EFEH
MEREZ RT__FNAT+NRBEIBRTZ
B SRR B R & ([ SR AR B R & 1) & 57 40 37 B8 AR A =1
ST —FBREFED EERA_FT—_—
FREREFIASKRERRFIREG LAERR
BRI A

EEZERXZ RERGHNRZAZE

PR BEM 2 B S SRR MY SE34R BB & S AR A E
M LR NFERRFEANEMBRE - WEET A EAE
AEEBXBABMALRESAEEEREEER
MERAETFEANGEZEZAMRS RHELE
# e

TERR
BAARNEFARTRAN N -F - —F= 7
St-B RERAAEFRNTRBINKAAL
ARBRATBBES T HEREES RS EDE
XVEE2 R B35 3 ) (AR A A A A
AR AR S R KR E336H BT B R
SEEEP S

TERRREIAABRGZHFE

Approximate % of

Number of Shares total Shareholding

HREZ
BRHEHE BHAES
202,962,677 39.13%
(Note 1)
(K zE1)
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Note:

1. Ms. Li Lin (“Ms. Li") is the spouse of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (“Mr. Lam”) (director
and controlling shareholder of the Company), by virtue of SFO she is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Mr. Lam. The shares held by
Mr. Lam and Ms. Li were the same block of shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2022, the Company
has not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
Chief Executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the three Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2022.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all
the Directors and the senior management. The Remuneration

Committee composed of all the three Independent Non-

Executive Directors of the Company.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the
Chairman of the Board, one Non-Executive Director and the
three Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company.
The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board on a
regular basis and making recommendations to the Board

regarding any proposed changes.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 22 and 23 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business
During the year ended 31st March, 2022, none of the Directors

nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the
year under review the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.

Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 37 to 55 of the

annual report.

Management contracts
No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the

management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group’s business was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31st March, 2022.

Employee and remuneration policies

The Group recruited and promoted individual persons according
to their strength and development potential. The Group
determined the remuneration packages of all employees

with individual

reference to

(including the Directors)

performance and current market rate.
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Directors’ indemnities and insurance

Subject to the applicable laws, every director of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him
or her in the execution and discharge of his or her duties or in
relation thereto pursuant to the Company Bye-laws. Such
provisions were in force during the course of the financial year
ended 31st March, 2022 and remained in force as of the date

of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its

directors and officers.

Auditor

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries

(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
strives at ensuring high standards of corporate governance in
the interests of shareholders and takes care to identify practices
designed to achieve effective oversight, transparency and ethical

behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2022, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in the then Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as

mentioned below.

This

governance practices of the Company during the year ended

report includes information relating to corporate
31st March, 2022 and significant events after that date and up

to the date of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
code of conduct regarding securities dealings by directors as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31st March, 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board
The Board

governance framework,

is at the core of the Company’s corporate

and there is clear division of
responsibilities between the Board and the Management. The
Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management. Generally, the Board is

responsible for:

o formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

. reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;
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J approving the annual and interim reports;

J reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

o ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

o monitoring the performance of the Management.

Board Composition
At the date of this report, the Board has eight members,
comprising four Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director

and three Independent Non-Executive Directors.

During the year ended 31st March, 2022 and up to the date of
publication of this Annual Report, the Directors of the Company

are set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
(Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Tin Shing

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok
(Appointed as Executive Director of the Company with effect
from 1st April, 2022)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, s8s, jp
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

Biographical details of the Directors are set out from pages 56
to 59 of this Annual Report. Save as disclosed therein, there is
no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among the Directors. A List of Directors and their
Role and Function is available on both the websites of The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

and the Company.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors represented more than
one-third of the Board members, thus exhibiting a strong
independent element which enhanced independent judgement.
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company is a practicing CPA in Hong Kong and
possesses appropriate professional qualifications and financial

management expertise as required under the Listing Rules.

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve

interim and annual results and other significant matters.

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, four full Board
meetings and the 2021 annual general meeting (“AGM”) were
held with an average attendance rate of 100% and 86%

respectively, details of which are presented below:

XERMSE

>

BYFNTESHEZTENEBBE=D2— A%
BRHEBEESERBNBIIN - AIEL B AL -
BEERLE ARBZBIFRATES REAEH
XM R EALTRAAIRENEE FEERRMA
M EIEER -

EEeREFRETRIOREGE NETERBER
RER URBTMEEFEEEREMERZEIR -

HE-_ZT-__F#=-A=+—HLFER ARaHE
TOrrREEEEeRN_T - —FREAFAE
((RFRFRE])  HEXED R R100%K86% * 5
BEHmT :

Board Meetings

Board Members Attended/Held 2021 AGM
EEEe3 —EB-—fF
EsgRE HE BT BRREBFRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board MHEMEE (EEFSTFE
and Chief Executive Officer) R#iTR) 4/4 v
Mr. Tin Shing B & 4/4 v
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching & Bk 4/4 v
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok HBREBALE
(Appointed as Executive Director of the (B=F=-—4F
Company with effect from 1st April, 2022) mA—HEEE TR N/A N/A
KREHTEE) 5@ A 38
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRI 4/4 —
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIAFHITES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PR A4 ¢ 52 & 4/4 v
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, s8s, /P S E & s EE A T 4/4 v
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny Bk A 4/4 v

Yearly meeting schedule is discussed and approved by the 2FE@HKHENTHLBEZTSN TV LILE -

Board at the beginning of the year. Board agenda is approved
by the Chairman following consultation with other Board

members. Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched

to all Board members in a timely manner.

AEGLBXELRBEZTEXNEEMN-

BEREFARATHEENANEASETGNE
ERR BIEBRAGIT -FESEMHERGH
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All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied
with and advises the Board on corporate governance and
compliance matters. They are also encouraged to take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in
performance of their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the
Directors are covered by the Directors’ & Officers’ Liability

Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person would allow the Company to be
more effective and efficient in developing long-term business
strategies and execution of business plans. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operation of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Code Provision C.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors. As
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the Chairman of the Company, is also an
Executive Director of the Company, this code provision is not

applicable.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui has been re-designated from the position of
Executive Director to Non-Executive Director upon her
retirement from the Company. Ms. Yeung has not been
appointed for a specific term as she is subject to retirement by

rotation and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-

laws of the Company.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include
the following:

J provision of independent judgement at the Board meeting;
J take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

° serve on committees if invited; and

o scrutinize the performance of the Group as necessary.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company
or its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member
of any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past three years. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has
provided a confirmation of his independence with reference to
the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee and the Board has assessed the
independence of all the Independent Non-Executive Directors of
the Company and considers all of them to be independent
having regard to (i) their annual confirmation on independence
as required under the Listing Rules, (ii) the absence of
involvement in the daily management of the Company and (iii)
the absence of any relationships or circumstances which would

interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry,

sgs, p and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny have served as
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company for more
than 9 years. In addition to their confirmation of independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan,
Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam continue to demonstrate the attributes
of an independent non-executive director and there is no
their
independence. The Nomination Committee and the Board are of
the opinion that Mr. Chan, Mr. Kwok and Mr.

independent notwithstanding the length of their service and

evidence that their tenure have any impact on

Tam remain
believe that their valuable knowledge and experience continue

to generate significant contribution to the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.
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Appointments, Re-election and Removal

There is a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors to the Board, the primary responsibility of
which has been delegated to the Nomination Committee. The
structure, size and composition of the Board will be reviewed
from time to time by the Nomination Committee to ensure that
the Board has a balanced skill and expertise for providing

effective leadership to the Company.

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, at each
AGM, not less than one-third of the directors shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall retire at least once every
three years. The retiring directors shall be eligible for re-
election. New appointments either to fill a casual vacancy or as
an addition to the Board are subject to re-election by

shareholders of the Company at the next following AGM.

All Non-Executive Directors including Independent Non-
Executive Directors of the Company have not been appointed
for a specific term as they are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the

Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the business and

his responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

All' Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors are given
guideline on their time commitments to the affairs of the
Company. Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies or

organizations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in

a timely manner of any changes of such information.
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Code Provision C.1.6 stipulates that independent non-executive — <FRIMEX ZEC.1.61&REB L IFNITE E R EMIFH
directors and other non-executive directors should attend fTEFELFREASGLERENERAAENT
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the M - GER L THAFTHFERPAHAB I BESL -
views of shareholders. Ms. Yeung Chui was unable to attend FTARBEHFEARIRZZ_—FNAAZ+HE
the AGM of the Company held on 20th August, 2021 as she ZRFEHEFAKE -

was engaged in other prior business commitments.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development EESCRESERR

To ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed ABREZEFEETAELIEEAALYAMTHOEBER
and relevant, all the Directors are encouraged to participate in  THEZEZEHER ARG HBAAEESTL2HER
continuous professional development to develop and refresh EFXERRIE LEEREFENZ R R
their knowledge and skill. During the year, the Company had AFEN @ AR A ZHFH & LRERBFIERBH
arranged in-house trainings for Executive Directors and the Non-  {TEEZERIFEHITEE < LI KRR NMEHMES
Executive Director in form of seminar and provision of training REEHEAK AEEBABEKEHAEENEB
materials. In addition, the Company also provided regular R&EKIER: KA@M HA CEERFHR
updates to the Directors in respect of the business and fHEEMRMEE (F) -

operations of the Group through monthly reports; and the

updates on the changes in Listing Rules, Corporate Governance

Code and related regulatory requirements, if any.

During the year, the continuous professional development taken F R @ FUEE2 M HEFTEBRREFBOT

by the respective Directors are as follows:

Board Members Type of training
ExgNE IR EER
A B C

Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the — M}tk E (EFEFE

Board and Chief Executive Officer) R#TTR) v v —
Mr. Tin Shing FH &Lk A v v —
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching & Bk v v v
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok =HEBKLE

(Appointed as Executive Director of (B=F=-—FWmWA—H

the Company with effect from 1st HEEZERELA] N/A N/A N/A

April, 2022) HITEF) TEA TEA TEA
Non-Executive Director FHUTES
Ms. Yeung Chui HBRIt v — —

Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR¥S e 8 & v — v
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sgs, /p BIESL A s s K FH+ v _ v
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B IEE A v — v
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reading materials in relation to regulatory update

B. attending in-house training to update business
development

C. attending seminars/courses/conferences to develop

professional skill and knowledge

During the year, the Company received training records from all
Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’

duties and responsibilities.

Supply of and Access to Information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are
also made available for inspection by the Board and its

Committees.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has preserved
three board committees (“Board Committees”) with defined
terms of reference (which are posted on websites of the Group
and the Stock Exchange), namely Remuneration Committee,

Nomination Committee and Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises of all the three

Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy and
package of all the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive directors and senior management,
review and approving annual performance bonus and approving
the terms of service contracts of executive directors and senior

management.

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on

its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its

duties and responsibilities.
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Meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held
at least twice a year to coincide with key dates within the
financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended 31st
March, 2022, three meetings were held, attendance of these

meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out below:

TEERERE

FHERR AR BERTMAGHE  AMARY
NZEZATER-B -#HE—
T-HLEFER HHMEZEERT

s

)
B
of
bs
[l B ©
o
(I
&

Meetings
Remuneration Committee Members Attended/Held
FMEEERE 2REE BT
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) R S (/) 3/3
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sBs, jp BIESLAE sz K FH+ 3/3
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BEEIESEE 3/3

The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information
it requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2022.

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$19,049,000 (2021:
HK$10,542,000) and senior executives’ remuneration amounted
to HK$2,317,000 (2021: HK$1,928,000), individual details of
which are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.
Executive Directors and senior executives’ compensation
including incentive bonus shall be based on the corporate and

individual performance.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises of three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and

Chairman of the Board.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include:

(a) to review the structure, size and composition (including

the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and to select or to make

recommendations to the Board on the selection of

individuals nominated for directorships;

FHNEEeRERAEERN AR ESEERNEREIE
WrAmEREEREEZTEZHMENR  REHRE
BREMBITEATNER UBTHERY &
BMERER XN ¥FHZECeCEHNESTES
WITBRAB T __F %M -

HE-Z-_—_F-A=-+-—HBHFER EZHs4L
0 #919,049,000/8 ;L(= T = — 4 : 10,542,000/
L) mAITIRA B M B & 48 %8 492,317,000 7T (=
T = —% : 1,928,000 7T) 5 15 R e MY 2 B 7 ¥ & MY
FIOBET - AITEERSRITERAB ZHHEEU
TCERBAXRAAELENES -

REZE®
REZBEHA-MNBIFATES  —UFNTE
EREESIFEMAEK-
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(c) to assess the independence of the Independent Non- (c) FIZRBIUIERTEENBE LML &

Executive Directors; and

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the (d) REBZTHXEFZTULRESEHTTEME
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and EfxgRbER-
succession planning for Directors.
ZCCF=ZR=+—-HUIEFER REZE

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, two meetings were & % -
ERITTMAEZE mzESHENLEEROT :

held, attendance of these meetings held by the Nomination

Committee is set out below:

Meetings
Nomination Committee Members Attended/Held
REZEERE SEUE BT
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sss, jp (Chairman) BB E - wangs A Fut (E/E) 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PR 5 & 2/2
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Mo a5 2/2
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BEEIESEE 2/2
Ms. Yeung Chui HBRELL 2/2

Nomination Policy REWE

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the ZARAIRRMNIBBZEK  EFRINHERLEZETES
criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of ZIEHRBERE X TI AREZZESGCHMNIERIRE
Directors. Below are the nomination procedures and the process AABEZZIREEFLBIRE -

and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select

and recommend candidates for directorship.

Selection Criteria REER
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria R EZZEENIREBEEREZER X 2EETR
in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships: RIATHIE
(a)  Skills and Experience @ FRERZS
The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge and ANEREBEARNA RENERREBHER
experience which are relevant to the operations of the ZEEE MEBRER -

Company and its subsidiaries.

(b)  Diversity ) ZiTlt
Candidates should be considered on merit and against ERBAZBZRERTEREEZE TE
objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity E2ZHNARAEFEXNEZTIEBES
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the METEBERBUARESSERNTEMER
Company and the balance of skills and experience in 2 e

board composition.
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(©)

(d)

(e)

Commitment

The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to
attend board meetings and participate in induction,
trainings and other board associated activities. In
particular, if the proposed candidate will be nominated
as an independent non-executive director (“INED”) and
will be holding his/her seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, the Nomination Committee should consider
the reason given by the candidate for being able to

devote sufficient time to the Board.

Standing

The candidate must satisfy the Board and the Stock
Exchange that he/she has the character, experience and
integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of
competence commensurate with the relevant position as

a director of the Company.

Independence
The candidate to be nominated as an INED must satisfy
the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules.

Nomination Procedures

(a)

If the Nomination Committee determines that an
additional or replacement director is required, the
Committee may take such measures that it considers
appropriate in connection with its identification and

evaluation of a candidate.

The Nomination Committee may propose to the Board a
candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to
the Board.

On making recommendation, the Nomination Committee
may submit the candidate’s personal profile to the Board
for consideration. The Board may appoint the candidate(s)
as director(s) to fill a casual vacancy(ies) or as an
addition to the Board or recommend such candidate to
shareholders for election or re-election (where

appropriate) at the general meeting.
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During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, the Board
Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy, and considered that
the said policies were appropriate and effective. Further, the
Nomination Committee also assessed the independence of all
independent non-executive directors of the Company and
recommended to the Board for approval of the re-election of
the retiring Directors at the 2021 AGM and the appointment of
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok as Executive Director of the Company
with effect from Tst April, 2022.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity
on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge

and length of service.

The Nomination Committee and the Board will review the
Policy and diversity of the Board from time to time to ensure its

continued effectiveness and compliance with Listing Rules.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises of all the three Independent

Non-Executive Directors of the Company.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
oversee the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors, review with management the accounting principles
and practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk

management and internal control system, and financial reporting

matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2022.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and annual
results for the year ended 3Tst March, 2022 and was content
that the accounting policies of the Group are in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting practices in Hong Kong.
It also meets twice a year with the Group’s external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), to consider their report on the
scope, strategy, progress and outcome of their independent
review of the annual audit of the consolidated financial
statements. During the year ended 31st March, 2022, two
meetings were held, attendance of the meetings held by the

Audit Committee is set out below:

EEREBRRS

ERZBgD BB E T __F=A=+—HL1
FEMNPHERE2FER THASEBEOEHWED
REBBPERENETERMNNEHBEREZTIME °
Z B B K B A SN A B 2R ok E g ETRD
EBEMIRERDEBFRITMACSE UEEEER
HHBUBREGRAVBRERNFEERNERE X
K- EENERMEXNRE HE-T__F=
A=T—HIEFERN BEZZEERTTMAEE "
HEERET :

Meetings
Audit Committee Members Attended/Held
EREEERE ERUE BT
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) EBEIERE (£E) 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR#S e 8 & 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sgs, jp BHESE - g s & FH 2/2
Corporate Governance Function hEERIBE
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s corporate EFE2HBEAXAFEMNCEEREH AR FWL
governance compliance. The Company has not established a SEERUMEELZE®G EFEHLEB LD EK
Corporate Governance Committee and has delegated the HBHEEREAKZERZEEAE UHZEEFNH

function to a senior management committee to perform the
corporate governance function. The scope of works of the

committee including the following:
J to review performance of the Group regularly;

. to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the Board;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior

management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and

directors.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2022, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
made adjustments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and have prepared the financial statements on the
going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for
keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Company.

The Company provides monthly updates to the Board to assess
the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects in
sufficient details to enable the Board members to discharge their

duties under the Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance
structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across

business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the
senior management of the Group (“Senior Management”). The
Board determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be
taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and has the
overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems. The Board, through the Audit Committee,
conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems at least

annually, covering all material controls including financial,

operational and compliance controls.
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The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy
in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Senior
Management identifies risks that would adversely affect the
achievement of the Group’s objectives, and assesses and
prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of standard
criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then

established for those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and in performing the internal audit functions for
the Group. Deficiencies in the design and implementation of
internal controls are identified and recommendations are
proposed for improvement. Significant internal control
deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board
on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are

taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are
submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a
year. The Board, through the Audit Committee, had performed
annual review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its business
transformation and changing external environment; the scope
and quality of management’s review on risk management and
internal control systems; result of internal audit work; the extent
and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to
result of risk and internal control review; significant failures or
weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status

of compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Board has assessed the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and considers the systems were

effective and adequate during the year.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or

loss.
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The Group has the Inside Information Policy which sets out
guidelines to the Directors and senior management of the Group
to ensure inside information of the Group would be
disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in

accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by PwC. During the year, remuneration of approximately
HK$2,540,000 was for the provision of audit services. In
addition, approximately HK$1,959,000 was for other non-audit
services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax

compliance and advisory services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, has been appointed as Company
Secretary of the Company with effect from 1st April, 2019. He
is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to
proper Board processes and the timely preparation and
dissemination to Directors comprehensive meeting agendas and
papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committees
are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to
record in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached by the Board or Committee, including any concerns
raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director. All minutes
are sent to Directors and are available for inspection by any

Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully appraised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and
also responsible for the Group’s statutory compliance. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject
to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Company Secretary reports to the Board, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary of the
Company has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. In
response to specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary
confirmed that he has complied with all the proposed

qualifications, experience and training requirements of the

Listing Rules.
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Mr. Poon confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours

relevant professional training during the year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with shareholders is given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in
the annual report and the interim report. The Group’s website
provides regularly updated Group information to shareholders.
Enquiries on matters relating to shareholdings and the business
of the Group are welcome, and are dealt with in an informative
and timely manner. The Group encourages all shareholders to
attend AGM. Notice of the AGM and related papers are sent to
shareholders at least 20 clear business days prior to the date of
AGM.

The chairmen of all Board Committees are invited to attend the
AGM. The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of all the
Board Committees are available to answer questions at the
AGM. Auditor is also invited to attend the AGM to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor’s independence. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, any vote
of shareholders at a general meeting will be taken by poll.
Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will be explained to
the shareholders in the general meeting so that shareholders are
familiar with such voting procedures. The poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
on the day of the general meeting. Moreover, a separate
resolution will be proposed by the chairman of a general

meeting in respect of each substantially separate issue.

The Company has established the Shareholders” Communication
Policy setting out the formal channels of communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders for ensuring fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of the Group’s
performance and activities, a copy of the policy has been

posted to the website of the Group.

Shareholders’ Rights

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, Directors of
the Company shall on the requisition of members of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the
Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, forthwith proceed duly to

convene a special general meeting of the Company.
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Details of the procedures for shareholders to convene and put
forward proposals at an AGM or special general meeting
(“SGM”) are set out in the Company’s website. Shareholders
may send their enquires requiring the Board’s attention to the
Company’s principal place of business at 3/F., Perfect Industrial
Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or by e-mail to enquiry@hkstarlite.com. Questions about the
procedures for convening or putting forward proposals at an
AGM or SGM may also be put to the Company by the same

means.

The Company also values and is eager to hear suggestions and
comments from shareholders and investors. For enquiries from
institutional investors and securities analysts please contact our

Company Secretary.

Investor Relations

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular communication and dialogue with
shareholders and investors. As a channel to promote effective
communication, the Group maintains a website at www.
hkstarlite.com where the Company’s announcements and press
releases, business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other

information are posted.

Dividend Policy

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was
adopted by the Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to
determine (i) whether dividends are to be declared and paid;
and (ii) the level of the dividend to be paid to the shareholders.
It is the policy to allow the shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for future

growth.

In determining/recommending the frequency, amount and form
of any dividend in any financial year/period, the Board shall
consider the following factors:

(i) the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and

future development plans;

(iii)  the Group’s liquidity position;
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(iv)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group’s business and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company;

(v)  the possible effects on the Group’s credit-worthiness, the
financial covenants to which the Group is subject and
any restrictions on the payment of dividends that may be

imposed by the Group’s lenders;
(vi)  shareholders’ interests;
(vii) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and
(viii) and other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of dividend is also subject to the compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, including the laws of Bermuda,
the financial reporting standards that the Group has adopted

and the Company’s Bye-laws.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws during the year ended 31st March,
2022. A copy of the latest consolidated version of the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws is posted on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Board proposes to amend the existing bye-laws (the “Existing
Bye-laws”) by way of adoption of the new bye-laws in
substitution for and to the exclusion of the Existing Bye-laws, in
order to provide flexibility to the Company in relation to the
conduct of general meetings and to bring the Existing Bye-laws
in line with the Core Shareholder Protection Standards set out
in Appendix 3 of the Listing Rules. The Proposed Amendments
are subject to the approval of the Shareholders by way of a
special resolution at the forthcoming special general meeting to
be held on 18th August, 2022.

On behalf of the Board
Poon Kwok Ching

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2022
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DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Executive directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 75, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman of the Board,
founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He holds a
Master Degree in Business Administration (Distinguished Alumni
Awards) from the National University of Singapore. Currently,
he is studying the Engineering Doctorate postgraduate
programme at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam
has been in community work in China and Hong Kong for
many years. He is a member of the Standing Committee of the
10th, 11th and the 12th National Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference, a director of Chinese
Overseas Friendship Association, a member of Selection
Committee for the Government of HKSAR and a committee
member of the Election Committee Subsector Elections,
Chairman of Mainland Affairs Committee of Scout Association
of Hong Kong, Deputy Chairman of Federation of Hong Kong
Guangdong Community Organizations Charitable Foundation
Limited, Chairman of Polar Museum Foundation, Director of
Future Star, an Adjunct Professor of College of Business of City
University of Hong Kong and Director of Guangzhou Jinan
University. Mr. Lam has received several prominent awards
including “Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Award
1986”, “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 1988”, the first
“Hong Kong Entrepreneurs Award 1990”, “Outstanding
Achievements Award” of the “Hong Kong Print Award 1999”
and “Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in 2002. Mr. Lam has over
57 years’ experience in the printing industry and takes charge
of the overall planning, strategy and development of the Group.
He has made dedicated efforts to enhance the transformation of
Starlite, business diversification, products development, OBM
product, intelligent (automation) systems and industry 4.0 in

recent years.

Mr. Tin Shing, aged 58 joined the Group in September 1981.
He was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
and director of several wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company with effect from 1st April, 2019. Mr. Tin has over 40
years’ experience in the operation and management of package
printing companies and he has been responsible for the overall

planning and daily operations of the Group in the PRC.
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Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, aged 44, joined the Group in September
2006. He was appointed as Executive Director; an Authorised
Representative of the Company; the Senior Vice President (Chief
Financial Officer) of the Group; the Company Secretary of the
Company; and a director of certain subsidiaries within the
Group with effect from Tst April, 2019. Mr. Poon graduated
from The University of Hong Kong and holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration and he has extensive
experience in the fields of audit and accounting. Mr. Poon is a
Hong Kong Accounting Expert appointed by the Ministry of
Finance of the PRC, a Committee Member of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou City, an
Associate Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a Fellow Member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Poon has also received a
Commendation awarded by the Home Affairs Bureau of the

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC in 2018.

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok, aged 55, joined the Group in 2001. He
was appointed as Executive Director of the Company with effect
from 1st April, 2022. He is currently the Senior Vice President
(Marketing and Sales) of the Group and responsible for
overseeing the Group’s marketing and sales. Mr. Wong has over
30 years of experience in the printing business relating to
books, greeting cards and packaging. His strength is in account
management, business development, strategic planning, and
communications with internal and external parties. He is also
responsible for managing the Group’s FSC-COC certification
since 2007 to ensure the required standards are met and to
manage the number of participating sites under the scope of the

Group’s certification.

Non-Executive director

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 75, is one of the founders of the Group.
She was re-designated from the position of Executive Director
to Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from
1st September, 2011. She has over 50 years’ experience in the

printing industry.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 70,

Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration

Independent

Committee, member of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He has been an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan
was the former Chairman and is currently the non-executive
director of the publicly-listed Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited in
Hong Kong. He is also a Non-Executive Director of Tao Heung
Holdings Limited, an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Pacific Textiles Holdings Limited, Tse Sui Luen Jewellery
(International) Limited, Modern Dental Group Limited, and
Human Health Holdings Limited, all of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He holds a
double major degree in Sociology and Political Science, a
Master degree in City Planning from the University of Manitoba,
an Honorary Doctorate Degree in Business Administration, and
is bestowed as Honorary Fellow from Lingnan University.
Mr. Chan currently is the adviser of the Quality Tourism
Services Association, as well as being the Honorary Chairman
of the Hong Kong Institute of Marketing. He has many years of
professional experience in the public sector and over 30 years’

managerial experience in the food and catering industry.

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, sss, jp, aged 66, Independent
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee,
member of the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee
of the Company. He was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is
currently a partner of Kwok Yih & Chan (“KYC”), Solicitors.
Prior to founding KYC, he worked in a number of international
law firms, including Baker & McKenzie, Simmons & Simmons
(Partner), Andersen Legal (Managing Partner, Greater China),
Mallesons Stephen Jaques (Managing Partner, Mainland China
and Hong Kong) and King & Wood Mallesons (Managing
Partner, Asia Strategy & Markets). He graduated from the
University of Sydney, Australia with combined degrees in
accounting/economics and laws respectively as well as a
master’s degree in laws. He also obtained the Advanced
Management Program diploma from the Harvard Business
School. He is qualified to practise as a solicitor in Hong Kong,
Australia, England and Wales and Singapore. He is also
qualified as a Chartered Accountant in England and Wales and
a CPA in Hong Kong and Australia. He has served regularly on
Government boards and committees. Previously, he was
Chairman of the Transport Advisory Committee, Chairman of

the Independent Police Complaints Council, Convenor of the
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Disciplinary Appeals Committee of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Chairman of the Traffic Accident Victims Assistance
Advisory Committee, Chairman of the Appeal Board of the
Criminal & Law Enforcement Injuries Compensation Boards,
Vice-Chairman of the Consumer Council and Deputy Chairman
of the Appeal Board under the Consumer Goods Safety
Ordinance. He is currently a Chairman of the Appeal Tribunal
Panel of the Buildings Ordinance (Cap.123) and an arbitrator of
the Shenzhen Court of International Arbitration.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 73, Independent
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee,
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in July
2004. He is a practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong
Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a member of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Tam is serving
as a member of the Restructuring and Insolvency Faculty
Executive Committee in the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a Past President of The Society
of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Tam also serves as
an independent non-executive director of certain listed
companies on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, namely, Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited,
Capital Industrial Financial Services Group Limited (formerly
known as Shougang Concord Grand (Group) Limited), Hong
Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited, West China Cement
Limited, BeijingWest Industries International Limited, GBA

Holdings Limited and Wisdom Education International Holdings

Company Limited.

EERERHN

THRELHFZREEIRE HEEZBEERIEREMHE
BRI LFEZEGRITRES -BREERA/L
FEHBECGEEDGEIN(FE1238) 2 £ F FORNNBE R
REp R E -

BREAE BEL TR ARAZ2BILIENRTT
B ERZEEIR VHZEERREEZES®
KE MR _TTENEFLARRERARTZEYL
FRTEE-RABTERESHM -KRELES
MAEZERGERNERLTABEFIFEES
MreEg8 BALEREESHMASERRKE
EREFHZENTEZEGZIZE -RAREBEA
B AEREER - EEETHESHN T BN
ERGAERABER LT Z2ABABIEEEREE
BEERAR BEEEXSRRBEEERAA(AIH
BEROUG(EE)ERRAR) BEMAERARLR
B hEAMKERRAR REETEEARA
Al GBARBEBR AR RAEHREBBERERQ
AABERHERRZERERAR)) ZBILIEHR
TEERA -

59
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Following is the list of properties held by subsidiaries of the WZZ__F=A=+—HAAXSEZMNEBE QA

Group as at 31st March, 2022: BZMENT :
% of interest held
Locations Purpose by the Group
rEEREER
ih Bh k=S Bot
1. 3/F, Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, For own use 100%
Kowloon, Hong Kong
ERNENEERAEENIRSELIENEE B A 100%
2. Car park numbers L3, L4, L5 and P37 at Perfect Industrial For own use 100%
Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EERNEINEEREE3REETEKNEL, L4, L5KP375 BA 100%
B
3. Unit 1, 5/F, Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Leased out 100%
Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
EANEN R ABEIIREETTERERIRE il 100%
4. Unit 2, 5/F, Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Leased out 100%
Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
ERNENFEERAEEIIREETERNEE2RE gl 100%
5. Flat E, 37/F, Block 1A, The Arch, No. 1 Austin Road West, Leased out 100%
Kowloon, Hong Kong
EBNEN T B EEIRINIEPNAEIZEER gzl 100%
6. Land-use-right and factory premises at 189, Kaifa Avenue, For own use 100%

Guangzhou Economic & Technological Development District,
PRC
FEEMEERMAEEMEAEI8RZ LI ERREE B8R 100%




LIST OF PROPERTIES MEFE

Locations

it B

10.

11.

AR EE N R R B AL 14551004
R RN ERE X AEI4510045

Land-use-right and factory premises at Muxi Liu Lu, Muxi
Industry Zone, Shaoguan City, Guangdong Province, PRC
B R TR T EERRNE 2 T @R R EE

Land-use-right and factory premises at No.88 Zhu Jiang Road,
Liuhe Town Taicang City, Jiangsu Province, PRC
BT #E KR ™ORN I BRest 2 LI g R E

Land-use-right and factory premises at No.98 Hu Tai Xin Road,

Liuhe Town Taicang City, Jiangsu Province, PRC

TR EE KR ™R EIE AT KIS 2 LB REE

Leasehold land and factory premises at PLO 17, Jalan Persiaran

Teknologi, Taman Teknologi Johor, 81400 Senai, Johor,

Malaysia
B P L FHMPLO 17, Jalan Persiaran Teknologi, Taman
Teknologi Johor, 81400 Senai, 2 & + #1 [ & F5

Purpose

R®

Staff quarter
BETIEE

For own use

=

For own use

aH

For own use

=

For own use

=

% of interest held
by the Group
rEEEEER
Bot

100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%

100%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

_a

pwc

To the Shareholders of Starlite Holdings Limited

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),

which are set out on pages 74 to 200, comprise:

J the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st March, 2022;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;
J the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the

year then ended;

J the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which

include significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31st March, 2022, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been

properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.
Key audit matters are identified in our audit as follows:
J Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,

right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets;

and

. Provision for inventories obsolescence.

B M % B R
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Key Audit Matter
MEETEE

B M % B R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEANAEERAREFEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

ME-BERRE EREEEURFADEEZANRZBRERN G

Refer to Notes 2.5, 2.7, 2.20, 4(a), 14 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements
BE A FEIREN £2.5, 2.7, 2.20, 4(a), 14K16

The Group has approximately HK$396,078,000 of
property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”), right-of-use assets
(“ROU”) and prepayments for non-current assets as at 31st
March, 2022, of which approximately HK$102,996,000,
HK$258,981,000 and HK$34,101,000 are related to the
Group’s production plant and machinery, ROU and
prepayments for non-current assets in eastern and southern
China and Malaysia respectively. The Group’s eastern and
southern China segments and Malaysia are three separate
Cash Generating Units, with eastern China generating
profit of approximately HK$4,000,000, while southern
China and Malaysia are suffering from loss (excluding the
gain on disposal of a subsidiary) for the year of
approximately HK$123,136,000 and HK$6,706,000
respectively. The recovery of the economic performance
of the assets in eastern China, southern China and
Malaysia were slower than expected due to global market
sentiment, intense competition and Coronavirus Disease
2019 pandemic.
EEER_Z__F=ZA=T—HOWE KBELEX
(% BELRE]D) ERAEEE(ERREE]D AR
R EEE Z BN KK R396,078,0008 L - H A
102,996,000/ 7T * 258,981,000;8 JT MA $234,101,000/8 JT
B OBEEESRRER EERTRATHEERRE RE
BOERAREEARERDEELENTEH - BEEE
WER ZERASKAEOBR=ZEBLIREELSM
P 7R R 2 2 R E £ B ) 494,000,000 7T - 1B & —
MEBRARzZKHZ FALSRKRAIHNE/SERL
123,136,000/ 7T 126,706,000 7T« ¥ R - # @ K 5 R A
TEELARBNERSKRARRE  T2HNKRIK
M5 I1EE  BRHEFE F20198 BB R m F RIS

We performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

HPETTATREFARRERENFER

o We obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and assessment process of the
preparation of cash flow projection and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud.

. THREEEARAMREE N ERRSRETRAMNF
HBEE TRBEEGEF 2 TEEEREREME
ERBEZAKT(MEME BT E2HRY
ERERARNEEOGEMN) T EBRERRAN
A g o

o We evaluated management’s identification of the
impairment indicators by corroborating with
supporting evidence for the PP&E, ROU and
prepayments for non-current assets in eastern and
southern China and Malaysia.

. MERLREAUALSRATZOYE  BELEHE
ERREENRIGERBEEZANRME - HFIMN
RS F X REE  HEIREM B R ERR
HEATFHE -

. We involved our in-house valuation expert in
assessing the methodology of management’s
impairment assessment based on the value in use
calculation and the fair value less cost of disposal
model, and the key assumptions used in the
management’s impairment assessment of the PP&E,
ROU, and prepayments for non-current assets.

. BMBHARNBEEERFEEEEREERERR
A AABER H & RN ) R A S 5T B RUE R (4 710K
REEERME BERRE EREEENRFE
MBEEZBRNFBMEF G ERNBERERR -




INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

B M % B R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEANAEERAREFEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

(Continued)

ME-BERRE ERAREEURFIADEEZANRZHER G ()

Management assessed the recoverable amounts of the
PP&E, ROU and prepayments for non-current assets in
eastern and southern China and Malaysia separately as
three Cash Generating Units, and based on the higher of
values in use or fair values less cost of disposal. The
values in use and fair values less cost of disposal of the
PP&E, ROU, and prepayments for non-current assets for
these three segments are determined by management
based on the future cash flow generated by these assets
and the market value of these assets respectively.
Management engaged independent external valuer to
assist them to value these assets. Based on management’s
impairment assessment, an
approximately HK$34,561,000 and HK$3,416,000 is

recognised for southern China and Malaysia in the current

impairment charge of

year, respectively. No impairment charge is recognised for
eastern China in the current year.
EEEEARNERBEXAABEALERNANREE
N EERRERUALSE KA =ABYRcELEN
WY BELRE CEREEEARERDEE AN
FROAKREEE - ERESNBRBUEEEMELENKR
RREREULMKEEENMSEER EE=EoM2
ME BELEE ERAEEEAMERDEEZANR
MEREERAABEROEKRA - EREBBELI
BAEMABDEREMENSEENBE - REETR
B R ER - AFEEER RS R E D 5 E R ERF
X #134,561,00078 7T K3,416,000/8 7T » & F £ 2 R I & i
RAEMBMEMX -

oy
4

. For value in use calculations, we assessed the

management’s impairment assessments based on the

future cash flow forecasts, by comparing sales

growth rates to the underlying assumptions in the

latest Board approved budgets and the discount

rates to the cost of capital for the Company and

comparable organisations. We tested the
mathematical accuracy of the calculations of the
management’s impairment assessments derived from
the forecast models and assessed key inputs in the
calculations by reference to management’s approved
budgets. We also checked the key data inputs, on a
sample basis, of management’s approved budgets
by reference to third parties information such as
purchase orders, and we assessed the historical
reliability of the budgets.

. EREEMAEMS  RMEBE E/FRHE
EEgMENTBRETHRERFINEEERXLE
SRR KA A L BRI A E
B JE AR 9 R R IR 2 O 8 TRURIME 1T 0 B (E AT A o B A
AATEREMBEINERSHNREFEFENE
BRI W2 EEE ML EREFETED
REABE RAT2ERBIESE=-HEH
MEREEEENEH ERENRERBEE LA
HEENEL SN

. We assessed the competence, capabilities and

objectivity of the independent external valuers.
. B AR S T OB SNE fib (B AP B0 B (E A
Bt

CREARE
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Key Audit Matter
MEETEE

B M % B R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEANAEERAREFEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

(Continued)

ME-BERRE ERAEEEURFIADEEZANRZHER MG ()

We focused on this area because significant judgements
are involved in management’s impairment assessment in
the determination of the recoverable amounts of the
PP&E, ROU and prepayments for non-current assets which
are based on various key assumptions and estimates such
as sales growth rates and discount rates in the value in
use calculations and other assumptions and data inputs
such as comparable transactions and market values in
determining the fair values.

BAEINE  2RREEERREN G REXAE -
BT HREEME BELSRE EREEEARIFERD
BEZBNFOTKEEELENZRME KRR LYK
RIBEN MG INEERRIRAECAEENKR
ERAMEBRARGASE JIMAELERNRZ UK
MHEEEAEEEAREE-

o We also performed sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions underlying management’s impairment
assessments based on the cash flow forecasts by
considering the variables and fluctuations in those
underlying key assumptions by checking to
available market information and other supporting
evidence.

. BMTERERAMBRBRNEHEI LD HE
BEBBARRRSRETEETRET HOVIEEE
RERETHRESIN  RHEETHEH R
g e

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered
the key assumptions and estimates used by management

in assessing the impairment of PP&E, ROU and

prepayments for non-current assets to be supportable.
RIEALFETHREEF  RMRREEZEANFHWE -
WELE&EE ERAREEARFRBDEEZ BN KNE
B ET A -
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Key Audit Matter
RERTEE

Provision for inventory obsolescence

REFEZRHE

Refer to Notes 2.10 and 19 to the consolidated financial

statements

ERRE AU FERENF2.10%19

At 31st March, 2022, the Group held inventories of
approximately HK$115,330,000,
inventory obsolescence of approximately HK$29,216,000.

net of provision of

Among these inventories, there are raw materials of
approximately HK$32,774,000, work in progress of
approximately HK$25,863,000, and finished goods of
HK$56,693,000. Inventories are stated at lower of cost or
net realisable value.

D2 -F=ZA=+—-H EEEHEFEND
115,330,000/ 7T » MBREREFE 2 R B #4929,216,000
AL EZEFET  BEMB 4 R32,774,0008 7T - &
i 49 /25,863,00078 7T - K AR &8 49 /556,693,000 T ©
TFE AR A B IR FHED R -

Management assessed the provision for inventory
obsolescence periodically based on consideration of
potential obsolescence and slow moving of raw materials
and work in progress, and the estimated selling price less
cost to sell of its finished goods. The identification of
inventory obsolescence and determination of estimated
selling price less cost to sell require the use of significant
judgements by considering various factors, including their
nature, ageing, and the latest selling price.

EEEREHEERERAHNEMHARERR UK

HERGNGAEERBERTNZSE  EHFHRE
FEMREE BHIREFERBEEGAFEBRLEKRA
BERERABYEEZHEAEZ BRAEE Bk k&
HEE -

B M % B R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEANAEERAREFEE

We performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

HPETTATREFARRERENFER

o We obtained an understanding of management’s

internal control and assessment process of

management’s estimation of provision for
impairment of inventories and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
risk factors such as

inherent complexity,

subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to

management bias or fraud.

. THELEMRASEERELEMGTFERER
BOFGHBRE UEBBEEMAZ TREEREER
HEfEBRBREZNKFNEMEE T8 &
HLHERERAXFENGFZMN) FHERER
Rt & & 4 L B

o We understood, evaluated and tested the key
controls on management’s periodic assessment of
provision for inventory obsolescence across the
Group.

. BMTH FERAKAETEEEHFE EEER
EFaREnmREs -

. We tested, on a sample basis, the inventory aging
by comparing the inventory records with the

underlying documents.

. BMEBLBFELEEBAXT  mEIRFE

e A
HET °
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Key Audit Matter
HMEESAEE

Provision for inventory obsolescence (Continued)

REFE ZBE (H)

We regarded this as a key audit matter as provision for
inventory obsolescence required management judgements
on estimates of future demands and ageing of the
inventories.

BEMREAEREMAER EHXNREFERBREE
EEHFEMNRRE R RER G F L AE -

B M % B R

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RMNETNAEEHERERTER

o We reviewed the subsequent utilisation of various
raw materials and work in progress, on a sample
basis, to assess the appropriateness of the associated
provision made, if any.

. BMHERESERM MR ERREROERIE
Ao ARHERERERE (B EERE -

o We reviewed the subsequent sales of finished
goods. We tested, on a sample basis, the
subsequent selling price of different products and
compared with the average unit costs.

. BMESRRMEENHEE  RABENATRE
A EL 1R 0 (B 30 S 1 B AL A AN PR LB

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered
the estimates made by management in assessing the

provision for inventory obsolescence to be supported by

available evidence.
BEALMETHREF RMRBAEEERT B E K
HHTERBERAMELENGETETSRELF-
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in Starlite Holdings Limited 2022 Annual
Report (the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

“annual report”) (but does not include the

thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, and the environmental, social and governance report (the
“ESG Report”) for the year ended 31st March, 2022, which is

expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s
report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the ESG Report for the year ended 31st March,
2022, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit

Committee and take appropriate action considering our legal

rights and obligations.
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Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee

for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

J Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s

report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

J Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2022
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74 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT SekFEE
For the year ended 31st March, 2022 BE-_ZT-_—_F=A=+—BIFE
Year ended 31st March,
BE=A=+t—HLEE
2022 2021
—ZF=-= —EF - —
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FH&xT FHET
Revenue N 5 1,048,700 1,057,477
Cost of sales 8 55 PR AR 7 (950,020) (888,364)
Gross profit EF 98,680 169,113
Other income and gains/(losses) HAh A Rz (B518)

— net — FE 6 468,781 (65,852)
Selling and distribution costs HENRSHER 7 (65,465) (66,055)
General and administrative expenses — R EITHAX 7 (131,031) (137,476)
(Impairment losses)/reversal of SREECRERIE), RE

impairment losses on financial assets &5 18 [ #5 (3,544) 1,557
Operating profit/(loss) KR (F1E) 367,421 (98,713)
Finance income A WA 465 16,072
Finance costs =YD (17,545) (10,623)
Finance (costs)/income — net BE (B A) WA — 558 8 (17,080) 5,449
Profit/(loss) before income tax BREADEF, (BE) 350,341 (93,264)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisRm e, (FX) 11 7,132 (5,261)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to KRB HEE ANEMGARF

the owners of the Company AL (EE) 357,473 (98,525)
Earnings/(losses) per share attributable to  RF AR QA RI¥EHE A FEML 5K

the owners of the Company for the BF (F1E) (BRI

year (expressed in HK cents per share) /&L £71) 12

— Basic — &KX 68.10 (18.76)

— Diluted — BE 68.10 (18.76)
The above consolidated income statement should be read in L #l4R& WEH R ELEFEWN 2 M5t —OF40E] -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME #ZEZHUWHE R 75
For the year ended 31st March, 2022 HE-_Z-_—_F=A=+—HBILEE

Year ended 31st March,

ZA=+—-BLEE
2022 2021
—g=-= —E=-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAET
Profit/(loss) for the year EEZRER(FE) 357,473 (98,525)
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hittz2EkE (BB :
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss AREEH DR B HE
Currency translation differences ERER 19,895 34,569
ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss T E8E#H HHEF Ez 698 H
(Decrease)/increase in fair value of financial assets (ZAREBEFAEMEE
at fair value through other comprehensive income  WHEMELE@EEZ AR
BECRD) L (75) 92
Other comprehensive income for the year, AEHM 2T
net of tax TRE S 19,820 34,661
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ARREEAEGAFRE
attributable to the owners of the Company Wz (8B 377,293 (63,864)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income — Filt4R& % [ U5 &5 55 8 B2 B8 BT 2 B 5 — OF 4858 -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.




76 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION GREMBRREK
As at 31st March, 2022 N-ZZEBE-—_F=A=+—H
As at 31st March,
R=A=+-—-H
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTHET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BE REE 14 361,213 333,095
Investment properties REME 15 17,463 —
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 25,735 33,337
Prepayments for non-current assets EMBEE RN 20 9,130 48,737
Deferred income tax assets BEFRSMEE 24 11,169 1,769
Financial assets at fair value through RAREBEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income WM EmEE 18 1,435 1,510
Financial assets at fair value through BRAREBEFTAERDN
profit or loss TREE 18 8,571 8,332
434,716 426,780
Current assets RBEE
Inventories T8 19 115,330 104,139
Trade and bill receivables BESRKERRERE 20 172,461 179,671
Prepayments and deposits AR RIERES 20 28,743 29,672
Tax recoverable AT Yl AT 1S B AR 2,602 3,992
Bank deposits with maturity over 3 MR ARTEEA
months from date of deposits =8 AR B2 RITER 21 202 201
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeFE 21 285,422 275,047
604,760 592,722
Total assets HEE 1,039,476 1,019,502
EQUITY i
Equity attributable to the owners of the AT EE AEEER
Company
Share capital [N 26 51,864 52,514
Reserves i) 28 618,781 300,705
Total equity EREE 670,645 353,219




N

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31st March, 2022

e MBRR R

R-_E-_—_#=ZA=+—H

As at 31st March,

R=A=+-—8
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHER FET
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities *kRBEME
Amount due to a purchaser of a ER—MEBRAER®
subsidiary oA 25 — 154,065
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 1,371 1,885
Deferred income tax liabilities BEEMSHEaE 24 890 1,688
2,261 157,638
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and bill payables B HRNERRERE 23 99,734 136,842
Other payables and accruals Hih e ket B E 23 89,519 102,802
Contract liabilities AHaE 5 4,851 4,904
Current income tax liabilities BERFT SR B & 26,449 30,422
Borrowings & 22 141,357 158,728
Amount due to a purchaser of a R —MERARE T
subsidiary IR 25 — 69,692
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 4,660 5,255
366,570 508,645
Total liabilities BEAHE 368,831 666,283
Total equity and liabilities ExREEHEE 1,039,476 1,019,502
The consolidated financial statements on pages 74 to 200 were  $£74H Z200E Z ARG BHRENR T _F KA

approved by the Board of Directors on 29th June, 2022 and

were signed on its behalf.

Lam Kwong Yu
K
Chairman

T

The above consolidated statement of financial position should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

TThAEEESRHERRREE -

Poon Kwok Ching
BB
Director

EE

b AR B F IR0 3R e SR Y 2 Y R — G ARG o

77




78

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March, 2022

Balances at 31st March, 2020 and
at 1st April, 2020

Comprehensive loss

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Increase in fair value of financial assets
at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive income,

net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners
Dividends paid

Balance at 31st March, 2021

R-ZB-FF
=Z=A=t+—-HERK
—ZE-ZF
mA— A&k

2EER
REBR

Hit 2 HE k=
mOREEFARM
2EEHEHNEHE
EZRREEIE M
ERER

H At 2 W a8 AR
— BRB&

RNE2HEBAHE

HENRERAZ
BEAXS
2B E

R=B=—F
=BA=+-—H#&8

REEBESER

HE_ T -_—_H#-A=+—HLtHFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AREEEAEML
Reserves
Share capital (Note 28) Total
#
B A< (K &£28) Mat
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT THET TET
52,514 396,077 448,591
— (98,525) (98,525)
— 92 92
— 34,569 34,569
— 34,661 34,661
— (63,864) (63,864)
— (31,508) (31,508)
52,514 300,705 353,219




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31st March, 2022

Balances at 31st March, 2021 and
at 1st April, 2021

Comprehensive income

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Decrease in fair value of financial assets

at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive income,

net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the

year

Transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners
Dividends paid

Share repurchases

Balance at 31st March, 2022

R=ZB=—F
=ZB=+—-HBRK
—EBE-—F
mA— B &8k

EJERLE:
A 5 A

Hitp2m ks (B8)

mOREEFARM
2EEHEHNEHE
EZRAEERD
ERER

H At 2 W a8 AR
— BRB&

ANE2E R AAHE

HENREREAZ
BEAXS

B S
B B [

R-—E—-=
=R=+—B#&&

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

REREEHR
HE_T-_—_#-A=+—HLtHFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARER AR
Reserves

Share capital (Note 28) Total
& &

B A< (K &£28) Mat
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THET TR
52,514 300,705 353,219

— 357,473 357,473
— (75) (75)
— 19,895 19,895
— 19,820 19,820
— 377,293 377,293
— (57,765) (57,765)

(650) (1,452) (2,102)
51,864 618,781 670,645

bt a RS E B R E EBEN 2 MR — O AR -
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80 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #ZEHERE R
For the year ended 31st March, 2022 BE-_ZT-_—_F=A=+—BIFE
Year ended 31st March,
ZA=+—-HLEFEE
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
s FTHET FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETH2RERE
Cash used in operations REEBFAZRE® 29(a) (62,705) (76,401)
Interest paid 21 FE 9,377) (3,948)
Hong Kong profits tax paid ENEENSR ®) (3,142)
Overseas income tax paid EfEINTISH (40,416) (9,260)
Hong Kong profits tax refunded EREEBNEN 1,742 21
Net cash used in operating activities KEEEMAZH S FE (110,764) (92,730)
Cash flows from investing activities REFBHz2HERE
Payments of property, plant and M BB N&R B2 R
equipment (107,864) (131,339)
Proceeds from disposals of property, EEWE HELEREZ
plant and equipment A5 A 29(b) 5,008 19,124
Proceeds from disposals of right-of-use EEEREEE ZME
assets WA 29(c) 9,726 —
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B8 — M B A A 30 (15,647) —
Proceeds from disposal of financial HERARBEFAER
assets at fair value through profit or B € B E B R FTIS IRA
loss — 5,852
Proceeds from the disposal of a HE—MBARZHME
subsidiary WA 299,368 —
Increase in short-term bank deposits MFE XA RGEBR
with maturity over 3 months from =1{E AR H 2 5 EIR T
the date of deposits T m ) —
Interest received B F B 465 1,711
Net cash generated from/(used in) BREEHELE(FTA)Z
investing activities RE 58 191,055 (104,652)
Cash flows from financing activities MEITH2RERE
Proceeds from bank loans FIZRITER 88,285 147,600
Repayments of bank loans BERTER (108,269) (114,742)
Principal elements of lease payments HENRAE M (5,556) (5,173)
Interest elements of lease payments HENRF B M (224) (258)
Dividends paid 28 (57,765) (31,508)
Share repurchases R 17 B B (2,102) —
Amount due to a purchaser of a R —MEBRRIEFH
subsidiary A — 208,302
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEES (FTA)EEZ
financing activities Be 58 (85,631) 204,221




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31st March, 2022

GEBRERER
HE_T-_—_#-A=+—HLtHFE

Year ended 31st March,

ZA=+-BLEE
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 55 FET FET
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeRBESEEZFE
cash equivalents G 4) ,/ #% tn (5,340) 6,839
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUOZRERAELEE
beginning of the year 275,047 232,199
Exchange gains on cash and cash RekBeFEzEL KR
equivalents 15,715 36,009
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of FHRZHERBELEZE
the year 21 285,422 275,047
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read — _Eill4R& B &7 2 7 FE B EE N 2 M 2 — OF 4059 -

in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including
environmentally friendly paper products. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to the

“Group”.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on
3rd November, 1992, as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is 3/F, Perfect
Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares have been
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since
1993.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss and financial asset at fair value

through other comprehensive income which are

carried at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRS requires the use of
certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in

Note 4.

(@  Amendments to existing standards adopted
by the Group
The following amendments to existing
standards have been adopted by the Group
for the first time for the financial vyear
beginning 1st April, 2021:

Standards Subject of amendment

Amendments to Interest Rate Benchmark
HKAS 39, HKFRS 4,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 16

Reform — Phase 2

Covid-19- Related Rent
Concessions and
Covid-19- Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30th June, 2021

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

The Group has adopted these amendments
of standards and the adoption of these
amendments of standards do not have
significant

impacts on the Group’s

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

A M BRRME

Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE
(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 WEEEHE)

b) Interpretation and amendments to existing b)
standards have been issued but not effective
and have not been early adopted by the

Group

A number of interpretation and amendments

ZEET

BREMBEDGAEXREAEBRBAE
EERN R ERAEEER

ZHEREBERBRAENZEBITN

to existing standards have been issued but T_—FHNA-HEFEHHBE

not effective for annual periods beginning on

1st April, 2021 and have not been applied

in preparing these consolidated financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB EREEREIR 2B
Amendments to HKAS 16
BEEGEAEI6E 2 EF]
Amendments to HKAS 37

ER G RAE7RZERT
Annual Improvements Project
FEYERE

Revised Accounting Guideline 5

i85l £55% (KB
Amendments to HKAS 1

BB EREIFEZERT

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2

BEAEGHEABEIR 2BITR
ERMBRERNEBREE2R

Update Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

BLRERZ it

Proceeds before Intended Use

ERT BB AEHA

Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a

Contract
BREEAH — BITEHZRA
Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle
2018-2020% # F 2 2UE
Merger Accounting for Common Control

Combinations
HRZEFE Mz A EHE
Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current
MEBAERBDEEDE

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

BHBERE

BMHEEMRER ERFRILE
REMBHMRERBER -

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
FEHBEMEBSN
Bl &

1st January, 2022

—E--%—H—H
1st January, 2022
=% —A—H

1st January, 2022

—E-=%—H—H
1st January, 2022
—E-—F—HF—H

Ist January, 2022

—T--f—A—H
1st January, 2023

—E-=%—H—H
Ist January, 2023

—EZ=%—A—H




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R & Bi 75 3R 3% Fff &% 85

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE

(Continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 WEEEHE)
(b)  Interpretation and amendments to existing b)) EEMBEDGREMREIEFBLRE
standards have been issued but not effective RBEERWZZEREEFTEEH
and have not been early adopted by the Z15ET (48)

Group (Continued)

Effective for annual

periods beginning

on or after
FEHBRES
D#EXR
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1st January, 2023
EREGHERESR 2B BEREHNESR —T-=f—-H—H
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to Assets and 1st January, 2023
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction
BRGERE12R 2B BE-SHMELCEERAEAH —T-=%—-R—H
ZAEEFTSH
HKFRS 17 and its amendments Insurance Contracts 1st January, 2023
ERUBREEYE7EREET REA L —Z-=%-H—H
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Classification by the Borrower of a Term 1st January, 2023
Presentation of Financial Statements Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause
BHREBEHRQ020) MBREZHR ERAHBEREREEGRR2EHER —FT-=F—-A—8
2R
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
Investor and Its Associate or Joint
Venture
BRMBREEIEI05 R REERABENAAAELEZEN RHERERE
BE Gt ERF28 2 B85 BAEHEILS
The Group will adopt the interpretation and FEBEGERZERBERRAE
amendments to existing standards when they Al ZBITERBRMN  REEE
become effective. The Group has already PG AP R a2 i IR B 24
commenced an assessment of the related Az EENABTYE EH
impact of adopting the above interpretation BreHAEENERa B HRE
and amendments to existing standards, none ERERTE -

of which is expected to have a significant

effect on the consolidated financial

statements of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.2 Principles of consolidation
2.2.1 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including
structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control

ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is
used to account for business combinations
by the Group (see Note 2.2.2).

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately
in the consolidated income statement,
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes

in equity and consolidated statement of

financial position respectively.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE

used to account for all business
combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition

of a subsidiary comprises the:

. fair values of the assets transferred

o liabilities incurred to the former

owners of the acquired business

o equity interests issued by the Group

J fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement, and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity
interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are, with limited
exceptions, measured initially at their fair

values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s
net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

(Continued)
2.2 Principles of consolidation (Continued) 22 HEWERE (8
2.2.2 Business combinations 222 ¥EBEG
The acquisition method of accounting is RAKRBERMBEBAIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (Continued)
2.2.2 Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the
. consideration transferred,

J amount of any non-controlling interest

in the acquired entity, and

. acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquired

entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
those amounts are less than the fair value of
the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised
directly in the consolidated income statement
as a bargain purchase. Contingent
consideration is classified either as equity or
a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently
remeasured to fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in the consolidated income

statement.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at
the acquisition date. Any gains or losses
arising from such remeasurement are

recognised in the consolidated income

statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EENBERBE &)
(Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (Continued)
2.2.3 Change in ownership interests

2.2 #HMAWER (ME)
223 FEREZEE

The Group treats transactions with
non-controlling interests that do not result in
a loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. A change in ownership
interest results in an adjustment between the
carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests to reflect their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests and
any consideration paid or received is
recognised in a separate reserve within
equity attributable to owners of the

Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of
a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity
is remeasured to its fair value with the
change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. This fair value becomes the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to the consolidated income

statement or transferred to another category

of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (Continued)
2.2.4 Separate financial statements
In the Company’s statement of financial
position, investments in subsidiaries are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost
also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis

of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the
dividend exceeds the total comprehensive
income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying
amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying
amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets

including goodwill.

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the

Chairman/Chief Executive Officer who makes

strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

24

Foreign currency translation

(@)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS$,
which is the Company’s functional and the

Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are generally recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “other income and gains/

(losses) — net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary

financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets,
such as equities classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive

income, are included in other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated

into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial

position;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of

the transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments,
are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated

exchange differences are reclassified to profit

or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sales.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(©)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest
in a foreign operation), or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, all of the
currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to consolidated income

statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and

are not recognised in consolidated income

statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices.
Property, plant and equipment excluding
construction in progress, are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to

the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in

which they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

—  Buildings 25 to 50 years
—  Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
—  Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years

—  Motor vehicles 5 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period. An asset’s carrying
amount is written down immediately to its

recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount
(Note 2.7).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Construction in progress comprises buildings on
which construction work has not been completed
and plant and machinery for which installation
work has not been completed. It is carried at cost
which

expenditures and other direct costs less any

includes construction and installation
impairment losses. On completion, construction in
progress is transferred to the appropriate categories
of property, plant and equipment at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until it is

completed and available for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within “other income and
gains/(losses) — net” in the consolidated income

statement.

Investment properties

Investment properties, residential

principally
buildings, are held for long-term rental yields and
are not occupied by the Group. Investment
properties are initially measured at cost, including
related transaction costs and where applicable
After

investment properties are carried at carrying values,

borrowing costs. initial recognition,
representing cost less depreciation and provision

for impairment loss, if any.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the assets.
Subsequent expenditure is charged to the carrying
amount of the asset only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the
property will flow to the Group and the cost of the
property can be measured reliably. All other repair
and maintenance costs are expensed in the

consolidated income statement during the financial

period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.6

2.7

Investment properties (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to write off the cost over the estimated
useful lives to their estimated residual values.
Estimated useful lives of land and buildings are

from 25 to 50 years.

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of
financial position date. The carrying amounts of
assets are reviewed regularly. An investment
property’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated

recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows
(“cash-generating units”). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are

reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at

each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8

Financial assets

(i)

(i)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in

the following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at
fair value (either through other
comprehensive income (“OCl”) or

through profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised

cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or
loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this
will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for

managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date
on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Financial assets are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has

transferred substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are

expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the assets. There are two
categorise into which the Group classifies its

debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Asset that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and
interests are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in “other
income and gains/(losses) — net”,
together with foreign exchange gains

and losses.

J FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI
are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other income and
gains/(losses) — net in the period in

which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the
Dividends

investments continue to be recognised in

investment. from which
profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s
established.

right to receive payments is

Changes in the fair value of financial assets
at FVPL are recognised in other income and
gains/(losses) — net in the consolidated
income statement as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on
equity investments measured at FVOCI are
not reported separately from other changes

in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking
basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost and FVPL. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been

a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be

recognised from initial recognition of the

receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

29

2.10

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
liability

simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must

realise the asset and settle the
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of

the Company or the counterparty.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. The cost of finished
goods and work

in progress comprises raw

materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal
operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable

variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. They are generally due
for settlement within 1 year and therefore are all

classified as current.

Trade receivable are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional

unless they contain significant financing
components, when they recognised at fair value.
The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate. See Note 2.8
information

for further about the Group’s

accounting for trade receivables and for a

description of the Group’s impairment policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.12

2.13

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less, and bank overdrafts. In the
consolidated statement of financial position, bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current

liabilities.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
the consolidated income statement over the period
of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facilities will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
To the

extent there is no evidence that it is probable that

is deferred until the draw-down occurs.

some or all of the facilities will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to

defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve

months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.13

2.14

2.15

Borrowings and borrowing costs (Continued)
General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. All other borrowing costs are charged to
the consolidated income statement in the period in

which they are incurred.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are

presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using

the effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this
in other

case, the tax is also recognised

comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated
on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the date of statement
of financial position in the countries where
the Company and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax
returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected

to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However,
the deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if it arises from initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the date of statement of financial position
and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against

which the temporary differences can be

utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, except for
deferred income tax liability where the
timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
on deductible temporary differences arising
from investments in subsidiaries only to the
extent that it is probable the temporary
difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can
be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income tax assets and liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an
intention to settle the balances on a net

basis.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either

to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.16 Ordinary share capital
Share are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue

of new shares or options are shown in equity as a

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Employee benefits

(@)

b

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the date of
statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the

time of leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A
defined contribution plan is a retirement
benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity.
The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contribution for
post-retirement benefits beyond these fixed

contributions.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities,
insurance companies or trustee-administered
funds. The Group pays contributions on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The contributions are recognised as
employment benefit expense when they are
due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or

a reduction in the future payments is

available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.17 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services
received in exchange for the grant of share
options is recognised as an expense over the
vesting periods of the options granted. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted excluding the
impact of any non-market vesting conditions.
Non-market vesting conditions are included
in the assumption that the number of option
that are expected to become exercisable. At
the end of each reporting date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates,
if any, in the consolidated income statement,

with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share

premium when the options are exercised.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an
expense for bonuses and profit-sharing,
based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a
provision where contractually obliged or

where there is a past practice that has

created a constructive obligation.

A M BRRME

2 ERSHEEMSEGE

217 EI®F (&)

(c)

(d)

URGBERZ#HE

RBEPTERBRM 2 R MR
HEREZ AABERNREER
EOEBHANERASIL -REB
BEIAG T2 RET2EM
EHBEREzZAREEEE B
PEIEEEIET IS EE TR
TS ATREEEEER
B AT TR AT TR M 2R B
MEERF REBEHREERA
AEEEETEHBERATEER
Bmfat UNERa KaRER
BRIRGBEEELEZZE(WE)R
HfEmFHARERE -

EEREESTEE  TARAR
R EM AR PR AR BEAR
A (EE) BB fE -

BRDZERIEA S

AN B R AR D B AR 3 1R R
508 MR IE 2 A G F A Mg
MNAEERARBERAX-EH
EHETIREENSIBEER
EH - AEESEREE -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 4R & Bi 75 3R 3% Fff &% 107

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE
(Continued)
2.18 Provisions

2.18 &

2.19

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.

Revenue and income recognition

(@)  Sales of goods
Revenue is recognised when control of the
products has been transferred to customers,
being when the products are delivered in
accordance to the delivery/shipping terms, or
when the risk of obsolescence and loss have
been transferred to the customers, or the

Group has objective evidence that all criteria

for goods delivery have been satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.19 Revenue and income recognition (Continued)

@)

(b)

(©)

Sales of goods (Continued)
Customers obtain control when the goods
are delivered to agreed destination. Revenue

is recognised at that point in time.

A receivable is recognised when the goods
are delivered as this is the point in time that
the consideration is unconditional because
only the passage of time is required before

the payment is due.

Interest income

Interest income on financial assets at
amortised cost calculated using the effective
interest method is recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to
the net carrying amount of the financial

assets (after deduction of the loss allowance).

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the

right to receive payment is established.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies 2 EEEBRESEE
(Continued)

2.20 Leases 2,20 HE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the

leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the

following lease payments:

J fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives

receivable; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably
certain extension options are also included in the

measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, which is generally the case
for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic

environment with similar terms, security and

conditions.

HERMEEEAHASEERE A#®
RAREREEERMEENER -

HEEEMNEERABBVNSARBEESE
AE-HEAERETIEENRNF
WME

. BEENF(BREE EQEEN
) OREEMEEEESRSE &

. HEMRRAEETEZER
B REEENEIR -

RiAEREEEREEINNEEN
RN ARBIHEZA-

HENREAEEPR S HOMERETTE
B-MELZEFIREZNE(BAEE
HEM— KRB - Al A AR
EERFE - BE R AEAERUEH
REPIZEOUER - B/ RIEEAE
GHEEHEEEAFBLUEENEEM
FESMBALNRFE -




110

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.20 Leases (Continued)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the

Group:

J where possible, uses recent third-party
financing received by the individual lessee
as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third

party financing was received;

J uses a build-up approach that starts with a
risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk
for leases held by the Group, which does

not have recent third party financing; and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g.

term, country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the

remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising

the following:

o the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability;

J any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease
incentives received;

J any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)
2.20 Leases (Continued)

2.21

Right-of-use assets including land use rights and
leasehold land are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term
on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase option, the
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying
asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of
equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small

items of office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the
Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a

straight-line basis over the lease term.

Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to the Company’s
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the

Group’s consolidated financial statements and the

Company’s financial statements in the period in
the dividends

Company’s shareholders.

which are approved by the
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2

Summary of significant accounting policies
(Continued)

2.22

2.23

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and the Group will

comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred

and recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match them
with intended to

the costs that they are

compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred

consolidated income statement on a straight-line

revenue and are credited to the
basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

Contract liability

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received a consideration (or an amount
of consideration that is due) from the customer. If
a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer,
a contract liability is recognised when the payment
is made or the payment is due (whichever is
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as

revenue when the Group performs under the

contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
foreign exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk,
liquidity risk and price risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried
out by senior management of the Group under
policies approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company.

@)  Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Subsidiaries of the Company operate
in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”), Hong Kong, Singapore and
Malaysia with most transactions
denominated in either Renminbi
(“RMB”), Hong Kong dollars, Singapore
dollars (“SGD”), United States dollars
(“US$”), Euro dollars (“EUR”) or
Malaysian ringgit (“RM”). The Group
is exposed to foreign exchange risk
primarily through sales and purchases
transactions that are denominated in a
currency other than the functional
currency of the relevant subsidiary.
The Group considers its foreign
currency exposure mainly arises from
the exposure of RMB, SGD, RM and
EUR against Hong Kong dollars and/or
US$. As Hong Kong dollars is pegged
to US$, the Group believes the
exposure of transactions denominated
in US$ which are entered by group
companies with a functional currency

of Hong Kong dollars to be

insignificant.

e M BRRME

3 HERKBER
3.1 BBEABREZX

REBZITEERASIZETERR
mERR(BENERR - A1 EEF
XERBREBAeRENERR) FER
R omBECEBERERER - AEH
CREBREREBETRETNEENZ
SRME YRR BEHAEEGHRE
RERZEETNEERERE - AR
ERERASENSEEEABIRARA
EESRENBURHET -

@ THEE
(i) SMEEE
RRARZHEBEARRHEH
(TFRE]) - & #ngE &
BREAGEEER K H
RHEFTEUARBIAR
Be]) BT #nsE T (57
ml) Exd(Ex)) -
BT ([BLT)) st /5 2R # an
T(ERAEIT))EHE -
AN 5 f AR 2 ONE BB
TEZREEBENBARZ
BERRBRIUNESE
BN BEEE K&
ERAEERKREZRE
AR 5T - Bk
TTRBRTHEBETR,S
HETHERE - BARB T
HETTHN KEBRG
INETTIEANEEE B M E
B AR AETTER
RPEERZHER L TE

o

>|_

113




114

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure
to foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
The Group also regularly reviews the
portfolio of local and international
customers and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as
to minimise the Group’s exposure to

foreign exchange risk.

As at 31st March, 2022, approximately
96% (2021: 99%) of the Group’s
borrowings were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars and RMB while the
remaining were mainly denominated
in US$ (2021: US$). The Group’s
borrowings are mainly in Hong Kong
dollars or RMB for operation in the
PRC. At present, the management does
not expect that there will be any
significant foreign exchange risk
associated with the Group’s
borrowings and the Group did not use
any financial instruments to hedge its

foreign exchange risk arising from the

Group’s borrowings during the year.

A M BRRME

3

B3 E ke EE ()

3.1

Bt 7% R B B & (8
(@ HEERE)
(i) SMNERRE(E)
AEEBBEEIEHA
RXMKFERAIMER

AR ZER - KNEHE
TR E N R 2 5 E R b %
BHEBEAEINBER -
AEETRERAAMR
BREFPHNAEASG MRS
BzE® Ui EEBIH
EE ol e P = B AR

RZEZZF=ZRAR=+—
A &% E8H9%6%2 & &
(ZZ2Z—F 1 99%) 5 K
BLIREARBHE mMHE
BREEUET(ZTZ—
FoEL)E - AEEE
ZRIUBTHARE R
BZEEEATBELKD
EEMAY BRI BEEERE
HEANTEAAEEEE
Bz TR EKINERR
BRAEETEFERITMNE
MIAHMEREAEH
BEZIIERR -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2022, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2021:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars with
all other variables held constant,
pre-tax profit (2021: pre-tax loss) for
the year would have been
approximately HK$120,000 higher/
lower (2021: HK$3,079,000 lower/
higher), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of
cash and bank balances, trade
receivables, trade payables and
borrowings denominated in
non-functional currency of the relevant

group companies.

At 31st March, 2022, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2021:
US$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax profit

5%) against other
(2021: pre-tax loss) for the year would
have been approximately HK$739,000
higher/lower (2021: HK$4,778,000
lower/higher), mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of cash and bank balances,
trade receivables, trade payables and
borrowings denominated in
non-functional currency of the relevant

group companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2022, if SGD had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2021:
Us$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax profit

5%) against other
(2021: pre-tax loss) for the year would
have been approximately HK$703,000
higher/lower (2021: HK$1,165,000
lower/higher), mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on
translation of cash and bank balances,
trade receivables, and trade payables
denominated in non-functional
currency of the relevant group

companies.

At 31st March, 2022, if RM had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2021:
US$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax profit

5%) against other
(2021: pre-tax loss) for the year would

have been approximately
HK$1,096,000 higher/lower (2021:
HK$498,000 lower/higher), mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
payables denominated in
non-functional currency of the relevant

group companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2022, if EUR had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2021:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars with
all other variables held constant,

pre-tax profit (2021: pre-tax loss) for

the year would have been
approximately HK$1,858,000 higher/
lower (2021: HK$678,000 lower/

higher), mainly as a result of foreign
exchange gains/losses on translation of
cash and bank balances and trade
receivables denominated in
non-functional currency of the relevant

group companies.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

As the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the
cash and bank balances, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes

in market interest rates.

As at 31st March, 2022, the Group’s
interest rate risk mainly arises from
bank borrowings. The Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong

Interbank Offered Rate arising from

the Group’s bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk (Continued)

As at 31st March, 2021, the Group’s
interest rate risk mainly arises from
bank borrowings and non-current
amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary. The Group is exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank borrowings. The
Group's cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
bank

arising from the Group’s

borrowings.

The Group’s non-current amount due
to a purchaser of a subsidiary is
non-interest bearing and exposes the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group’s fair value interest rate
risk is concentrated on the fluctuation
of the RMB benchmark loan interest
rates of financial institutions arising
from the non-current amount due to a

purchaser of a subsidiary.

At 31st March, 2022, if interest rates
on bank borrowings and non-current
amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary had been 10 basis points
higher/lower with all other variables
held constant, post-tax profit (2021:
post-tax loss) for the year would have
been HK$113,000 lower/higher (2021:
HK$22,000 higher/lower), mainly as a
result of higher/lower interest expense
on floating rate bank borrowings and
off-set by higher/lower net imputed
interest income on non-current amount

due to a purchaser of a subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the managements of the individual business
units and monitored by the Group’s
Most

renowned.

management on a group basis.
customers are sizable and
Management assesses the credit quality of
smaller customers by considering their
financial position, past experience therewith
and other relevant factors. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. Debtors
with overdue balances will be requested to

settle their outstanding balances.

At 31st March, 2022, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 31% (2021:
27%) of the total trade receivable were due
from the Group’s five largest customers and
10% (2021: 7%) of the total trade receivable

were due from the Group’s largest customer.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss

allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on

shared credit risk characteristics and the

days past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1
b

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
The Group categorises its trade receivables,
based on the nature and geographical areas
of the business, shared credit risk
characteristics and aging profile collectively.
The expected credit loss rates are determined
based on past repayment history and
The

expected credit loss rates are adjusted to

historical credit losses experience.

reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables.
On that basis, the loss allowance as at
31st March, 2022 and 2021 was determined

as follows for trade receivables:

31st March, 2022
“BE--EZH=+-H

Gross carrying amount aEmaE
— trade receivables — B HRYRR
Loss allowance EEEE
Expected loss rate BHEEX
31st March, 2021
ZZ2--F=A=+-H
Gross carrying amount BREE
— trade receivables — B RUEH
Loss allowance EEAE
Expected loss rate HHERE

Movements in loss allowance for trade

receivables are shown in Note 20.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a

repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables is
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit/(loss). Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are

credited against the same line item.

The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
PRC.

Management considers that the credit risk

Singapore, Malaysia and the

associated with deposits with banks and

financial institutes is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(©)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities. Due to
the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s management aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group's liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
with maturity over 3 months from date of
deposits (Note 21) and undrawn borrowing
facilities (Note 33) on the basis of expected

cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the date of statement of
financial position date to contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows. Balances due within twelve months

equal their carrying balances, as the impact

of discounting is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Specifically, for the bank borrowings which

contain a repayment on demand clause

which can be exercised at the banks’ sole

discretion, the analysis shows the cash

outflow based on the earliest period in

which the Group can be required to pay,

that is if the lenders were to invoke their

unconditional rights to call the loans with

immediate effect.

Group
At 31st March, 2022

Borrowings

Trade and bill payables
Lease liabilities

Other payables

Interest payable

At 31st March, 2021

Borrowings

Amount due to a
purchaser of a
subsidiary

Trade and bill payables

Lease liabilities

Other payables

Interest payable

£8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)  Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from its investments in equity securities
which are classified on the consolidated
statement of financial position as financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income. To manage its price
risk arising from investments in equity
securities, the Group diversifies its

investment portfolio.

The equity securities invested by the Group
are publicly traded on The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

At 31st March, 2022, if the prices of the
equity securities invested by the Group had
been lower/higher by 10%, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s equity
would have been approximately HK$144,000
(2021: HK$151,000) lower/higher.

The fair value of the unlisted insurance
policies invested by the Group will fluctuate,
subject to the returns which are at the
discretion of the issuer of the insurance
policies. Such policies have a minimum
guaranteed returns during the holding period.
Management is of the opinion that the price
risk arising from these policies is
insignificant.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, repurchase the Company’s
shares, return capital to shareholders, issue new

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBRBREEGE
3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 32 EBEXEBEREE
The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net REBAFEEHERELERAE
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt R ZUELNEBEFERARKEET
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as H BEFHEANARE(BERGEY
total borrowings (including current and non-current BRARFRBEORDLIFERDEE
borrowings, amount due to a purchaser of a T — B AT E 7 ERIA - ENER
subsidiary, bill payables and lease liabilities as k#HEa@E)RReRBEEE - RAE
shown in the consolidated statement of financial BRFERNEETBRARP R
position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total K] -
capital is calculated as “equity”, as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
The Group’s strategy was to maintain a net gearing REBZERBERFEBLEIRN
ratio less than 75%. The Group was in net cash 75% c AEBER T _F=Z[F=+—
position as at 31st March, 2022 and net debt ARFREMARR-_ZEZ-_—F=H
position as at 31st March, 2021. The net gearing =t+t—HRFEABERRN -R-_T -
ratios at 31st March, 2022 and 2021 were as —E-—F=ZA=+—HZFafEL
follows: RSN
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
Borrowings (Note 22) A& (Mt eE22) 141,357 158,728
Amount due to a purchaser of a R —HERRNE K
subsidiary (Note 25) XA (B 5E25) — 223,757
Bill payables (Note 23) J& 1~ 2= 5% (B 5323) 802 1,094
Lease liabilities (Note 16) HEREPLES) 6,031 7,140
Total borrowings mMEAR 148,190 390,719
Less: cash and cash equivalents W HeRESEE
(Note 21) (P E21) (285,422) (275,047)
Net (cash)/debt FEE) AR (137,232) 115,672
Total capital IR 7R 48 58 670,645 353,219
Net gearing ratio FREE N/ATE R 32.75%
The net gearing ratio as at 31st March, 2021 arose —E - —F=ZA=t+-HZFEELE
from the receipt of an amount due to a purchaser BB EN—BARMNEFHRIEE
of a subsidiary (Note 25). A (B 5E25) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets including cash and cash equivalents, bank
deposits, trade receivables and deposits and
financial liabilities including trade and bill

payables, other payables, short-term bank
borrowings and amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary, approximate their fair values due to
their short-term maturities. The fair value of
non-current amount due to a purchaser of a
subsidiary is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market
interest rate that is available to the Group for

similar financial instruments.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March,
2022 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques
used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value

hierarchy as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from

prices) (level 2).

—  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not

based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).

A M BRRME

3

5t 3% = b B 2 (R

3.3

DABEEZMEE
AEBZEREE ERASEASE
B ROER BZRERERRZE N

FeMEBBRESIENERALRERE
Hfth & TR M A B SR 1T R B DA K B AR e
H—MEBRREFHRE BRI HE
REH BAUEEmEHEQARBEE
E o SERNENEN — B AT E H e FIA
WARBEDEBEANEEAEZEL
CRMITAEZRITHSNERRAKAE L
RemSETMHE -

TEIMAEBRZZ
T+ HEBRFEAREBEZ
MAARARENER 2%
BIEREZEMTAZAABE

A%FE&TX%LW“@F
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (Continued)
The following table presents the Group’s assets that

are measured at fair value at 31st March, 2022.

Assets gE

Financial assets at fair value & AR {EE A
through profit or loss ERMemEE

Financial assets at fair value & AR {EEF A
through other H 2 H U E B
comprehensive income TRMEE

The following table presents the Group’s assets that

are measured at fair value at 31st March, 2021.

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value & AR {EEFT A
through profit or loss BENEeREE

Financial assets at fair value & AR {EER A
through other H i 2 T W 25 0
comprehensive income CREE

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3

during the year.

e M BRRME

3 HMERREEE

33 AAREEZMHEF(E)

TREINAEER-_T_-__F=H

ST —HUAAREBENENEE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—R BoR E=#& At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FET FET FEx
_ — 8,571 8,571
1,435 — — 1,435
TREINAEER _ZE-_—F=A

=T —HUAAREENENEE -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ Bl BE= st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET FAET
— — 8,332 8,332
1,510 — — 1,510

FRNE-R F_ARE=RzBELE
i o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (Continued)

@

b

(c)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market
prices at the date of consolidated statement
of financial position. A market is regarded as
active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or
regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 comprise
primarily listed equity investments classified
as financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3
If one or more of the significant inputs is not

based on observable market data, the

instrument is included in level 3 (Note 18).

A M BRRME

3
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AERaE Azem I A A
B

INAE=RE@ LA
WME-—EAZEEERRLIR
BABRMSEE ARTAS
WERMNRE =R (ME18)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.4 Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities
No financial asset and financial liability is subject
to offsetting under an enforceable master netting
arrangement or similar arrangement as at
31st March, 2022 and 31st March, 2021.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(@) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group conducts impairment reviews of assets
when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable
or annually in accordance with relevant accounting
standards. An impairment loss is recognised when
the carrying amount of an asset is lower than the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In determining the value in use,
management assesses the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from

the continuing use of the asset and from its

disposal at the end of its useful life.

e M BRRME

3

1 75 By B 1 ()
34 TRHEERESHMAEENHEEES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be
recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use which is the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow forecast including whether
these cash flow forecast is discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates, the gross profit margin or the
revenue growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
forecast, could affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the
Group’s financial position and results of operations.

As at 31st March, 2022,
non-financial assets, including property, plant and

the Group has certain

equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for
non-current assets in the eastern China segment,
southern China segment and Malaysia, amounting
to approximately HK$102,996,000, HK$258,981,000
and HK$34,101,000 respectively. The recovery of
the economic performance of the assets in eastern
China, southern China and Malaysia were slower
than expected due to global market sentiment,
intense competition and Coronavirus Disease 2019
pandemic. Management considered the above as
impairment indicators for these three cash
generating units and has performed impairment
assessments on these assets. Management has also
performed sensitivity analysis over the key
assumptions of the cash flow forecasts, including
future revenue growth rate and discount rate, in

order to assess the potential impact of a range of

possible outcomes. Details are disclosed in Note
14.

A M BRRME

4

(@)
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and applicable
variable selling expenses. These estimates are
based on current market conditions and the
historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of a similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at

the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions

and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

Fair value of financial assets

For the fair values of financial assets not traded in
an active market, the Group would use the quoted
price provided by counterparty to estimate the fair
values. For the fair values of financial assets not
based on observable market data, the Group would
use other valuation approaches to measure the fair
values. The methodologies, models and assumptions
used in valuing these financial assets require

judgement by management which are mainly based

on market conditions existing at each reporting
date.

e M BRRME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information
(@) Analysis of revenue by category
Revenue represents the net amounts received and
receivable from customers during the year. An
analysis of the Group’s revenue by type for the

year is as follows:

A M BRRME

5 WBWARDBESR
@ WAZER D,
BARKFNERRS N E S FOBF
B AFARERARERNSTMT :

2022 2021
—==-= —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
At a point in time RE—EH
Sales of packaging materials, labels HEBRME  BEH K
and paper products, including MERD BRERRRER
environmental friendly paper products 7 i 1,026,182 1,036,063
Others Efth 22,518 21,414
1,048,700 1,057,477

The Group has recognised the following

revenue-related contract liabilities:

Contract liabilities AHaE

AEBECHRBTIEKABENGOER

&

2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET

4,851 4,904




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Analysis of revenue by category (Continued)
Contract liabilities pertain to the non-refundable
advance payment made by customers. There were

no significant changes in contract liabilities.

The following table shows how much of the
revenue recognised in the respective years related

to carried-forward contract liabilities.

e M BRRME

5

WA K7 A& # ()

(@)

Revenue recognised that was included F#HBERE LN BB

in the contract liability balance at

beginning of the year

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”)
of the Group has been identified as the Chairman/
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Operating
segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
CODM of the Company reviews the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. Management has reported
the results of the operating segments based on

these reports.

The CODM of the Company considers the business
from a geographical perspective, i.e. determined by
the location of major factory plants including
Southern China, Eastern China and South East Asia,
and assesses performance based on revenue,

operating profit/(loss), profit/(loss) for the year,

capital expenditure, assets and liabilities.

ERR/EA

(b)

WA BB B 2 ()
BRNABESRTAERRNETEFLEAMNI
EHNABYEERES -

TREJNFHAEEN SN EENBRSF
BEHERRBANEHE -

2022 2021
—EB-=F —E=Z—F
HK$/000 HK$’000
FHET F#& T
4,904 4,646

DHER
ERBAER/ERATRERREIEL
BRRE(ETERERARE]D K20
MUARAETELEAREREAS2H—
HORAER - ARATELRERRE
EHAEEZAIRE  AFEHRAR
SRER - EREERBEZTREER
TEDAEE -

NN BRERKERREB BRI
E%‘Jn 'Eﬂ}zIxJﬂﬁ%%FﬁEﬂE&m'
BREER ERRRMIE RREK
AEEEN (BB AFERA (B
B) -BARX EENRABEAGEED
BHIRR -
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134 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & B B K M =
5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WAKSHEHR (&)
(b) Segment information (Continued) by DEEF(H)
The segment results for the year ended 31st March, HE_Z__F#kR_Z-_-—%=H
2022 and 2021 are as follows: =T -HALEFEZHMEANT
Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
iy £ REE: &5
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT FHAT FHET
Year ended 31st March, 2022 —E=-Z
ZA=+—RHLEFEE
Segment revenue 2 A 730,497 268,094 166,220 1,164,811
Inter-segment revenue 2 E5B A U A (1,312) (114,799) — (116,111)
Revenue from external customers 75 — B 25 52 (5 §p 30
at a point in time EP WA 729,185 153,295 166,220 1,048,700
Operating profit/(loss) R (EE) 366,676 7,291 (6,546) 367,421
Finance income mE WA 326 139 — 465
Finance costs & A (16,093) (1,292) (160) (17,545)
Income tax credit/(expense) FEBE%,/ (FAX) 9,270 (2,138) — 7,132
Profit/(loss) for the year RERF, (FE) 360,179 4,000 (6,706) 357,473
Other information: Hh & :
Additions to property, plant and ¥ iYW ¥ - BE MR
equipment 107,836 36,148 3,487 147,471
Addition to investment property — #7TIEIEE Y E 15,703 — — 15,703
Depreciation nE 23,944 12,775 11,567 48,286
Capital expenditure E¥NEE 84,236 35,819 3,512 123,567
Provision for impairment of M - BB MR ERE
property, plant and equipment B 34,561 — 3,416 37,977
Year ended 31st March, 2021 —B=—-F
ZA=+—-BLEE
Segment revenue B A 745,174 248,085 146,703 1,139,962
Inter-segment revenue PN (1,234) (81,251) — (82,485)
Revenue from external customers 7 — B 25 23 (5 4p 5f
at a point in time ERPMA 743,940 166,834 146,703 1,057,477
Operating loss KEEE (48,871) (22,908) (26,934) (98,713)
Finance income RE WA 15,895 177 — 16,072
Finance costs A R A (9,164) (1,243) (216) (10,623)
Income tax expense Frisfifx (3,314) (1,947) — (5,261)
Loss for the year KEFEE (45,454) (25,921) (27,150) (98,525)
Other information: Hipgr:
Additions to property, plant and ~ FTIE Y% - B E KR E
equipment 78,089 5,168 856 84,113
Depreciation & 27,335 13,888 11,643 52,866
Capital expenditure E¥NEE 119,243 10,934 1,162 131,339
Provision for impairment of M- BERRERE
property, plant and equipment B — — 784 784
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5  Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WAKSHEHR (&)

(b) Segment information (Continued) by DEEF(H)
An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by RZEZZER_T-_—F=ZF=+—
segment as at 31st March, 2022 and 2021 is as HAEEZDHMEERBESNAT
follows:
Southern Eastern  South East
China China Asia Group
B ER REEEm £m

HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT FTAT TAT TAT

As at 31st March, 2022 R-E—-=

=ZA=+—H
Segment assets o EbE E 740,637 192,887 105,952 1,039,476
Segment liabilities nE A E 269,130 81,388 18,313 368,831
As at 31st March, 2021 R-ZTB=-—F

=ZA=+—H
Segment assets DEEE 678,478 225,748 115,276 1,019,502
Segment liabilities DEBERE 507,510 136,635 22,138 666,283

(c) Information about major customers (c0 EBXTEEFESR

Revenue of approximately HK$160,768,000 (2021: #3160,768,000/% TL(= & — — %F:
HK$104,096,000) is derived from one external 104,096,000/ 7T) &) W AR B — 18 51 2k
customer (2021: one external customer). This EE(ZE-—F: —FANNKRP) It
revenue is attributable to the Southern China ZEWABRERDEL -

segment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Analysis of revenue by destination of

customer

Revenue from external customers by country, based

on the destination of the customer:

Mainland China and Hong Kong
The United States of America
South East Asia

Europe

Canada

Others

Analysis of non-current assets

R
L
LRk
B
IESS
it

Non-current assets, other than financial instruments

and deferred income tax assets by country:

Mainland China
Hong Kong
Malaysia

Singapore

E
BB

o ik
Eapiik:d

A M BRRME

5 WARZHEN(E)

(d) BEFEHNMBZWADH

S EFPIZMREID ZWA  RIEEP

Z B
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHT
383,929 333,435
268,557 208,226
184,368 149,847
117,634 203,957
52,404 113,004
41,808 49,008
1,048,700 1,057,477
(e) REBEEDH

ZwREHIRBEE  BHKRERT

BNEEMBHEE
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
365,410 363,943
14,029 8,525
31,167 37,825
2,935 4,876
413,541 415,169
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e M BRRME

Other income and gains/(losses) — net 6 HtWwARKE (FE) — F8
2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
Net exchange losses ERBEFEE (14,162) (29,733)
(Losses)/gains on disposals of property, plant HEWE  BE L&EZ
and equipment (518) /W= (1,219) 10,968
Gains on disposals of right-of-use assets HECHEEEZ WA 6,566 —
Gain on very substantial disposal of a FREARLE-—WBLARZ
subsidiary (Note 31) Uz (M 3E31) 483,315 —
Net fair value gains on financial assets at fair Z R R EEFT ABZNE R
value through profit or loss EEZAABEWGFE 239 214
Government grants BT 78 BY 10,159 18,115
Restructuring costs (Note) EHER M) — (61,412)
Net gain on disposal of financial assets at HERQNABEFABRZD
fair value through profit or loss ERMEEZWEHFE — 635
Written off of property, plant and equipment 1 $5%) 3 - BiFE R 1#E (20,853) (3,900)
Others Efth 4,736 (739)
468,781 (65,852)

Note:

In relation to the disposal of Starlite Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (“Starlite
Shenzhen”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, the
disposal has been approved by the Shareholders on 8th April, 2020. The
Group has then commenced the relocation and restructuring plan. Total
restructuring costs paid and payable amounted to approximately
HK$89,408,000 including severance payments to employees, relocation
expenses of plant and machineries and legal fees amounted to approximately
HK$86,932,000 (Note 9), HK$1,366,000 and HK$1,110,000, respectively.
The amount was off-set by the utilisation of accrued staff welfare of
approximately HK$27,996,000 and recognised approximately HK$61,412,000
in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31st March, 2021,
the transaction was completed on 8th June, 2021. Further details of the
disposal are set out in Note 31.

B -

ERLEAARHEEZENBARE DR CEI)BRAA
(TEXFN]) ZBEHEEERER_Z_ZFNANBH]
B AEEBEERRERREREE;E BENREMEAE
4R TR 40 389,408,000 T W E EHBERABEE TEH
BB REEIRERBUREME D BIL 586,932,000
7T (HT3E9) ~ 1,366,000 7T 51,110,000/ 7T+ R EATERE T
18 F B F £927,996,0008 T A HZ A E YR T —F
ZA=t+-RIEFENEAE KE R ARER61,412,000% 7T ©
FZRHGERZEZ—FEXNANABRE TR HEME— B
15 FA BT E31 A BR A o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expenses by nature

Raw materials and consumables used

Sub-contracting charges

Repairs and maintenance

Freight and transportation

Employment benefit expense (including
directors’ emoluments and excluding
severance payment) (Note 9)

Operating lease rentals of premises
(Note 16)

(Write back provision)/provision for
inventories obsolescence (Note 19)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 14)

Depreciation of investment properties
(Note 15)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16)

Auditor’s remuneration

e Audit services

e Non-audit services

Legal and professional fess

Subscription fee

Provision for impairment of property, plant

and equipment (Note 14)

Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution

costs, and general and administrative

expenses

A M BRRME

7 EBMEHESZRAX

R OB e f
mIEA

wERE

BHER
EIRMMAX(BREEEHE
RABFEEME) (M)

HADELCERE RS
(Mt&E16)
MREFERE(BEDE)
B (P EE19)
ME BERIBZINE
(Pff5%14)
BEMEZINE
(Mt#E15)
FREEEZITE (MEe)
% & AT B &
o ZHRS
o ERHMRT
ERREEER
Ie2EH
kB B ( 5E14)
Hipx

HERA HERDHER
R — MR R ATH X 858

2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
489,214 471,856
65,842 64,667
19,232 18,591
40,802 31,262
358,291 345,124
737 1,175
(4,703) 9,718
41,467 46,786
510 —
6,309 6,080
3,028 3,147
1,959 836
2,683 1,480
1,117 2,057
37,977 784
82,051 88,332
1,146,516 1,091,895
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8 Finance (costs)/income — net

Finance income
Interest income on bank deposits
Imputed interest income from amount due to

a purchaser of a subsidiary (Note 25)

Finance costs

Interest expense on bank borrowings

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

Interest expenses on under-provision for
income tax

Imputed interest expense from amount due

to a purchaser of a subsidiary (Note 25)

8 ®EMRE) WA — FHE

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
BE WA
|AITFRA B WA 465 1,711
N —HBARE R HRE
ZEEF B (M sE25) — 14,361
465 16,072
B &R E
RITR AT B H (6,042) (3,948)
HEBEMAEXH (224) (258)
FEMBETIRZFME I H
(3,335) —
e — KT R R E 5 83 IE
ZARE S W (M sE25) (7,944) (6,417)

(17,080) 5,449
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9  Employment benefit expense (including 9 EIRIMXX(BRESHD)
directors’ emoluments)

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Salaries, wages and allowances e TERER 284,990 302,832
Discretionary bonus BHEREZIEL 23,866 11,404
Pension costs — defined contribution plans  RIREKA — FE R EHE 32,544 16,230
Provision for/(write back) long service RERBE R FRZEE
payments and annual leave (=1 %) 1,876 (1,463)
Other welfare and benefits H b 18 F & F &% 15,015 16,121
Employment benefit expense (including BEIRMAX (REEEMS
directors’ emoluments and excluding RAraiEEmeE) 7))
severance payment) (Note 7) 358,291 345,124
Severance payment in relation to disposal of A& 2 ¥ RYIH)E A E
Starlite Shenzhen (Note 6) (K 5E6) — 86,932
358,291 432,056
The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to AEECREBEIZNARMEAESE
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (MEZE ) ZABMABRERRL BB
(the “MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution EEAER - RiEEaES:E SEZAF (R
scheme managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF DEEEESAHRRAREEBAR(R®
Scheme, each of the group companies (the employer) and HERERTE R 2 FE) 25% - MEE
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme REE#HKXE A Z LR B1,5008 7T @B L
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the REVEFRIG BB R -

Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The
monthly contributions of each of the employer and the

employee are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and thereafter

contributions are voluntary.
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oy
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Employment benefit expense (including

directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China contribute
to state-sponsored retirement plans for their employees.
The employees contribute approximately 8% of their
salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 15% to 16% of the salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations

payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 20% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 17% of the wages of
its employees. The employer’s and employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary wages of
SGD6,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$34,600)

during the year ended 31st March, 2022.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Malaysia, the
group company operating in Malaysia contributes to the
Malaysia Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 9% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 12% to 13% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’

contributions are not subject to a cap.

Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives

The following disclosures are made pursuant to section
383 (1)(a) to (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), and Parts 2 to 4 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap. 622G) and Hong Kong Listing Rules.

e M BRRME

10

ETRAMX(BRESH) (B

REFEER AEERFTEAEBZ AT
RERBRI—ERETHALABERE BN
BRAREHE BT HFENRERTF S 2
#8%  MEBARZHRBEHNA/EREEEAR
FEZH15%E16% - REEHRTIN EFERQ
ARERNERENTHIERRERBNIL A
FEMEFE - ZEHRREDHNRKE T
EEHRNERNMAERKEEE

WEFMBEER AEERFTMEEEBZ
DRBBRRE—EEAFTNEFRAES
HETERKEEE - ZZE  BEEHTKESR
HEZ2H20%  MEEBARZHKEIZES
HeM7% BEREEEHAZERRZ
T —F=H=+— BFE 5E6000% INH T
(H 5 5 4934,600/8 1) °

BEERATER AEBENEREEAE
BZoRalBH-RE—EEABRARHR
AESHETRKSTE - R%:t8 EBEH
REBFLZH9%  MEBE QR ZHRER
BEF L 2H12%E13%  BEREE ZHK
W 4E PR o

ESRERITRAEBZRNERES

TIEERRIEEB(RAEINE22E)E
3BBM@EMMG - R B (HEEENEER)
RO (Fe22CE)E_RFMHABREB LT
AT EH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior
executives (Continued)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
For year ended 31st March, 2022, the remuneration

of directors and the chief executive is set out

below:

Emoluments paid
or receivable in
respect of a
person’s services
as a director,
whether of the
Company or its

A M BRRME

10 EERERTRAEBZNERES
(&)

@ EEBERITRZHS
BEENHITREBEE-_ZE-__F=A8
=t+—BLEEzZMEOT :

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other services

subsidiary in connection with the management of the affairs, whether of
undertaking the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
REAERES
(FRREDQAH
ENBARMNES)
MRENEE X
RAFZESS REERHEBERE (FRRFAAAAENEAR)
ZEEURZE ERNEMRY A FRESHEYN AXESTRZERY
PR 5 0 L R B 35 B 1 R 9 5
Employer’s
Allowances, contribution
other toa
payment and  retirement
Discretionary benefits benefit
Name of Director EEpg Fees Salaries bonus in lieu scheme Total
2R
BRRAE HEHER RBHAERNG
ik i A ENFNE HETHR @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$/000
TR TR TET TET TET TER
For the year ended —B-CF
31st March, 2022 ZAZT-HLEEE
Executive Directors $TES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu M ks 150 4,282 4,888 661 81 10,062
Mr. Tin Shing ML E 150 1,606 1,133 — 38 2,927
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching EEREAE 150 1,940 1,200 468 52 3,810
Non-Executive Director FRITES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRELL 150 — 1,500 — — 1,650
Independent Non- BUFBTES
Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, B EE
Michael 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, BWMBELE 744
Larry, S, JP E& - AV#T 200 — - — — 200
Mr. Tam King Ching, ERELE
Kenny 200 — - — — 200
1,200 7,828 8,721 1,129 171 19,049
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10 EERERTRAEZANERER
(&)

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a)

10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

EEZRgTRZME (8

(Continued)

Name of Director

For the year ended
31st March, 2021

Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
Mr. Tin Shing
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching

Non-Executive Director

BEfHA

—E--F
ZA=t-HLEE

HITES
Mt
bk
REREE

FUGES

Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-

Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong,
Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong,
Larry, $BS, Jp

Mr. Tam King Ching,
Kenny

BRZL

HREE L 25
£E X F#HL
EHRERE

Emoluments paid
or receivable in
respect of a
person’s services
as a director,
whether of the
Company or its

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other services

subsidiary in connection with the management of the affairs, whether of
undertaking the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
HEAAFRES
(COE =N
EWBARNES)
MREORSE X
NFZEEL HEFRUABEE THEARARANBELT)
REFARKT EROHMRH XNTHEENFY AZAEFTRZERS
R 7% 0 MR B 5 if 4 ER B 5 A
Employer’s
Allowances,  contribution
other toa
payment and  retirement
Discretionary benefits benefit
Fees Salaries bonus in lieu scheme Total
N
BRREZ EMFER  ERRME
e 4 izl Enfla HETHR 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL
150 4,147 355 540 78 5,270
150 1,527 130 - 37 1,844
150 2,276 195 — 57 2,678
150 — — — — 150
200 — — — — 200
200 — — — — 200
200 — — — — 200
1,200 7,950 680 540 172 10,542
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid or
receivables in respect of accepting office as
directors (2021: Nil), and no directors waived any
emolument (2021: Nil).

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu is also the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered

by him as the Chief Executive.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

None of the other directors of the Group received
or will receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits in respect of their services to
the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2022
(2021: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any
consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2021:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There were no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into by the Company in favour of
the directors of the Company, or body corporate
controlled by or entities connected with any of the

directors of the Company at the end of the year or

at any time during the year (2021: Nil).

A M BRRME

10 EERERITRAEZNERER
(&)
@ EFERITRZME (H)

FA O TEREIEEBRUMEXNR
ERBEMe(ZTE-—F:F) ki
BEENETAFH(—ZE_—F:F)-

MAMEEMBARRRNITR - Ll
BEZMe M EBMERRTRZBE -

by EBZEAREMNRBERER

HE-_TE-_—F=-A=+—BLFE
N BERKRREFFERNAEERRH
Bk 5 B U5 ER 3k % Uk BR A5 B 4F ] 3R R 13
HEBEN (T —F ).

© RERESEEMAE=SXNZ
RIE
£y - A o AL A B L B AR S RS A
AMAEAES A RE(CE—
ZEE R

d FHRESKZESNIENZEE
FEEERITYNEN EEXR
Hit X5 2&#

FEEMERAARREETREETNRE
PEENEERER AT E AMATINE
RAFREAERDAFENER %
ERHEMRG(ZEZ—F:F) -
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior
executives (Continued)

(e) Directors’ material interests in transactions,

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the period or at any time during the year (2021:
Nil).

()  Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include three Executive

Directors (2021: three) whose emoluments are

e M BRRME

10 ESKERITRABZAZRER
(/&)
() EBRXH REIGHZEAHE
#
BB AR EERT I ARTRERT
MARARREEERERMEABEX
HE S T & R S F RIS R D A 77 48
MEARS RHREHN(ZF=—4F:
).

H HEZFEHFAL
AEBLUREHFALP =L BHRTT
EE(ZZ-—F: D) HMeE#ERN
DR ENREMNBT -AZ

reflected in the analysis presented above. The MemT :
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining two
individuals were as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= 4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH& T FH&T
Basic salaries, allowances and bonus  EAFH & « FRI R4 2,255 1,864
Pension costs-defined contribution RIKPA — R #5KET
plans 62 64
2,317 1,928

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as

an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office (2021: Nil).

RZEZZF=A=+—HLEFERN"
BERENESFS&ESHF2AMALTX
RN EERBFEEMARER 2 5k
EREXEBUZBEE(ZTEZ—4F:

7).
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior
executives (Continued)

(g The emoluments fell within the following
bands:

A M BRRME

10 EERERTRAERZAN B RES

(&)
(® FMEZASHEZY:

Number of individuals

AB
2022 2021
B8 —E - —4F
HK$500,001 — HK$1,000,000 500,001,8 7t £1,000,0007% 7T — 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017% 7T £1,500,0007%8 7T 2 1

11 Income tax (credit)/expense
The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the
British Virgin Islands are incorporated under the
International Business Companies Acts of the British
Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are exempted from British

Virgin Islands income taxes.

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate
of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime effective
from the year of assessment 2019/2020. The first
HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits of this subsidiary is
taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are
taxed at 16.5%.

The subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are
subject to the PRC Corporate Income Tax at rate of 25%
during the year (2021: 25%).

The subsidiaries established in Singapore and Malaysia

are subject to Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate

of 17% (2021: 17%) and Malaysia Corporate Income Tax
at a rate of 24% (2021: 24%) respectively.

11

FrEB %) Bx
ARARERGHMMERENA BEE-T
SHFRLE-ADAREBEARESK T
MEMBRARADNEREBEAREEARE
BARREMAL - Fit - B AR g
BRESMEH -

EEFERIRFAREBBMELEZHTE
R EMNIRI65%(ZFE = —F 1 16.5%) 2 B
RitiRBE  HAEE —MWBARKRIN &%
RABE—N/ZEZ-_ZEBHFERELEN
B EREHNE T Z2AERER - ZW
JB 2 52 82,000,000/ 7T F& 5 Bt it F 128.25%
BRGHE - mH B ERBOEF AIZ16.5%F X
BE o

ERBRYREEZHBRARRANEE AR
25% (=T = —F 1 25% ) MR B P B
Fri8Hi -

RE I R ERAEKLZHE QR DRI
HMECERSHEMEI7%(ZE=Z—F:
17% ) % 55 R 35 1 3 AT 15 BBl R24% (= F
T 24% ) B R -
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11 Income tax (credit)/expense (Continued) 11 FEHOA%R) BX (&)
The amount of income tax (credited)/charged to the RiraWEEF GEA) HBROBEEE

consolidated income statement represents:

2022 2021
—EB-CfF T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT TET
Current income tax expense BUVERFR 15 B 5 2

— Hong Kong Profits Tax — BENEH — 349
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — HEREMREHR 1,841 4,655
Under provision in prior years BEFEBEBETR 1,154 —

Withholding tax on dividend declared in RHAERAE SRS H A
the PRC b — 4,187
2,995 9,191
Deferred income tax (Note 24) IEIEFT 1S L (P 5E24) (10,127) (3,930)

Income tax (credit)/expense TR CRe) X (7,132) 5,261
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11 Income tax (credit)/expense (Continued) 11 FEHOA%R) BX (&)
The tax on the Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax REBZRBAGR, (BE)FE 2B EER
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using BARAEERARER,(FEB)Z nEFEH
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profit/(loss) of MEAEERmBAMER  HEEOT:
the consolidated entities as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —T—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Profit/(loss) before income tax M RTEFR S (E18) 350,341 (93,264)
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% (2021: & E16.5% (=T = —4:
16.5%) 16.5% ) 5t 5 1 P15 3 57,806 (15,389)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries EWBARNEMBER
operating in other countries/jurisdictions REEREBENHREEZR
ZRE 6,620 (14,404)
Income not subject to income tax EIB R B (83,545) (12,595)
Expenses not deductible for tax A X 7,953 18,949
Tax benefits HEER (1,591) (1,195)
Tax losses and other temporary differences BBERREMERERE
for which no deferred income tax was EZRBERELEREGR
recognised 4,950 34,391
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax ERNAERERZ HKEE
losses (479) (4,823)
Under provision in prior years BEFEEEBTR 1,154 —
Withholding tax on undistributed profit of A H [ & BT B8 X IR 99 R
those subsidiaries in Mainland China FEE AR — 327
Income tax (credit)/expense 58 CRe) X (7,132) 5,261
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 18% (2021: BRAZMEFATERI8N(ZFT - —F:
32%). The change in average tax rate is mainly caused 32%) FPHBRENBETIZEANIIETERXR
by the gain on very substantial disposal of a subsidiary HE-—MBARNKES R THEHABHER
are subject to capital gain tax which does not fall within HEY  BREBGTENE25%  XIHEME
the definition of income tax under HKAS 12. Capital gain MO TERSBEN - B ARIEEF L A32,110,000
tax amounted to approximately HK$32,110,000 was offset B WEEBEIALZE RERIEMKRAR
to the gain on very substantial disposal of a subsidiary Wa/ (FiE) — FEINNEFTEALE—
including in “other income and gains/(losses) — net” of LN EPNGIECR i
the consolidated income statement.
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12 Earnings/(losses) per share
Basic
Basic earnings/(losses) basic per share is calculated by
dividing the Group’s profit/(loss) attributable to the

e M BRRME

12 BREF (EF#E)
2R
SREXEF /(BB DREQTEE AR
EAEBERA,/ (BR)BENDBTERR

owners of the Company by the weighted average number ZIMEFHBGTE -
of ordinary shares in issue during the year.
2022 2021
—EC- —EF - —4F
Profit/(loss) attributable to the owners of the AR FIHEAF AL EF
Company (HK$'000) (B#E)(FET) 357,473 (98,525)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B %77 i % 2 I F 15 &
in issue ('000) (F ) 524,894 525,135
Basic earnings/(losses) per share (HK cents) — FRRELRAF,(E8)EL) 68.10 (18.76)

Diluted

Diluted earnings/(losses) per share is calculated by
adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding assuming conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. For the year ended 31st March, 2022
and 31st March, 2021, diluted earnings/(losses) per share

equals basic earnings/(losses) per share as there were no

dilutive potential shares.

5
GRESERR, (BB IRBEAA#E
METEAREERE KAEDHITE
RzmMEFHEFTE - T Z__F = A
=+ —BERZEZ—F=ZA=+—HLFE"
EREERN  (BBHESRERER
BF,(BE) AYLEEINEERD -
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13

Dividends

The Board of Directors do not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2022

(2021: Nil).

Interim dividend for the year ended 31st
March, 2022 of HK1 cent per fully paid
share (2021: Nil)

Special dividend for the year ended 31st
March, 2022 of HK10 cents per fully paid
share (2021: Nil)

A M BRRME

13 KRB

2022
—E-—F
HK$’000
FER

—E-_#=ZA=+—H
IEFERBHRE 8K

B R RABE—L

—EF:F) 5,251
- -F=ZA=+—H
IEFERRIRE 8K

B8R RABE L

(=% %) 52,514

ESgRBRTREBE_Z-__=H
=t+—BIFEZRPRE (2T _—F:F)-

2021
—E - —4F
HK$’000
FHT

57,765




At 31st March, 2020

Cost
Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March, 2021

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Write-off

Transfers

Provision for impairment
Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2021
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and

impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March, 2022

Opening net book amount

Reclassify to investment property

(Note 15)
Additions
Depreciation
Disposals
Disposal of a subsidiary
Write-off
Transfers
Provision for impairment
Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2022
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and

impairment

Net book amount

14 Property, plant and equipment
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e M BRRME

14 YE -BERRHE

Furniture
Plant and and Motor Construction

Buildings  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
B B BARRE nE  ERIRE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THAT THAT TET THAT THAT THET
257,230 988,957 92,944 17,109 4100 1,360,340
(119,778) (864,168) (73,472) (13,090) — (1,070,508)
137,452 124,789 19,472 4,019 4,100 289,832
137,452 124,789 19,472 4,019 4,100 289,832
419 22,156 4,819 141 56,578 84,113
(9,158) (28,750) (7,602) (1,276) — (46,786)
(428) (6,261) (1,222) (245) — (8,156)
(1,097) (2,803) — — — (3,900)
— 1,680 463 — (2,143) —

— (784) — — — (784)
8,267 7,806 503 77) 2,277 18,776
135,455 117,833 16,433 2,562 60,812 333,095
270,662 872,317 93,940 15,918 60,812 1,313,649
(135,207) (754,484) (77,507) (13,356) — (980,554)
135,455 117,833 16,433 2,562 60,812 333,095
135,455 117,833 16,433 2,562 60,812 333,095
(1,560) — — — — (1,560)
668 65,823 4,666 1,131 75,183 147,471
(8,749) (26,007) (5,949) (762) — (41,467)
(484) (5,087) (189) (467) — (6,227)
(22,686) (26) (682) — — (23,394)
— (20,645) (208) — — (20,853)
77,105 41,472 730 8 (119,315) —
— (37,977) — — — (37,977)

4,911 4,868 509 41 1,796 12,125
184,660 140,254 15,310 2,513 18,476 361,213
287,816 944,342 93,080 14,861 18,476 1,358,575
(103,156) (804,088) (77,770) (12,348) — (997,362)
184,660 140,254 15,310 2,513 18,476 361,213
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Depreciation expense recognised in the

A M BRRME

14 YE -BMERREGE
@ REAWFSETRERZFERS  HiF

consolidated income statement is analysed as /N
follows:

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAT
Cost of sales HE KA 35,209 39,598
Selling and distribution costs HERDIHER 130 325
General and administrative expenses ~ — i R /TH X 6,128 6,863
41,467 46,786

Construction in progress mainly represents factories
and office buildings under construction and plant

and machinery under installation in the PRC.

At 31st March, 2022, buildings with a total net
book value of approximately HK$42,138,000 (2021:
HK$43,268,000) were pledged as collateral for the

Group's banking facilities (Note 33).

On 18th June, 2021,
plant and equipment located in Shanghai with a

buildings under property,

total net book value of approximately HK$484,000
and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$3,160,000 were sold to an independent third
party at a consideration of HK$11,923,000.

For the year ended 31st March, 2022, plant and
machinery and furniture and equipment amounting
to HK$20,645,000 and HK$208,000 were written
off respectively as these assets originally located in

Shenzhen factory were damaged and no longer fit

for production.

(b) HERIRIBEAETEEZFOEE R
MAEBTMLEPAOEES -

() RZZE-_=—F-A=-+—HEEKEFE
#942,138,000 T F(Z T = —4F
43,268,0007% 7L) AEAR S BERITEE
28 2 B BB 4 1 (P E33) -

d R=ZZT=——FXA+N B fIRLEFE
8% T JF {E 49484,0008 THE F R 4
3,160,000 T FAEEAERD HE &
—RN B E = KRB AET1,923,000%8
5o

(e) HE-_T-_—_F=ZA=+—HIEFE"
EEHEEARRBERE 25K
20,645,0007% 7T 208,000/ 7t * tL & &
ESVRERFIRE  BEBEZET
HEFEERAR -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

M

Impairment of property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets and

prepayments for non-current assets

The value of property, plant and equipment,
right-of -use assets and prepayments for non-current
assets is assessed at the end of each reporting
period for indications of impairment with reference
to evaluation undertaken by management. For
assets with impairment indicators, management
performed evaluation to assess the recoverable
amount of each asset being the higher of its value
in use or its fair value less costs of disposal. As at
31st March, 2022, management performed three
separate impairment assessments for the eastern
China operation, southern China operation and

Malaysia operation.

Eastern China operation

As at 3Tst March, 2022, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in eastern
China operation (“eastern China PP&E and
right-of-use assets”) was
HK$102,996,000 (2021: HK$83,285,000). No
impairment loss was recognised for the year ended
31st March, 2022 (2021: Nil).

approximately

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of eastern China PP&E and right-of-use
assets are as follows:

Sales growth rate from 2023 to 2026: 3%-5%

Pre-tax discount rate: 15%

e M BRRME

14 YE -BMERREGE

)

ME BERZRE EREEEN
RARBEEZRNRZEE

ME - -BEREE TREEENKRIE
MBEEZENRZEERSRELER
HLZEEREMET ZEUTEES
BETR EEELRBERES B8
BETTBUFGESEE 2T KEE
B -MEAFHEEXERABERLE

KAzERE- R_T-__F=H
=t+t—B BERESNRERER F
MEBESREEEBETRERS -
ERREHK

M-EBE-—HF#=A=+—"H FEFEHK
ZWE - BEREE FABEEENUAR
ERBEEZHENR(ERZYME - K
EREzHBUREARBEEDA
102,996,000 7T(= T = — %F:
83,2850008 L)  R—_ZT - —_F=A
ST HBLFETEBRARESE(Z

T —F:EF)-

AEERYE  BE RN R R
BEZAREEEMERZEEREN
T

ZEZFETRFY 3%Z%5%
HEHEE:

PR ATAL IR & ¢ 15%
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

M

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Eastern China operation (Continued)

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2022, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of eastern
China PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
approximately HK$16,268,000
Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the

been lower.
carrying amount of Eastern China PP&E and
right-of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$15,353,000.

If profit margin for each of the year had been 0.5%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of eastern
China PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
been HK$12,648,000 lower. Accordingly, the
shortfall compared with the carrying amount of
Eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$11,733,000.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2022 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$14,592,000 lower. Accordingly, the

shortfall compared with the carrying amount of

eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$13,677,000.

A M BRRME

14 YE -BMERREGE

)

ME BERZRE EREEEN
RERBEE 2ENKZREE(H)

HEREK ()
NEERERIHRERMER MR
EREMBRZ(EREESRBEHZH
EERB)AAGBEZEATKREEB R
—T-_F=ZA=+-—H WMEFEZ
HENMREREBRE ZHEKI1%M AT
EHMEERSTE RIERME K
EREBUARFEAEEEZFRAERRK
B 216,268,0007 7T o E It - B E R Y
¥ BEERXBUARFERAEEAEZE®R
B 2 58 R E#E /15,353,000 7T ©

WENEREBEEZHE S FK0.5%
METAEEMESRRELE  AJERY
¥ BERRBBARERREEZEA
B 1E 15 B 212,648,000 7T o A 1t - £
ERYE BERLEURERAEEE
2 BERHEMEML 258 RERA11,733,000
HBIT e

MBI ERERBER _T-__F=A
Tt+—BZzEES1%m AT
RETE BIZERYE BERZEN
RERBEEZFEFREARBR D
14,592,000/ 7T o A 11t - 82 3 5| ¥ %
BEREHEARERAEEEZEEER
b2 R EE % AB13,677,000% 7T °
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

M

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Southern China operation

As at 31st March, 2022, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in southern
China operation (“southern China PP&E and
right-of-use assets”) was approximately
HK$258,981,000 (2021: HK$288,946,000).
Impairment loss of HK$34,561,000 was recognised
for the year ended 31st March, 2022 (2021: Nil).

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
China PP&E and

right-of-use assets are as follows:

amount of the southern

Sales growth rate from 2023 to 2026: 3%-5%

Pre-tax discount rate: 15%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2022, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$36,636,000 lower.
Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the

carrying amount of southern China PP&E and

right-of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$71,197,000.

e M BRRME

14 YE -BMERREGE

)

ME BERZRE EREEEN
RARBEEZRNRZEE (K

e E
RZZE-_—_FZA=Z+—H EFEH
Z2WE - BMEREE FAEREENUAR
ERBEEZENR(EBZUVE K
ERh&EBANREREEEDAR
258,981,000 (= T = — %F:
288,946,000 L) M T —_F = A
T+ BULEEFEBRRBREESIE
34,561,000 L (ZF = —F : T) -

FEEERYE - BB R REIA NS R E
EEZAINEEBEMER 2 EE2REZWN
T

I A v 3%ZE5%
HEEBRE:
BB AT AL IR X - 15%

MEERERTHMERMZEA R
EREMBR(DEBRE RS EH 21
EEBJI)AIRNBEETREEE R
T ZF=A=1+—RH WEFEZ
HERREREEE ZMERKI1%Mm AT
BHMBERFAE  BIZEEYWE - K
ERREBAREABEEZERAEES
B 136,636,000 JC o E It EHERE Y
¥ BEERREULRFHAEEAEZRE
B 28R H71,197,000% 7T °
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

M

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Southern China operation (Continued)

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2022 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$23,438,000 lower.
Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and
right-of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$57,999,000.

If profit margin for each of the year had been 0.5%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$138,394,000 lower.
Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and
right-of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$172,955,000.

Malaysia operation

As at 3Tst March, 2022, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in Malaysia
operation (“Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use assets”)
was approximately HK$34,101,000 (2021:
HK$37,825,000). Impairment loss of approximately
of HK$3,416,000 was recognised for the year
ended 31st March, 2022 (2021: HK$784,000) (Note
7).

Market approach was applied in assessing the
recoverable amount of the Malaysia operation
PP&E and right-of-use assets. Based on the fair
value less cost of disposal in arriving the

recoverable amount, Impairment loss of

approximately of HK$3,416,000 was recognised for
the year ended 31st March,
HK$784,000).

2022 (2021:

A M BRRME

14 YE -BMERKREGE)

)

ME BERZRE EREEEN
RERBEE 2ENKZREE(H)

HEHEK ()

MBI ERERBER _T-__F=A
St+—BZzHEES1%m AT
RIFTE AEEME BERIHU
RERBEEZEFREARBR D
23,438,000/ 7T o A I - B2 Eg 4 -
BEREHEARERAEEEZREER
tb 2 5B R EE % A57,999,0007% 7T °

WEFNEREREZHES FK05%
MAAEEMESRFETE BIZERY
¥ BERRBULRFTHEEEZEA
& & # 5l 2138,394,00078 7T » A It £
EMYE BEMEEBEAREAEELE
2 BREEML 28R E A172,955,000
BT e

-2 Vi EL
R-_TZ-_—FE=A=+—H EXfs
E¥Bo0E - BERRE FERAEEE
NERERBEEZBAR(ERAEZ
ME BERSEURERREED B
34,101,000 7x(= T = — #&F:
37,825,000 7T) R_ZET_—_F=H
=+ —H - FE#R3,416,0007 7R E
BB (=Z = — 4 : 784,000/ 7t) (M 7
7)°

EAMBHENTEERAERER Y
¥ BERZREBEARGEREEENT YK
BIEE - RIEAAEE R SR AG
BB EE RZ2T=Z_F=A8
=+ — B FEER3,416,000% LR E
BE(ZZT=—4F 784,000 7T) °
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued) 14 Y¥ BWERRZMEGE
(f)  Impairment of property, plant and fH YE - BERIEBE ERAEREEN
equipment, right-of-use assets and RERBEEZHANRZEE (B

prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Malaysia operation (Continued) BRAEXE ()

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable AEERATDE BERRBAUARE
amount of the Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use RAEEEZAINEEEMERAZEIER
assets are as follows: JAT

Right-of-use assets and buildings: Market approach EAREERET  EATIHIELE
was adopted by comparing the recent sales of BT Sk iz B AR E B SR ALY 2 B0 E AR 22
similar properties in the vicinity or within similar (K

localities.

Plant and machineries: Market approach was BE e BRATSERE2E_FM
adopted with reference to the price quoted in the B B R (E o

second-hand markets.

15 Investment properties 15 REYR

2022 2021
—E-F —T—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FHET
As at 1 April mHEA—H — —

Reclassify from property, plant and Y% BELERBEN
equipment (Note 14) D8R (M 5E14) 1,560 —

Reclassify from right-of-use assets (Note 16) H{FAEEEEHH

(Fif&E16) 710 —
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 30) W B — B B8 2~ & (M 5230) 15,703 —
Depreciation for the year RENE (510) —
As at 31 March K=ZRAR=+—8H 17,463 —
At 31st March, 2022, investment properties with a total RZZB-Z—F=ZA=+—B AFEFR@DF
net book value of approximately HK$2,193,000 (2021: E#%2,193,0008 T(ZZE = —F : Z) 2 K&
Nil) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s banking MEREAEBRITEER ZMBER T

facilities (Note 33). 33)
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15

Investment properties (Continued)

Investment properties are situated in Hong Kong and
rented out under operating leases. Rental income arising
from the investment properties amounting to HK$850,000
(2021: N/A) is included in the “other income and gains/
(losses), net” in the consolidated income statement. The
operating expenses relating to the investment properties
(including depreciation) amounted to HK$510,000 (2021:
N/A).

During the year, two owner occupied warehouses located
in Hong Kong were leased out to independent third
parties. The buildings with the carry amount of
approximately HK$1,560,000 and leasehold lands with
the carrying amount of approximately HK$710,000 were
transferred from property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets, respectively at the date of the

commencement of the lease term.

As at 31st March, 2022, the fair values of the investment
properties are approximately HK$49,000,000. The fair
values have been arrived at based on a valuation carried
out by the directors. The fair values of the investment
properties were determined based on the market
comparable approach which is categorised within Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. The inputs used in the fair
value measurements mainly include the market unit sale
rate of comparable properties of similar size, nature and
location. The calculation assumes fair value of the
investment properties are at HK$5,982 gross unit rate per

square foot.

For minimum lease payments receivables on leases of

investment properties, refer to Note 32.

A M BRRME

15

REWE (&)

BREMEMNREBSLIRKCERELA BE
By EEENES WA AS50,0008 T (ZF
Z—F:TEABINAGAE R ERIE MK
ARWE(BE)— FEIR-RENERH
B4 & (B 43T &) A510,0008 T (=&
——F:T@EA) -

FA MNREFHEEEAAMBAELD B
TG MAL B L E =7 - BRE (B E 491,560,000
BTHEFRE@MEEBEL710,0008 T E
THRERRRRINEYE BERZE
AR REEESER -

RZE-_—F=ZA=+—H REVWENRQ
At B A 4 A49,000,0008 7T AR EEERE
EFHRTNEEMSE REWENLIAE
BEEMSLERAZEZRAE UREEAAESE
BHE-EB -T2 A BENBAZEEE
BREEERT HERUENITLEYEN
MBENEE - FEBREREMENARE
BEHEFHRBEENBEH5982E T -

HHAREE REEREBENR F2E5
MgFE32 ©




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16

Lease

This note provides information for leases where the

Group is a lessee.

(0]

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position

shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Land use rights* 4 3 156 PR A
Leasehold land* THE >
Buildings R
Equipment B4

Lease liabilities HEAE
Current mE
Non-current FEMED

* The Group has land lease arrangement with mainland China

government and leasehold land in Hong Kong and
Malaysia.

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2022
financial year were HK$4,401,000 (2021:
HK$5,038,000).

A leasehold land amounted to approximately
HK$710,000 was reclassified to investment

properties subject to the changes of intention of

use, please refer to Note 15 for details.

e M BRRME

16 HE
WIS RHAEEEARRBANEELSR -

() REEHMBERRRBINEE

REEUMBHRRAEREV EERENSE
U

2022 2021

—s=-= —EZ—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THET FHET

13,523 19,170

6,272 7,192

5,914 6,940

26 35

25,735 33,337

4,660 5,255

1,371 1,885

6,031 7,140

* AEEERTERNGE LHEENTH - KR
EERBRALHBEHRELM -

R-E-—FHREE AESFEHEEL
E 54,401,000 T (= & = — F:
5,038,000/ 7T) °

#)1E710,0008 T E L WE EFH D
HEAREME BRTXREFEAES
HIBEE2EM IS
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16

Lease (Continued)

(i)

A M BRRME

16 FHE (1E)
REERERERINEE

Amounts recognised in the consolidated (ii)

income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the

following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets

Land use rights

Leasehold land

Buildings

Equipment

Interest expense (included in finance
costs)

Expense relating to short-term leases
(included in cost of goods sold and

administrative expenses)

ERAEEENFEER
T A
HE L

e
et

e GEARERAE)

EHEREENRX

RizalREXR2JERBEENSENT

FIAHERARITHFAX)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was
approximately HK$6,517,000 (2021: HK$6,606,000).

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets
Cost of sales

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

ERAEEENNEER

HERA
HERDIHER
— R R ATE R X

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAET
644 787

183 209
5,472 5,075
10 9
6,309 6,080
224 258

737 1,175

RZZEZZFRN - HAENBRESRLRE
4 56,517,000 (= T = — F:

6,606,000/ 7T) °

2022 2021
—E-= —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
3,073 2,993

380 351

2,856 2,736
6,309 6,080
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16

Lease (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

At 31st Match, 2022, leasehold land with a total
net book value of approximately HK$1,370,000
(2021: HK$2,026,000) were pledged as collateral
for the Group’s banking facilities (Note 33).

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, factory buildings
and warehouses. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 2 to 3 years, but may

have extension options as described in (v) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in
a number of property leases across the Group.
These are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The majority of extension and

termination options held are exercisable only by

the Group and not by the respective lessor.

e M BRRME

16 FHE (1E)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

R-ZBE-_—F=-A=+—HEEREFE
#91,370,0008 T HEE L (=T = —
12,026,000/ 7) AEARA S B R 1T1E
B M EEA (E33) -

AEENWEEEHRAEAREL

AEEBRBAZERER BEREE
HEANBEREAERY AME=F
AE EWREES TXWMMMEER
BiEEE-

HEGRIZERNER B2 EZTRN
GREGEE - REEAARENEEEE
ZHEREE SN HEE T NE [ R
H-HEEETSREGREMR-

EERRILRERE

AEEBEZOMENHERBSTARK
LHHERERE  UEREELEMAN
EEERTEHRADHMRESELNET
Mo RBOTEBERKTTHERZERRT
IAMAREEITE - MIAIEERALHEA -
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17  Subsidiaries 17 MEB AT
Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31st March, RZEZZF=ZA=+—HB TZHNBEAA
2022: ZEE

Name of company

2RER

Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd.

Starlite Printers Holdings Cook Islands Limited

Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Starlite Printers (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Starlite Cultural Communications Limited
EXAXLEREERRA

Everfar Holdings Limited

Starlite Visual Communication Limited

ERERREARAF

Hong Kong Inno-Tech Association Limited

EANMEMERBEERAR

Place of incorporation Issued and fully

and/or operations and paid capital/
kind of legal entity paid-in capital
AMAIR/ REEBE BRITRARE
REABRER BE/BHRAE
British Virgin Islands, limited Uss$2
liability company
AEERRBBERERAERT 2XTT
Cook Islands, limited liability US$200
company
MRBEBERAEAT 2003 7T
Singapore, limited liability SGD8,759,396
company
MMEERELRT 8,759,396
gL
Malaysia, limited liability RM6,500,000
company
BRAEEREALH 6,500,000
BRAEET
Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2
company
EREREMERA VET
British Virgin Islands, limited US$20,000
liability company
ARAMRMBERAMLA  20000%7T
Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2,000,000
company
BRERALAF 2,000,000/ 70
Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2
company
ERBERAEMERA VBT

Percentage of equity

interest held

FEREED
Directly Indirectly
Hi B#
100% —
100% —
100% —
100% —
100% —
50% 50%
— 100%
— 100%

Principal activities

TEXH

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding
REER

Printing of packaging

materials

BEWHEAR

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BEMHORBREREE

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Distribution of Team
Green Products

2 $#Team GreenfE @

Inactive

mfEx
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17

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEEE

Starlite Consumer Products, Limited

Starlite Entertainment (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Laser Graphics Limited

EFEHACERAA

Starlite Management Services Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology Consultancy
Limited

Starlite Development International Limited
EXBRERBRAF
Starlite Paper Products Limited

ERHRERDA

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and
kind of legal entity
EMRIRREEDH
REABBER

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
REERARBRBERRMAERT

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
REARRHEEREARA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EEBEREELH

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

TEBEREELH

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
REERARBRBERRMAERT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

ERBREMADT

Hong Kong/the PRC, limited
liability company
BE/HEEREEAT

paid-in capital
BRITRAR
RE/BARE

e M BRRME

17 HEQRG&E)

Issued and fully

paid capital/ Percentage of

Directly
BE

Us$1 -

1ET

Us§1 —

(E

HK$3,230,000 —

ordinary

3,230,000 7T

Bl

HK$170,000 —
non-voting
deferred (i)
170,000 7T
BERER
SEIERA ()

HK$200 —
2008 7T

Us$1 —
X7

HK$200 —

2007 7T

HK$1,738,000 —

ordinary

1,738,000/ 7T

TERRSD

HK$262,000 —
non-voting
deferred (i)
262,000/ 7T
BERR
BB G)

equity

interest held

FEREED

Indirectly
Bk

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

TEXH

Investment holding
RAER
Investment holding
RAZR
Inactive

G

Provision of management
services

REERRS

Holding of trade and
service marks

REBSRRBAER

Trading of paper products

HEHRES

Inactive

G
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17

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEEE

Starlite Printers Limited

ERERIERAE

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI) Limited

Starlite Printers (China) Limited

ERERI(PE)ERAF

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (ii)

ERENRI (BM) AR 2 B0

Starlite Productions (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited

Starlite Productions Limited

EREEERAF

17 HEQRG&E)

Place of incorporation Issued and fully

and/or operations and paid capital/
kind of legal entity paid-in capital
SRR REEDH BRARMAR
REAERER RE/BEARE

Hong Kong, limited liability HK$2,700,000

company ordinary

BREEREMARA 2,700,0007 7T

TR R

HK$2,300,000

non-voting

deferred (i)

2,300,000/ 7T

ERER

ERRH )

British Virgin Islands, limited Uss1
liability company

AEAARFEEREARA 1%

British Virgin Islands, limited US$100
liability company

RBRARREEREALR 100% 7T

The PRC, limited liability US$20,000,000

company

FEEREEAT 20,000,000% 7T

British Virgin Islands, limited Uss$1
liability company

HEAARHEEREARA 1%

British Virgin Islands, limited US$256,420
liability company

RBEBRHSEREMRA  256420% T

Hong Kong, limited liability HK$3,000,000

company
BREEREMARA 3,000,000/ 7T

A M BRRME

Percentage of equity

interest held

FEREED

Directly
BE

Indirectly
Bk

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Principal activities

TEXH

Trading of packaging
materials

BENHES

Investment holding

RAER

Investment holding

RARR

Printing of packaging
materials and

production of paper
products and labels

BEMB DRI KRR
BERAE

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Inactive

mfEE
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17

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEEE

Guangzhou Starlite Environmental Friendly
Center, Limited (i)

BMEXRRELERAA)

Greenworks International Limited

SBETRERERAR

Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries Company
Limited (ii)

BREMEATIXERAR

Larsemann Intelligence System (Hong Kong)
Limited

A ERERA(RR)ERAR

Team Green (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System
(Shenzhen)Limited (ii)

BB A 2 B B A5 ORI B IR A B

Shenzhen TeamGreen Creative Design Co., Ltd (ii)

RY| %8 8 B R A B R

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and
kind of legal entity
EMRIRREEDH
REABBER

The PRC, limited liability
company

FEAEREEAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EEEREELH

The PRC, limited liability
company

FEEREEAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

TEBEREELH

Singapore, limited liability
company

FMREREERT

The PRC, limited liability
company

HEERELAT
The PRC, limited liability

company

FEEREEAT

e M BRRME

17 HEQRG&E)

Issued and fully
paid capital/
paid-in capital
BRARMAR
RE/BARE

US$6,000,000

6,000,000% T

HK$2

US$21,500,000

21,500,000 7

HK$10,000

10,000/ 7T

SGD10,000

10,0003 A3 7T

RMB5,000,000

5,000,000 A &

RMB1,500,000

1,500,000 A R #

Percentage of equity
interest held

FEREED
Directly Indirectly
=§:3 k3

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

— 100%

Principal activities

TEXH

Production of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

LERREHAMBBEER

Investment holding and
trading of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

REZREERRE K
BERES

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BEMHARNRAREE
Investment holding
REER

Trading of Team Green
products
Team GreenE R & 5

Trading and manufacturing
of machinery and
automated equipment

EERHERZRADL
8

Trading of Team Green
products
Team GreenE R & 5
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17  Subsidiaries (Continued) 17 KELQE (&)
Place of incorporation Issued and fully
and/or operations and paid capital/ Percentage of equity
Name of company kind of legal entity paid-in capital interest held Principal activities
HEMAIR/ REEHE BRITRBRE
ARER REABBER BE/EHRE FiERERD TEXK
Directly Indirectly
=§:3 k3
Team Green (Shanghai) Company Limited (ii) The PRC, limited liability RMB1,000,000 — 100%  Trading of Team Green
company products
LB EAIE R BR DA FEAERETAR 1,000,000A £ # Team GreenZ R & 5
Suzhou Team Green Home Products Limited (i) The PRC, limited liability RMB5,000,000 — 100%  Productions of Team
company Green products
MR BR 8 R 2 R0 FEEREEAR 5,000,000A R # Team GreenZ i 4
Legend Power International Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HK$1 — 100%  Property investment
company
EREEERAF EREREMLLR BT MERE
Notes: Bt 3
(i) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These (i) I EERRREEROIFARNEEESR - LFR
shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless HBYERER RIFFEABLAZ2AENBBE
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000 50,000,000,000% 7T * B RAIFFAE ABEZHRE MW
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a ERARBRE TERZEEASK BRIEFHEA
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant A [ 33 AR A% 3 2 9 R £150,000,000,00078 7T ©

company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

(ii) English names are for identification purpose. These subsidiaries were (ii) EVZBRAEHNBE LEWBLAF ATERKL
incorporated as Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise (“WFOE”) in PRC. ZHEBECE (I EBERE]D -
(iii) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time (iii) FEMBARRBE-_T-__F=A=+—HBI#F

during the year ended 31st March, 2022 (2021: Nil). EREABHYESRTERER(CZ_—F %)
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18

Financial assets at fair value through other 18
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and
financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss (“FVPL”)

e M BRRME

BAABEFAEGZEAKRENS
BMEERBEAOABESARENE

MEE

(@) FVOCI: (@@ BEAAEEFAHMGZEKRENS
BMEE:
2022 2021
—E-CF —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Financial instruments (level 1): EMITAEE—H)
— Equity securities listed in Hong — RERELTHREREES
Kong 1,435 1,510

Movement of FVOCI is analysed as follows:

BAABEFALEMZARENERME

EZEHHINWAT
2022 2021
—EBE-C—F —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT FET
At beginning of the year F 5 1,510 1,418
Fair value (losses)/gains on FVOCI BRARBEFAEMEE
WaH AR EEER)
W i (75) 92
At end of the year FR 1,435 1,510

The listed equity securities is denominated in Hong

Kong dollar.

EHERESAETTIINE
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18 Financial assets at fair value through other 18 RAABEFAHtZEAKENS
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and MEERRLAOABEIFTARENS
financial assets at fair value through profit or mMEE (&)
loss (“FVPL”) (Continued)

(b) FVPL: by BRLIABEFABEZNERMEE:
2022 2021
—E=-= —ETE-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Financial instruments (level 3): eMIE(E=HR)
— Unlisted insurance policy — LT RIBRRERE
investment 8,571 8,332
Movement of FVPL is analysed as follows: BAREBEFAEZNCREEZEZD
DT
2022 2021
—E=-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
At beginning of the year FH) 8,332 13,335
Disposals & — (5,217)
Fair value gains on FVPL BRARBEFABROHAR
BEKR 239 214
At end of the year FR 8,571 8,332
Note: W 5E
The unlisted insurance policy investment is denominated in United Lz REMRBILEAEITIIE -
States dollars.
The fair values of unlisted insurance policy investment are based on FETHRBRARERENAABERKARBRRE
cash flows discounted using a rate based on the current credit rate WERBXR/EEUFERRRER  (ZT=F:
of the insurance policies (2022: 4.1%; 2021: 4.1%). The fair values 41% —B - —F 1 41% ) AR EERAARBESE
are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3). BAE=ZMA (H:E3.3) ©
As at 31st March 2022, there were charges over certain of the R-E - —F=ZRF=+—RAAEEEFHTFZAR
Group’s FVPL of approximately HK$3,859,000 (2021: HK$3,769,000) BEABEN SR EEL3,859,0008 T (ZF=—
(Note 33). F 13,769,000 7T) (i £33) ©
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19

Inventories

Raw materials R
Work in progress &M
Finished goods B

The cost of inventories expensed and included in cost of
sales amounted to HK$489,214,000 (2021:
HK$471,856,000). During the year, the Group has written
back provision for inventory obsolescence of
approximately HK$4,703,000 (2021: provision for
HK$9,718,000), which was included in cost of sales and
as at 31st March, 2022, the amount of provision was
approximately HK$29,216,000 (2021: HK$33,096,000).

As at 3Tst March, 2022, there were no floating charges
over the Group’s inventories (2021: approximately
HK$4,218,000) to secure the trust receipts import bank

loan arrangements (Note 33).

e M BRRME

19 ®E

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
32,774 41,232
25,863 24,949
56,693 37,958
115,330 104,139

FERAKAA H4489,214,0008 T(=ZF = —
%+ 471,856,0007% 7T ) 51 1F F 2 30 51 A\ 856 K
AP o RNAFERN  NEESESTFERERE
[ # %94,703,0008 (= T = — F: & &
9,718,000/ 7T) * W BHE I ASHE KA F o
R-ZE-_—_FZA=+—HB BESEA
29,216,000/ ;L (= Z — —4F 33,096,000/
JT) °

RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—8 AE@MEH (=
T — — 4 : 494,218,0005 7T) 17 & 1% 15 FE W B
#OBITERLTHEREIT (M #E33) -
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20 Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 20 ESZEWERAREE - BARER
deposits re
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT FET
Trade receivables B 5 B ERER 187,705 191,130
Less: loss allowance o BB EE (15,244) (11,568)
Trade receivables — net BESRKER — F58 172,461 179,562
Bill receivables JE U 22 4% — 109
Trade and bill receivables ESRKERREE 172,461 179,671
Prepayments and deposits BNRERES 37,873 78,409
210,334 258,080
Less: Non-current portion: W SEBIEREL M -
Prepayments for non-current assets EMBEE ZTEMNK (9,130) (48,737)
201,204 209,343
The carrying amounts of trade and bill receivables, BOEMERANRZEE BNRERRSHNE
prepayments and deposits approximate their fair values. EENHEREAREE-
The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally SEETEEEEHAR —RRB3OKRE120RT
ranging from 30 to 120 days. The ageing of trade and bill E-BHRUREREREBZERRZERR)
receivables by invoice date is as follows: wm
2022 2021
—E=-= —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTERT TET
1 to 90 days 1£290K 154,978 147,990
91 to 180 days 91E180K 18,001 30,837
181 to 365 days 181E365K 6,843 819
Over 365 days B iE365K 7,883 11,593
187,705 191,239
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20 Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 20 ESZEWERAREE - BARER
deposits (Continued) rE (%)
The Group’s trade and bill receivables were denominated REEZEFREEFEEBEATINEESIE
in the following currencies:
2022 2021
—Zg=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET TET
HK$ AT 32,386 28,031
us$ ETT 99,719 110,864
RMB AR 27,353 31,022
SGD g T 9,209 6,953
RM BREETT 9,699 8,002
EUR BT 7,322 6,265
Others HAit 2,017 102
187,705 191,239
Movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are ZEoRBEREEBBE 2 ESHOT
as follows:
2022 2021
—E_-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET
As beginning of the year F ) 11,568 12,810
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance of trade & 5 JE Yt BR ZUE 18 B H
receivables #Zn, G ) 3,544 (1,557)
Translation adjustment ER AR 132 315
As end of the year FR 15,244 11,568
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to REBEREENBRELENFESFR 2 ELA
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime FEoBMBESRBBEREAKAELRERE
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The BHEzAANAERHACEESE REARX
detailed impairment approach is summarised in Note s MERME3Ab)A -
3.1(b).
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20 Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 20 ESZEWERAREE - BARER

deposits (Continued) rE (%)
The other classes within trade receivables, prepayments RESRBKENR  BRNREREZRSFHEAM
and deposits do not contain loss allowance. FRIN N EEEE -
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting RBEH FRBEEBEEKERO KRS EERR
date is the fair value of each class of receivables HEREAAREBE - AEEXN R FA E M
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral BEA -
as security.
21 Bank balances and cash 21 RITEFRRE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Cash and cash equivalents RBekBeFE 285,422 275,047
Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months ~ B3TF KRBT HEHBB=(EA
from date of deposits FEZBITER 202 201
Total bank balance and cash BT ERRBSBE 285,624 275,248
Maximum exposure to credit risk EaEERR 285,278 274,832
As at 31st March, 2022, the effective interest rate on cash RZE-_—_F=ZA=+—H RITEZLH
at bank and bank deposits with maturity over 3 months FRAERFAEBB=AAINPAZRITERZ
from date of deposits was 0.42% (2021: 0.15%). BRAEAFL042%(ZF=—F : 0.15%) °
Bank balances and cash were denominated in the BITHEFRBRSIRATERSIE
following currencies:
2022 2021
—E=-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET
HK$ BT 105,633 37,282
RMB AR 59,475 148,281
us$ 7T 78,440 73,126
EUR BT 29,842 7,289
SGD o oo 4,707 7,745
Others Efth 7,527 1,525
285,624 275,248
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21 Bank balances and cash (Continued) 21 ROTEERES (A)
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in FEBUARKIEZRERBESFEY
RMB of approximately HK$58,029,000 (2021: 58,029,000/ 7T (= T = — 4F : 145,327,000/
HK$145,327,000) are deposited with banks in the T)HEGFTHRRFRZRIT - GAREINEZLE
Mainland China. The conversion of these RMB HBMERIIEREEPRATREARAN
denominated balances into foreign currencies and the BT 2 SNEE BRI R RPIEE -

remittance of funds out of the Mainland China is subject
to the foreign exchange control rules and regulations
promulgated by the Government of The People’s Republic
of China.

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the BeRnEXRTHRLLRBLFEBE T
purposes of the statement of cash flows:

2022 2021

—E-= T —4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FET

Cash at bank and in hand RITEFHERS 285,422 275,047
22 Borrowings 22 ®E

2022 2021

—E-= T —4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FAET

Long-term bank loans REIRITER 135,091 114,240

Short-term bank loans HHSRITER 6,266 40,270

Trust receipts import bank loans Bt iR D RITER — 4,218

Total borrowings, secured, due on demand EEE pBERERESESN—
or within one year FUARNFNHz MEBE 141,357 158,728
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22

Borrowings (Continued)

At 31st March, 2022, the Group’s borrowings were
repayable as follows:

Within 1 year —FUR
Between 1 and 2 years —ZE2=FR
Between 2 and 5 years ZERFER
The above amounts due are based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and
ignore the effect of any repayment on demand clause.

As at 31st March, 2022 and 2021, the Group has
complied with its financial covenants of its borrowing
facilities.

Total borrowings include secured liabilities. Details of the
banking facilities of the Group and pledge of assets are
disclosed in Note 33.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of
the year are as follows:

6 months or less JNE A AR
Within 1 year —FUR
Over 1 year iR —F

A M BRRME

22

& (&)
RZE-_—F=ZA=+—"H AEEZHE
BRI

2022 2021
—EB-=F T —F
HK$/000 HK$’000
FHET F#& T
49,952 97,322
32,938 28,781
58,467 32,625
141,357 158,728

ERFRIBZEHARREBEE R G AT AL
EZEBRBH R TEERERKZRERK

R2TE-
R R -T-—F=A=+—HK
SECHEHERBEEMNMBROEZR

MEREEECEFAEGE FEENRTE
EHEABREEREENM AP HRE -

AREZBARFHEEEREORE T EY
BRANENHEABMT

2022 2021
—E-= —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
80,067 93,307
6,265 40,265
55,025 25,156
141,357 158,728
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22

Borrowings (Continued)

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were

denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT
RMB AR
Us$ ETT

The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of

reporting period were as follows:

HK$

BT

Long-term bank loans REIRITER 2.75%

Short-term bank loans REERITE N —
Trust receipts import bank EREWRE D IRTT

loans B® —

e M BRRME

22 @& (E|E)
PTME T REME IR T EH5E

2022 2021
B8 —E - —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHT
80,067 91,277
55,025 65,421
6,265 2,030
141,357 158,728

RBEBERAZBERFENENT

2022 2021
—E-C—& —E-—4F
RMB uUsS$ HK$ RMB us$
AR® Ee Br AR Y

5.05% — 2.60% 5.10% —
— 2.50% — 4.84% 1.86%

— — 4.75% — 4.45%
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23 Trade, bill and other payables and accruals 23 BEZRENERR EBREMENSK
UREStRE

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade payables 2 5 RN ERR 98,932 135,748
Bill payables JE 1< 4% 802 1,094
Trade and bills payables BEoRNERRER 99,734 136,842
Accrued salaries and allowance JEIR T & MERL 15,318 16,919
Accrued social securities charges BRESRRER 47,294 54,227
Accrued staff welfare FEIREIRER 3,357 4,707
Others Efth 23,550 26,949
Other payables and accruals HithENHR & ETEE 89,519 102,802
189,253 239,644

The ageing analysis of trade and bill payables is as ZEORNERRERREDTOT

follows:

2022 2021
B T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERx FET
1 to 90 days 1£290K 96,051 125,582
91 to 180 days 91£E180K 2,113 7,589
181 to 365 days 181E365K 713 163
Over 365 days HBiB365K 857 3,508
99,734 136,842
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23 Trade, bill and other payables and accruals 23 BEZRENERN EBREMENSK

(Continued) R ESEE (E)
The Group’s trade, bill and other payables and accruals AEBEZESRMNER  REREAMERK
NREAABATIER.SE:

were denominated in the following currencies:

2022 2021

—E-CF T —F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

HK$ BT 26,811 21,095
RMB AR 147,277 200,770
us$ EIT 943 1,249
RM BARAEETT 9,395 11,476
Others Efth 4,827 5,054
189,253 239,644

24 Deferred income tax 24 EEFRBH
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax BRIEMEHEERELEREREEN DTN
liabilities is as follows: T

2022 2021

—E-—F T4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FAET

Deferred tax assets RIEFTISRE E 11,169 1,769
Deferred tax liabilities BREERAE (890) (1,688)
Deferred tax assets, net BREFMSHMEE — F8 10,279 81
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24 Deferred income tax (Continued) 24 EZEFEH (&)
The net movements in the deferred tax account are as FEEFERFB2ESHFBOT :
follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FHT
At beginning of the year F ) 81 (3,832)
Credited to the consolidated income RiEE WK A
statement (Note 11) GEIRD) 10,127 3,930
Translation adjustments E R 71 17)
At end of the year FR 10,279 81
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities BEFMESHEERBBZZESH (W RFTERR
without taking into consideration the offsetting of —EBR AR T
balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:
Deferred tax assets: BRIEFTIEMEE «
Provisions Tax losses Total
BE BEER o]
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

—EB--f —T-—F ZB--F —T-—F B —T-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET FTHERT FHT FHERT FAET

At beginning of the year F1) 1,770 1,604 703 1,626 2,473 3,230
Credited/(charged) to the Riza &P

consolidated income statement A GOk) 9,315 58 (160) (923) 9,155 (865)
Translation adjustments ERBE 86 108 - 86 108

At end of the year FR 11,171 1,770 543 703 11,714 2,473
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24 EEMRBE (K)
A S BB

24 Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities:

Accelerated taxation

Withholding Tax depreciation Total
RS MEHBNE L
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

—EB--fF —T-_—F ZB-Z-HF —T-_—F ZB=Z=HF —ZT-_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTAET FAT FHET FAT FHET FHET

At beginning of the year F9) 1,633 5,369 759 1,693 2,392 7,062
Credited to the consolidated REFEWRERBEFA

income statement 910) (3,861) (62) (934) 972) (4,795)
Translation adjustments EREE 15 125 — — 15 125
At end of the year FX 738 1,633 697 759 1,435 2,392

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss to
the extent that the reduction of the related tax benefit

through future taxable profits is payable.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$42,108,000 (2021: HK$46,953,000) in
respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that the deferred tax assets can be
utilised. Out of the total, approximately HK$27,176,000
(2021: HK$25,703,000) in respect of tax losses that can
be carried forward indefinitely to set off against future
taxable income and the remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$17,461,000 (2021: HK$17,173,000)
will expire in 2022 to 2026 (2021: 2021 to 2025). The
estimated tax losses are subject to approval by the
relevant tax authorities.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the
companies established in the PRC to their foreign
investors starting from 1st January, 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax

treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign

investors. All dividends coming from the profits generated
by the PRC entities after Tst January, 2008 shall be

subject to this withholding income tax.

EEAUREBARERNGENERBHHIEA
MNal gl EERABRRIETHRE
MERE -

FAREFMGBHEAETSHER AEBUXK
BRENTEEBRINREHEZEZNE
EFTB R E E#42,108,0008 T (Z T =~ — 4 :
46,953,000% L) - BB R E R - B BB L
27,176,000 7L (— & — —4F : 25,703,0007% 7T)
AR AR ERRERBTRA - H
# B 75 B 18 #917,461,00008 T (Z & = — £ ¢
17,173,000 T) R T _—_Fx2_ =%
ARFER ZCEZ—F: T —FE-F
ZEHF) HEBEEEIARNEEAREER
M= -

RE_ZZLFT_AXNBEMBHHREAR
AMBEERSHEBEGEN R_2FN
F-A—HRB MARTERINGEY
FHMREE D KBS ABKI0%TEREFTER
an R B EL B SNR B T R0 B B M (R RR AT S R
B —ERENERASHEEEER-FH
RPBEKRINEESR-_ZETNF—HA—H
BEMEBAFEORS AU TARMAEH
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. e = &)
25 Amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary 25 ER-MEARBERFHRE
2022 2021
—=E=-= —T-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Non-current portion 3 7 B 2B 45
Amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary B —KIE AR E H KA
(Note a) (Bf3%a) — 154,065
Current portion Tt By 38 4
Amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary EN—WEARE S MRIE
(Note b) (B 5Eb) — 69,692
— 223,757

Notes: W 5T :

(a) Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the major shareholder of (a) REBRBEEBHE BEINTERRIRR T _2F
the purchaser lent RMB136,800,000 (equivalent to approximately M A+ 1 HfEH AR %136,800,0007T (16 & 5 4
HK$162,009,000) to the Group on 15th April, 2020. The amount is 162,009,000/ /L) W ERMAAKM  ZEHERES
non-interest bearing and repayable within two years from the EEREBREHEAMFAEE-HERNE
drawdown date. The imputed interest of HK$14,361,000 is 14,361,000 TE K #HBR BE2_T=-_—_F=A4
unwound, incurring a finance cost of HK$7,944,000 for the year =+ —BIEFEEERERKAR7944,0008 T (ZF
ended 31st March, 2022 (2021: HK$6,417,000). The loan is not T 6,417,000 ) c T ZIE LG AKE
required to be repaid by the Group if the disposal is completed. mABBRZER - HEZMNBRAN T Z—FX
The disposal of the subsidiary was completed on 8th June, 2021. ERANCEE P

(b) Pursuant to the Equity Transfer Agreement, the Group is entitled to (b) REAREE E G RO T IR ERE  AEEAR
receive an initial payment of RMB63,200,000 (equivalent to Y BE B A R #63,200,0007T (1 & 2 4
approximately HK$69,692,000) after certain conditions were fulfilled. 69,692,000 ) c R ZET_TF=A=+—H &
As at 31st March, 2020, the Group received an amount of &£ B 2 WEAI11,112,00078 7T (B 15 7 H 4th & 1 50 &
approximately HK$11,112,000 which was included in other payables EERER) R -TFMA N\ BRI AR
and accruals. After the shareholders’ approval on 8th April,2020, the AEBR_FT_ZTFMA+EBAKRIHKIAD
remaining amount of approximately HK$58,580,000 was received by 58,580,000/ 7T « B HEZMBARN T = —FX
the Group on 14th April, 2020. The amount was recognised as part ANBXRETHKE ZRXEBRZRERMAEN —
of the consideration received when the disposal of the subsidiary B o
was completed on 8th June, 2021.
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25 Amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary
(Continued)

The amount due to a purchaser of a subsidiary was

denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT
RMB AR

Details of the disposal are disclosed in Note 31.

26 Share capital

Authorised: EERA

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each &R H0.10/8 ;T2
Rl

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:

As at Tst April, 2020, RZEZZ
31st March, 2021 —_=——

Share repurchases fig 7 45 o

e M BRRME

25 EN-—HMEBLARAESHKREE

JEN — B ARETHFIBI T EEIE:

2022 2021
—EC-CF T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET

— 69,692

— 154,065

— 223,757

HEZF BR3P HE -

26 BAE
2022 2021
—E-CHF —E - —4F

Number of Number of
shares shares
BROHE VR =

000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$'000

F R FHET F & FAET

1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000

Tak 2ROTROAR:

Number of
shares Share capital
R & #EE @S
HK$’000
TR

mA—H

=A=+—8” 525,135,288 52,514
(6,500,000) (650)

As at 31st March, 2022 RZE-_—F=A=+—H 518,635,288 51,864
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26

27

Share capital (Continued)

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, the Company
repurchased and cancelled all 6,500,000 shares of
HK$0.1 each in the capital of the Company at prices
ranging from HK$0.295 to HK$0.340 per share on the
Stock Exchange.

Employee share options

On 15th August, 2012, the Company adopted an
employee share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) to replace the old share option scheme adopted
on 6th September, 2002. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Company may grant options to employees
(including Executive Directors and Non-Executive
Directors (excluding Independent Non-Executive Directors)
of the Company) to subscribe for shares in the Company,
subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal value of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time excluding for this purpose any shares issued on the
exercise of options. The exercise price will be determined
by the Company’s board of directors and shall be at least
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant of the options, (ii) an average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
options, and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares of HK$0.1 each. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options

in cash.

No share option was granted during the years ended
31st March, 2022 and 2021. No share options were
outstanding as at 31st March, 2022 and 2021.

A M BRRME

26

27

B A (4&)
RZEZZF=ZA=Z=+—BHLEFER AR
7] LA B A% 8 B (80.29578 7T £0.34078 7T R BE
I B8 0] K2 7% 85 AR 2 &) B AN AR A 2£6,500,0008%
SREEIE T KRG

EBEBRE

RZZB-——FNAT+HEB ARARH—E
BRERESB(TEREABDUDRANR -F
ZFAARBRAZEBRESE - BRI
BREAIA2FAIMET(BREARRZH
TEEMFRTEEF(TRBEBLIIFNITESR))
EHBREUARBEARARND MAHTZ
BOBERZRARATIKEETRMNZ
30%  ENEHERETTEREAREN T 2D o
RBEMAARFAZEERETE  ETATER
UT=ZBEz&eE  ORELBHAQEKN
ZHHE (ARBROREZER DL B HA
TEEZERZBRO FHKTE: Rii)E R F
Mty 2 T B (BN 8 B0 18 7o) » A & B I 8K
ERHERETREANRS MU SHARME -

A — T —F=ZR=+—8H1

FEA TERHEMERE - R_T-—
TR -F=ZA=t+t-RAEEHRITED
B -
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28 Reserves 28 f#fw
Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
Share Capital Statutory revaluation  Translation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
BRAEE
AR
FERED
EREEL
BinEB  EARB  AERE EfFEE  EAEGB  REEN Fok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEL FEL FET FEL FEL FEL FEL
As at 31st March, 2020 and  RZZT_TF
Tst April, 2020 ZA=ZT-8k
—Z-ZFMA—A 127,796 1,792 19,040 682 14,705 232,062 396,077
Comprehensive loss 2EER
Loss attributable to the WNGIE 2N L 3
owners of the Company — — — — — (98,525) (98,525)
Other comprehensive Hit2ER#
income
Increase in fair value of BOAEEF AL
financial assets at fair FERENEREE
value through other ZRAEEEM
comprehensive income — — — 92 — — 92
Currency translation EXER
differences — — — — 34,569 — 34,569
Total comprehensive loss for AF2EEBAE
the year — — — 92 34,569 (98,525) (63,864)
Transactions with the HERRERALZ
owners in their capacity BEARS
as owners
Transfer to statutory reserve  EEZEEHEE — — 471 — — (471) —
Dividends paid BERRE — — — — — (31,508) (31,508)
— — 471 92 34,569 (130,504) (95,372)
As at 31st March, 2021 R-T-—4F
ZA=+-H 127,796 1,792 19,511 774 49274 101,558 300,705
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28 Reserves (Continued) 28 f#fE (&)
Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
Share Capital Statutory revaluation  Translation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
RDREE
A
2EKEN
tREER
R 105 8 EXRE EERE EfffRE EXiRE REEF BaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR TET TR TET TET
As at 31st March, 2021 and R-ZT=-—%
Tst April, 2021 ZA=F+-8k
—E--FMA-B 127,79 1,792 19,511 774 49,274 101,558 300,705
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit attributable to the KRAHEE ANEEET
owners of the Company — — — — — 357,473 357,473
Other comprehensive Hit2m K
income
Decrease in fair value of BRARBEFTALL
financial assets at fair 2EMENEHEE
value through other ZRABERD
comprehensive income — - - (75) - - (75)
Currency translation EREZR
differences — — — — 19,895 — 19,895
Total comprehensive income HF2HKEAE
for the year — — — (75) 19,895 357,473 377,293
Transactions with the HERRERALZ
owners in their capacity EEARS
as owners
Transfer to statutory reserve & Z AT HE — — 6,521 — — (6,521) —
Transfer to retained earnings 1 i & — i B 2 716
upon disposal of a BREERBER
subsidiary - - (7,099) - - 7,099 -
Dividends paid Bk E — — — — — (57,765) (57,765)
Share repurchases B ER (1,452) — — — — — (1,452)
(1,452) - (578) 75) 19,895 300,286 318,076
As at 31st March, 2022 RZZ-—%
=ZR=+-8 126,344 1,792 18,933 699 69,169 401,844 618,781
Note:  As stipulated by the relevant PRC laws and regulations applicable to M REARADARTERIREENHE QRN
the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC, the BUAGIROERMTE  MAMBRARFTHERRERT (B
subsidiaries are required to make appropriation from profit after tax HEURIFENER) DIREEERHB - WEPED
(after offsetting prior years’ losses) to statutory reserve. The PRC EFHETENGEFRAUERERELFNEZ
entities are required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit as 10%ZEEERHBE BEENREETHBEENE QA
determined under the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to their B a1 T & A #950% © 1tk 0K 5E T LA 3 4 DA BT R
statutory reserve. The appropriations to the statutory reserve are FEEBBABITAR AR BRFEKLNE
required until the balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered RAABE - EERERT RS IR REEDZRE

capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior year
losses or be utilised for issuance of bonus shares. The Company’s
PRC subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of
their reserve either in the form of dividends, loans or advances.
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29 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 29 #HFREREREXRKE
flows
(@) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before income (@ BRBIARF(FE) BLEEKT
tax to cash used in operations: AREZHE:
2022 2021
—EC-CF T —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
Profit/(loss) before income tax BEREF (E8E) 350,341 (93,264)
Adjustments for: ETHHE
— Interest income — FBEUA (465) (16,072)
— Interest expense — AEXWH 17,545 10,623
— Depreciation of property, plant —ME BERERBZ
and equipment (Note 14) e (fFat14) 41,467 46,786
— Depreciation of investment — REWEZFE
properties (Note 15) (B 3E15) 510 —
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets — {FRABEEZITE
(Note 16) (FifsE16) 6,309 6,080
— Losses/(gains) on disposals of — LEME HELRE
property, plant and equipment ZEE, ()
(Notes 6 and 29(b)) (P 26 %229(b) ) 1,219 (10,968)
— Gains on disposals of right-of-use ~ — HEFEAEEEZ W&
assets (Notes 6 and 29(c)) (P 526 5229(c)) (6,566) —
— Gains on disposals of equity —HE—2BWBERAZ
interest in a wholly owned Mo AR HE R Wz
subsidiaries (Notes 6 and 31) (M 5F6531) (483,315) —
— Provision/(reversal) of impairment — SRMEEREERE
losses on financial assets B, (B #) 3,544 (1,557)
— (Write back)/provision for — REFEREREEB
inventories obsolescence (B /B (M 7)
(Note 7) (4,703) 9,718
— Provision for impairment of o E N E N
property, plant and equipment B (M eE7)
(Note 7) 37,977 784
— Written off of property, plant and ~ — Y BFE L& E
equipment (Note 6) (Kt =E6) 20,853 3,900
— Net fair value gains on financial — BARBEFAERY
assets at fair value through TRMEEZAABEEK
profit or loss (Notes 6 and w5 (M 76 5218(b))
18(b)) (239) (214)
— Net gain on disposal of financial — HERAABEAE
assets at fair value through A ERREE 2 W s
profit or loss (Note 6) F R (MY 5E6) — (635)
(15,523) (44,819)
Changes in working capital (excluding #E& ¢ &8 (TRIEFERH
effects of translation adjustments) BOZE)
— Inventories — 78 (2,858) 632
— Trade and bill receivables — BHORWEREERE 5,293 (19,940)
— Prepayments and deposits — ENFRERERS 1,862 (5,977)
— Trade and bill payables — BHRNERRER (40,883) 44,598
— Other payables and accruals — HEthEN R REEE (10,596) (50,090)
— Deferred revenue — ETUA — (805)
Cash used in operations KEEBEHMAZES (62,705) (76,401)
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29 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash
flows (Continued)
(b) In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from

disposal of property, plant and equipment
comprise:

Net book value BREDEE
(Losses)/gains on disposals of property,

plant and equipment (Note 6)

Proceeds from disposals of property,

plant and equipment 15 WA

(c) In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from
disposal of right-of-use assets comprise:

Net book value

Gains on disposals of right-of-use assets (Note 6)

Proceeds from disposals of right-of-use assets

(d) Non-cash transactions
Non-cash investing activities disclosed in other
notes are the acquisition of right-of-use assets (Note

16) and the imputed interest expense from amount

due to a purchaser of a subsidiary (Note 25).

A M BRRME

29 HLEBRESHREXRKETE)

(b)y MNRSRVEXRN HEWE BWHEER
BZFBRABREE:

HEME  BEE&EZ
(E18) ez (M ite)

Hj’%%% R Rtz

2022 2021
—EC-C8F —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
6,227 8,156
(1,219) 10,968
5,008 19,124
() RELREXRAN LEFEREEEZM
N ONEE
2022
—EBE-_F
HK$’000
FET
BRTEDFE 3,160
B R A E 2 s (R sEe) 6,566
HEFERBEEEZSERA 9,726

d FREXS
REMHERERENIIERSBEZTH AR
EFEAREE (Mitie) REMN—HEQ
RIBEAMREEES 2 HEF BT W (W
£25) o
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29 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 29 HLEBRESHREXRKETE)
flows (Continued)

(e) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation ) BHE (ARBYE
This section sets out an analysis of net cash/(debt) REHIFRE (BE)IWREFT
and the movements in net cash/(debt) for each of FENIFEES (BE)EF-

the years presented.

2022 2021
B8 —E - —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FET
Net cash/(debt) FHRe(AE)
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFE 285,422 275,047
Borrowings A (141,357) (158,728)
Amount due to a purchaser of a JE < — Bt B8~ R B 5 B9 AR IR
subsidiary — (223,757)
Bill payables e =45 (802) (1,094)
Lease liabilities HEAE (6,031) (7,140)
137,232 (115,672)
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFE 285,422 275,047
Gross debt — fixed interest rates BE — EE R (6,265) (40,265)
Gross debt — variable interest rates mER — IR X (135,092) (118,463)
Amount due to a purchaser of a B —MEBRRE 8 FHIE
subsidiary — (223,757)
Bill payables B R % (802) (1,094)
Lease liabilities HEAE (6,031) (7,140)

Net cash/(debt) FHE (AaE) 137,232 (115,672)
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29 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

flows (Continued)

(e)

Net cash/(debt) reconciliation (Continued)

Net cash as at 1st April, 2020

Acquisition — Lease

Termination — Lease

Transferred from other payables
and accruals (Note 25(b))

Cash flows
Foreign exchange adjustments
Interest — Lease

Net imputed interest income

Net debt as at
31st March, 2021

RZZ_ZTFMA
—BZERE

g —HE

B — Mg

B H A R
BitAEEZE
(B #£25(b))

RenE

S EE 3 B

e — Mg

CESR €

RZTEZ—F=A
=+—-HZz3%&fR&

A M BRRME

29 HLEBRESHREXRKETE)

) FRE(AEHERGE
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HittEE METHELEZERE
Amount
due to
a purchaser
Borrowings of a Bill Lease
Cash  and loans  subsidiary payables liabilities Total
BN —KR
PV
Re BMERER RE EGEE HESE mE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET TR FET FET TR FET
232,199 (122,246) — — (7,129) 102,824
— — — — (5,038) (5,038)
— — — — 257 257
— — (11,112) — — (11,112)
6,839 (32,858) (208,302) (1,094) 5,431 (229,984)
36,009 (3,624) (12,287) — (403) 19,695
— — — — (258) (258)
— — 7,944 — — 7,944
275,047 (158,728) (223,757) (1,094) (7,140) (115,672)
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29 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

30

flows (Continued)

(e) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation (Continued)

Net debt as at 1st April, 2021

Acquisition — Lease

Cash flows

Foreign exchange adjustments
Interest — Lease

Net imputed interest expenses

Net cash as at

31st March, 2022

R-ZE-—FNA
—BZFEERE

e — AE

Reme

HNEE B

Fle — Mg

HEREL I FE

R-B-_—€=A
=t+—-B2zEFE&

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Other assets

R

LR E E LR

29 HEREREBRME ()

() FRE/(AFHEKE

Liabilities from financing activities

HittEE BMETHELEZEE

Amount

due to

a purchaser

Borrowings of a Bill Lease

Cash  and loans  subsidiary payables liabilities Total

S —KE

NABEHH
Re BMERER RE EGEE HESE i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TExT FERT FTERT TExT FERT FTERT
275,047  (158,728)  (223,757) (1,094) (7,140)  (115,672)
— - — — 4,401) (4,401)
(5,340) 19,984 235,778 292 5780 256,494
15,715 (2,613) 4,077) — (46) 8,979
— — — — (224) (224)
— — (7,944) — — (7,944)
285,422 (141,357) — (802) (6,031) 137,232

30 BE-—HMEAF

Asset acquisition of Legend Power International

Limited (“Legend Power”)

On Tst June, 2021, the Group completed the acquisition

of 100% equity interests of Legend Power at a cash

consideration of approximately HK$15,647,000. Legend

Power is principally engaged in property investment in

Hong Kong and holds a property in Hong Kong.

As the above newly acquired company did not operate

any business prior to the date of acquisition, the Group

considers the nature of the acquisition as acquisition of

assets in substance and the consideration is attributable

to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

WEEZBFEBRERATD(ERFNZ2EE

RZFE_—FRXA—HB AEB=XKEZ
FE100% M B AN 2 - 32 R (E 415,647,00078
T ZBNIEEFARNEEREVMELH

B-EZREENYE -

B 7 bt R U R A X B RO WEE BB AT T K
EHMER AEER/RBNUEEERLE
RUBEE UERREREENSWENE

BIEERMAEAENAE-
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30 Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued) 30 WEB-—KEBAF (A
Asset acquisition of Legend Power International WBEBEBERQIBA(EBNZEE
Limited (“Legend Power”) (Continued) (&)
The following table summarises the consideration paid for RZWER  EXKRBORE WHEEER
the acquisition, the fair value of assets acquired and FAREBZAARBEREZNOT -

liabilities assumed at the acquisition date.

Total
B
HK$'000
FTHERT
Purchase consideration g R E
Fair value of cash consideration ReEREFZANEE 15,647
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and A ## 5l 2 Wi & & R P& E B &
liabilities assumed: EHERTHE:
Investment property REMHE 15,703
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TR IR R Ko E i FE R 1
Other payables and accruals HihENHRRETEE (57)
Net assets acquired BEWEEENFE 15,647
Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in BEWE B AR ZRE K
respect of acquisition of a subsidiary: ReEEBEFRE 2D
Cash consideration paid EXRRERER 15,647
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired W ERGzZREMBRSEE —
Net cash outflow b2 o e 15,647
The fair values of acquired deposits and other receivables T EESNReREBERFINRIRE
arising from the above acquisition approximate their BEARSHREERNKREE -

respective carrying values.
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31

Completion of very substantial disposal of a

subsidiary
On 21st February, 2020, the Group and an independent
third party — Alps Enterprises Limited (the “Purchaser”)
entered into an agreement (the “Equity Transfer
Agreement”) pursuant to which the Group conditionally
agreed to sell, and the Purchaser conditionally agreed to
purchase, the entire equity interest of an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company — Starlite
Printers (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (“Starlite Shenzhen”) at a
consideration of RMB319,200,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$378,070,000).

Shenzhen is regarded as a very substantial disposal (the

The sale of Starlite

“Transaction”), and it was approved by the shareholders
on 8th April, 2020.

Pursuant to the Transaction, the major shareholder of the
Purchaser (the “Lender”) lent RMB136,800,000 (equivalent
to HK$166,086,000) (the “Loan”) to Starlite Shenzhen.
The Loan is not required to be repaid if the Transaction
is completed.
The Group received the initial
RMB63,200,000 and the Loan in April 2020. Subsequent

to the receipt of the initial payment and the Loan, the

payment of

Group has commenced the relocation and restructuring
plan. The Transaction is expected to be completed 18
months from the date of receipt of the initial payment

and the Loan.

The Group recognised total restructuring costs paid and
payable amounted to HK$89,408,000 for year ended
31st March, 2021.

Disposal have been satisfied and completion took place

All completion conditions of the

on 8th June, 2021 (the “Completion Date”) in accordance
with the terms and conditions of the Equity Transfer
Agreement.
consideration in the amount of RMB256,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$308,378,000).

The Group received balance of the

Upon the Completion Date of the Transaction, the actual

payment of restructuring costs was amounted to
HK$89,643,000.

e M BRRME

31

REZTHAEE—HBARZHEEE
AREESE

RZEZEF_AZ+—H AEBEHE—
BAUFE=F — BECEBRARN(TERDE
Y—himE((REEEHRE]) Bt A5H
AEEKRHELEE MESREBEKRHEBEER
FENRICRYD BR AR (TE K FI]) - NAF]
FE2EMNBARANEZEBRAEZ REA
A FR#319,200,0007T (18 & 7 £9378,070,000/%
L) HEEXFIBRAFETERLESTE (%
BRZ]) ZEXHGEERIR T _FF
mANBBLE

RIEZBEXS BFMmEERE(ER]D - &
i A R %136,800,0007T K B X (H & K 4
166,086,000/ 7T) ([:Z E 3 ]) 45 2 &Y - @0
TERZIER S  ZEREEEE-

AEEER-_Z-TFMAKRIEHETRA
R #63,200,0007T & 3% B 3+ 5 U B B BB A 5k
kzERE AEECERRBREMAS
BHZEXSRNRIEHNREZERES
&8 A AR -

RZFE-_—F=ZAZ+—HLEFE Fx&£E
R E T & FE (S E 4 B A 48 £0489,408,0007%
JL e M ER FTA 2 \*IJEEJZW%@E%%ER R
BRESBZHZETOERELESE RZ2F

fi/\ﬂ/\ﬂ(fx%nﬁJzEIHHJ)“*InﬁzO
AEEE W B E &% KA R256,000,0007T
(#8 & 7 49308,378,0047%8 1) °

HEZEX SN E KA
48 & F 589,643,000% T °

ERENE
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31

Completion of very substantial disposal of a
subsidiary (Continued)

Starlite Shenzhen is the borrower of the Loan and the
Group would not assume the obligations to repay the

Loan.

Following completion, Starlite Shenzhen has ceased to be

a subsidiary of the Company.

The gain on disposal arising from the Transaction is as

follow:

Loan from owner of the Purchaser contemplated under
the Loan Agreement
Considerations as stated in the Equity Transfer

Agreement

Less:
Tax and related expenses in connection with the

Disposal

Less:
Carrying amount of remaining assets and liabilities of

Starlite Shenzhen as at Completion Date

Gain on disposal, net

A M BRRME

31

REZREE-—MBLARAZHEE
AEEEEE)
EXRYBZEROBERA A EEY T &
EEERERNEE -

REZEKE  EXFRINETBAARRD R KM
Bam] e

ZERSGELEZHERBEWT

HK$’000
FHT
ExmEE THaE  EEAREZ
B 166,086
fRiEEERREMRAE
378,070
544,156
VoA
HEEEEANHBEREREAX
(32,536)
511,620
Dok
RRETKEBERNFINEHREER
BEZEEE (28,305)
HEWE - FE 483,315
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32 Commitment

(a)

(b)

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of
reporting period contracted but not yet incurred is

as follows:

Authorised and contracted for: A RE E
Machinery 28
Construction in progress EEIR
Others Hits
Operating lease commitments

As a lessee

The Group leases offices, warehouses and
dormitories under non-cancellable operating leases
expiring within 1 to 2 years. From 1st April, 2019,
the Group has recognised right-of-use assets for
these leases, except for short term leases, see Note

2.20 for further information.

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases not recognised as right-of-use
assets in the consolidated financial statements are

as follows:

Amounts payable 3R
— within one year — —FURA

e M BRRME

32 &M
(@) EREE
ARE R ERRAD T OBDRA
ZEXRRZWT :
2022 2021
—F== -
HK$/000 HK$'000
FH7 F
AR
45,001 34,846
— 42,448
1,762 695
46,763 77,989

(b) REHERE
ERABA
REBATABUENEEHERAZE
MER REREL HOAR—E=M
F-H-ZE-NAFOA-—BE BREH
BN AEERIALSHESEBE
BE FBHEL2EME2.20

RIEEUBRENZAERREREE
EN TR EHEEHEE 2 R RREMR

EfRMT
2022 2021
—E_-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
903 1,110
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A M BRRME

32 Commitment (Continued) 32 A&¥E(E)
(b) Operating lease commitments (Continued) (b) KREHEREGE)
As a lessor 1ER H A
The investment properties are leased to tenants REWMENKEHEHHGHEF &S
under operating leases with rental payments every A% & -
month.
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of HHEKREME ZERWEENRET :
investment properties are as follows:
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Within 1 year —F R 1,147 —
Between 1 and 2 years —ZEWMENRN 1,134 —
Between 2 and 3 years —E=FRN 1,134 —
Over 3 years and within 5 years BE=ZFRIRAF 234 —
3,649 —
33 Banking facilities and pledge of assets 33 BITEEEREEERR

As at 31st March, 2022, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$324,459,000 (2021:
HK$259,466,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing
and bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same
date amounted to approximately HK$183,103,000 (2021:
HK$100,738,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s buildings with net
book value of approximately HK$42,138,000 (2021:
HK$43,268,000) (Note 14(c));

(i) mortgages over the Group’s investment properties
with net book value of approximately

HK$2,193,000 (2021: Nil) (Note 15);

(iii)  mortgages over the Group’s leasehold land with a

net book value of approximately HK$1,370,000
(2021: HK$2,026,000) (Note 16(iii));

RZFE_—_FZA=Z+—H AEBEERH
2HEX BER EBEH5MERBITERIRITE

B 4 58 49324,459,00008 T(= T = — £ :
259,466,000 70) - IRFE B M A B A Z R1T715
B % #49183,103,0008 m(= T = — &

100,738,000/ 7T) » It HF R 1TE E & 2 T a0
—F:

(i)  ANEEREFEL42,138,0008 T (= F
= — £F 1 43,268,000/ TT) 2 12 F 1R 18
(F 5E14(c) )

(i) AKEBERE®EFEL2,193,0008 T (=ZF
ZF R)ZREWMELRB(MEE15):

(i) 7% B BRE F(E 491,370,000 T (= F
— — % 12,026,000/ v) 2 A& + 1%
8 (M st 16(ii) )
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33

34

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

(Continued)

(iv)  no floating charges over the Group’s inventories
held under trust receipts import bank loan
arrangements (2021: approximately HK$4,218,000)
(Note 19);

(v)  guarantees provided by the Company and certain

of its subsidiaries; and

(vi)  charges over the Group’s FVPL with fair value of
approximately HK$3,859,000 (2021: HK$3,769,000)
(Note 18(b)).

Related party transactions

As at 31st March, 2022, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu beneficially
owned approximately 39.13% (2021: 38.63%) of the
Company’s ordinary shares. Ms. Yeung Chui beneficially
owned approximately 15.60% (2021: 15.41%) of the
Company’s ordinary shares. Both Mr. Lam and Ms. Yeung

are directors of the Company.

(@) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the following

transaction was carried out with related parties:

e M BRRME

33 MITFERREEEN (H)

(ivy, ZAEBTEFARETLWIREQRITE
REH 2 HFEE(ZTZ—F:8
4,218,0007% 7T) (M 5£19) 5

v) ARARHEETHERBMERMHZE
R R

(viy 3 Q2 B {E 493,859,000 (= T
= — % 13,769,000 ;) Z AR EIERQ
REBEEFABEZ B E ENZE
18(b)) ©

3 BEALIZXRES
RZEZZF=ZR=+—HB MruErtEH
BARRNFIHZB913% (ZF = — 4 :38.63%) K
LB - BRLTEHE AR T 415.60%
ZEZ—F1541% )M EBBRRG - M
ERBRETZ A RARRAGES -

(@) KBEERGEMBHRREMIOIN T
SIREEBEATETZIRS

2022 2021
—E-= —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T
Transactions related to lease with: EREENRKS
— Ms. Yeung Chui (Note 1) — BR L (5E)
e Payment of lease liabilities «HEBMFENK 82 83
e Interest element of lease liabilities «THEBENEHH 2 3
— Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Note 2) — MRy s A& (M EE2)
e Rental income o HE WA 143 —
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34 Related party transactions (Continued) 3 BEALZXS (&)
(@) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the @ KBEERGAEVEREREMITMHI T

consolidated financial statements, the following
transaction was carried out with related parties:
(Continued)

Notes:

1. The Group entered into an operating lease agreement with
Ms. Yeung Chui. The transaction was carried out in the
usual course of business, and in accordance with the terms
of the contract entered into by the Group and the related
party. Under HKFRS 16 — Lease, the operating lease has
been recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
lease liability. Cash outflow to Ms. Yeung Chui during the
year ended 31st March, 2022 represented the repayment of
lease liabilities and interest expenses.

2. The Group entered into an operating lease agreement with
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu. The transaction was in accordance
with the terms of the contract entered into by the Group
and the related party. Cash inflow from Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
during the year ended 31st March, 2022 represented the
lease rental income.

(b) Key management compensation (b)

Basic salaries, allowances and others — EAR#H & 2L & H A

Discretionary bonus BHRE 2L

Pension costs — defined contribution — BARK A — FFE HREHE
plans

FIRBEEANLTETZRS  (B)

1. AEBEGR LT ELERARH - L
RHVE-MEBEHR - RIBAKEL2EE
ALHFTARZIGTET REFBEMBR
EREAFIeH — HE CLEHERRAE
REAEREENEEAR 2%
FZAZT-RLEFEHBRZINRER
HREERERERMEXH

2. AEBEMINEETELEREGH &

RHBEAGEEMEREALHETARZGRE
T HEZ-_—F=ZA=Z+—-HLFEH
MAMEENRESRAREERS KA -

TREBAEMEHEN

2022 2021
—E- —E - —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHE T FHET

10,157 9,690
8,721 680

171 172

19,049 10,542
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Financial instruments by category

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost:

Trade and bill receivables (Note 20)

Deposits

Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months
from date of deposits (Note 21)

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21)

Financial assets at fair value:

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (Note 18)

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income (Note 18)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
Trade and bill payables (Note 23)

Other payables and accruals

Borrowings (Note 22)
Lease liabilities (Note 16)

e M BRRME

3 ERIAREMNES

TRMEE

AR AT EN SR EE
B 5 R K R 2 & (M 5£20)
&
B AR ERE=EA

B R 2 $R 1773 5k (B 5E21)
Be kReEE(ME21)

BRAARBEIENES/RAE

BARBEFAEBEZNES®

&E (MfsE8)

EiZQ/N BEEt AE b2 mE
ol @ﬁ?(ﬁﬁ?w)

=3
2 FmH

H*> FDW
m

EWMAaE

AR AT EN SR A E -
B 5 EMABERRZE (HE23)
HiEMREETEE

A& (fF3E22)

HEaE (M)

2022 2021
—E-= T —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
172,461 179,671
10,959 11,370
202 201
285,422 275,047
469,044 466,289
8,571 8,332
1,435 1,510
10,006 9,842
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
99,734 136,842
20,227 23,512
141,357 158,728
6,031 7,140
267,349 326,222
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36 Statement of financial position and movement

of reserve of the Company
(@

36 ARBAZMBRARRHEERZE

Statement of financial position of the (@ A2FZHBMRRE
Company
2022 2021
—EC-CF T —4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in and amounts due RBARIZIERE R
from subsidiaries FE W R IE 206,739 211,836
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and deposits AR I RIES 909 900
Tax recoverable A Y e % 18 10 2
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEEE 7,160 1,725
8,079 2,627
Total assets EEHE 214,818 214,463
EQUITY %
Equity attributable to the owners of  ARQFEF ABGLESR
the Company
Share capital & < 51,864 52,514
Reserves (Note 36(b)) & (M E36((0)) 156,482 156,014
Total equity e 208,346 208,528
LIABILITIES =R
Current liabilities mEBE
Other payables and accruals HpENRLETEE 2,081 1,534
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHTB R RIRIE 4,391 4,401
Total liabilities EEH8E 6,472 5,935
Total equity and liabilities REREBEAER 214,818 214,463
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36 Statement of financial position and movement 36 ZAAQATRZHMBMRRERFEES S (E)
of reserve of the Company (Continued)

(b) Movement of reserve of the Company by ALARZREREBEED
The changes in the reserves of the Company during RAARR-ZZE-Z—F=R=+—HEZ=
the years ended 31st March, 2022 and 2021 are as T —FrREEBEHOT
follows:
Share Capital Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
BRHBE BEXAREE RKRBERN Fk o]

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TR TET TAET

As at Tst April, 2020 RZE_ZF

mA—A 127,796 520 59,268 187,584
Loss for the year REEE — — (62) (62)
Dividends paid BERRE — — (31,508) (31,508)
As at 31st March, 2021 N-ZT - —4F

=A=+—8 127,796 520 27,698 156,014
As at 1st April, 2021 WZEZ—%F

mA—A 127,796 520 27,698 156,014
Profit for the year IR S — — 59,685 59,685
Share repurchases % 17 B [ (1,452) — — (1,452)
Dividends paid B E — — (57,765) (57,765)
As at 31st March, 2022 RZTZZF

=A=+—~H 126,344 520 29,618 156,482
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37

Events after the reporting period

After the outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019
(“COVID-19") in Shanghai region in March 2022, a series
of precautionary and control measures have been and
continued to be implemented across the PRC. In Suzhou,
subsequent to 31st March,2022, the Movement Control
Order was commenced on 11th April, 2022 and ended
on 24th April,2022. An indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company — Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd
locating in Suzhou was initially suspended and have been
substantially restored to the normal operation capacity at
the date on which this set of financial statements were
authorized for issue. The Group will pay close attention
to the development of the COVID-19 and evaluate its

impact on the results of operations, financial position,

and cash flows of the Group.

A M BRRME

37

HEHBRSEE

EER T ZF=ABE2019 A 8RR
SER PEBEERT —ERHNHERE
fliEE - RZT__F=A=+—HN#E &
MBAZTEZ—_FHA+—RARBREETHES
SR B _FUNA-_FTIHNHELR AR
A AREBMNE —REZEL2ENBELAR — %
ENRI (B M) BRA A - R¥EIE L& - BR
KB EREFBEANERSR ZBENEE
EREARZHEEFT -AEBEHYIR
2019 BB mEREBENEE  RAMAEY
AEERLERE MBERALRBRERAOTE-
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